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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forwardkiog statements that involve substantial risks amckrtainties. All statements,

other than statements of historical facts, incluihetthis annual report on Form 10-K regarding duategy, future operations, future financial

position, future revenues, projected costs, praspptans and objectives of management are fonlearking statements. The words

“anticipate,” “believe,

LI} LI ”ou ”ou ”

estimate,” “expect,” “i®nd,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions are

intended to identify forward-looking statementshatigh not all forward-looking statements conthiese identifying words.

The forward-looking statements in this annual reparForm 10-K include, among other things, statemabout:

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentiansxpectations disclosed in our forward-lookingestaents, and you should not place
undue reliance on our forward-looking statementdual results or events could differ materiallyrfréthe plans, intentions and expectations
disclosed in the forward-looking statements we m&ke have included important factors in the cawtigrstatements included in this annual

the progress and results of our clinical trial®of drug candidates, including migalastat

our ability to achieve development and commerdiian milestone payments and sales royalties umalecollaboration with
GlaxoSmithKline PLC

the scope, progress, results and costs of prealidevelopment, laboratory testing and clinicall#rifor our product candidates
including those testing the use of pharmacologibaperones co-administered with enzyme replacetherdpy and for the
treatment of diseases of neurodegenera

the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revidwur product candidate

the number and development requirements of otleetyat candidates that we purs

the costs of commercialization activities, inclugliproduct marketing, sales and distributi
the emergence of competing technologies and otharae market developmen

the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting pasmplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddfieg intellectual property
related claims

the extent to which we acquire or invest in busiessproducts and technologies;

our ability to establish collaborations and obtaitestone, royalty or other payments from any stafaborators

report on Form 10-K, particularly in Part I, ItemA IRisk Factors"that we believe could cause actual results or evendiffer materially fror
the forward-looking statements that we make. Oawéod-looking statements do not reflect the potnithpact of any future acquisitions,
mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, collaboragior investments we may make.

You should read this annual report on Form 10-K theddocuments that we incorporate by referenteisnannual report on Form 10-K
completely and with the understanding that ouradiuture results may be materially different frarhat we expect. We do not assume any

obligation to update any forward-looking statements



PART I
Item 1. BUSINESS.
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company focused onititevkry, development and commercialization oflgratiministered, small
molecule drugs known as pharmacological chaper@asyel, first-in-class approach to treating aaldrocange of diseases including
lysosomal storage diseases and diseases of neergtation. We believe that our pharmacological ehae technology, our advanced
product pipeline, especially our lead product cdat for Fabry disease, migalastat HCI, a strotanloa sheet and our strategic collaboration
with GlaxoSmithKline uniquely position us at thedéront of developing therapies for rare and orptiigeases.

We are focused on the development of pharmacolbgizgperones as monotherapies and in combinatiinemzyme replacement
therapy (ERT), the current standard of treatmenE&bry and other lysosomal storage diseases.1,2@e are advancing two monotherapy
programs for genetic diseases:

» Migalastat HCI for patients with Fabry disease iffiad as having alpha-galactosidase A (alpha-Gatiitations amenable to
chaperone therapy, a

e AT3375 for Parkinsc's disease in Gaucher disease carriers and pobgtitialbroader Parkins’'s population
Our pharmacological chaperone-ERT combination @agrfor 2012 include:
* Migalastat HCI c-administered with ERT for patients with Fabry dseaeceiving ERT treatment with any genetic mutg
e AT2220 (duvoglustat HCI) -administered with ERT for Pompe disec
» AT3375 and afegostat tartrate-administered with ERT for Gaucher disease,

» Several new, undisclosed pharmacological chapgrorgrams focused on the combination of chaperoritasERTs for additione
lysosomal storage diseas

Fabry and other lysosomal storage diseases sushwsher and Pompe diseases are among certain hliseases that are caused by
mutations in specific genes that, in many casesl fe the production of proteins with reduced ditgbiProteins with such mutations may not
fold into their correct three-dimensional shape aralgenerally referred to as misfolded or unstphdéeins. Misfolded or unstable proteins
are often recognized by cells as having defects and result, may be eliminated prior to reaclhimgy intended location in the cell. The
reduced biological activity of these proteins letnpaired cellular function and ultimately tsdase.

Our novel approach to the treatment of human gedéeases consists of using pharmacological chapsrthat selectively bind to the
target protein, increasing the stability of thetpno and helping it fold into the correct three-dimsional shape. This allows proper trafficking
of the protein within the cell, thereby increasprgtein activity, improving cellular function andtentially reducing cell stress. We have also
demonstrated in preclinical studies that pharmagofd chaperones can further stabilize normal vatd-type” proteins. This stabilization
could lead to a higher percentage of the targaepre folding correctly and more stably, which @acrease cellular levels of that target
protein and improve cellular function, making chapees potentially applicable to a wide range oédses.

Our lead product candidate, migalastat HCI for Falisease, is in late Phase 3 development. Ween@aping and commercializing
migalastat HCI with an affiliate of GlaxoSmithKIirLC (GSK) pursuant to a License and Collaboratigreement entered into in October
2010. Our partnership with GSK allows us to util@8K’s significant expertise in clinical, regulatpcommercial and manufacturing matters
in the development of migalastat HCI. In additithe cost-sharing arrangements and potential milesamd royalty payments under the
License and Collaboration Agreement provide us Withfinancial resources to continue the develogrobEmigalastat HCI while also
advancing our other programs. We also believedblisboration is important in validating our staissa leader in the development of
treatments for rare diseases given the increasitigsfplaced on the rare disease field.

Our Phase 3 clinical development program for treeafsmigalastat HCI as monotherapy in Fabry diséadades two global registratis
studies for patients with Fabry disease identifisthaving alpha-Gal A mutations amenable to mitgl&Cl: Study 011 and Study 012. We
completed enrollment of 67 patients in Study 01&,glacebo-controlled Phase 3 study, in Decemb#t 2d expect results in the third
quarter of 2012. We plan to use the data from S@idyto support the submission of a New Drug Aggian, or NDA, to the U.S. Food and
Drug Administration (FDA) for marketing approvaltime United States and other
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regulatory agencies. Study 012 is our second Poiatedy for migalastat HCI study intended to suppue worldwide registration of
migalastat HCI for Fabry disease. We dosed thegatient in Study 012 in September 2011 to comfsesafety and efficacy of migalastat
HCl and ERT and expect to complete enroliment graximately 50 patients by the end of 2012.

We believe migalastat HCl may have advantages BRar. While ERT compensates for the reduced levelctitity of specific enzyme
through regular infusions of recombinant formstef €nzyme, our approach uses orally-administered snolecule pharmacological
chaperones to improve the function of the enzyragéithmade by the patient’s own body. We believ® @pproach to treating these diseases
could provide benefits to patients through betterdistribution and ease of use.

In addition to potential benefits pharmacologidahjgerones may provide as a monotherapy, we algvbehe use of pharmacological
chaperones co-administered with ERT may addresaicdwey limitations of ERT. The use of pharmacataychaperones co-administered
with ERT may improve the characteristics of ERT dyong other effects, prolonging the half-life milised enzymes in the circulation,
increasing uptake of the infused enzymes into egltstissues, mitigating immunogenicity, and insieg enzyme activity and substrate
reduction in target tissues compared to that olesewith ERT alone. We, along with our partner G&k currently conducting a Phase 2
study (Study 013) to evaluate migalastat HCI co-aibtered with ERT in Fabry patients. We recentlggented preliminary positive data
from Study 013 which included, in part, increasekevels of active enzyme in plasma and skin detnatiisg a positive drug-drug interaction
between migalastat HCl and ERT. We expect to corm@éudy 013 in the first half of 2012.

In addition, we are conducting another Phase 2dookastration study (Study 010) evaluating our phacological chaperone AT2220
(duvoglustat HCI) co-administered with ERT in Ponpagients. Unlike migalastat HCI, we own exclugiights to the development of
AT2220. We expect to announce preliminary resutisnfStudy 010 in the first half of 2012. We alsarpto increase our commitment to the
broader application of the chaperone-ERT combinagghnology as a potential next-generation treatrapproach for multiple lysosomal
storage diseases in 2012. We are continuing ouwfipieal work investigating our pharmacological peaones AT3375 and afegostat tartrate
co-administered with ERT for Gaucher disease, aw linitiated new undisclosed pharmacological ctaperesearch and development
programs to investigate the use of chaperonesrbowtion with other ERTSs.

Although Fabry, Gaucher and Pompe are relativaly déiseases, they represent substantial commenaidiets due to the severity of the
symptoms and the chronic nature of the diseaseaspuihlicly-reported worldwide net product salestf@ six currently approved therapeutics
to treat Fabry, Gaucher and Pompe disease werexapgately $2.0 billion in 2011.

While our initial clinical efforts have focused tme use of pharmacological chaperones to treastrsal storage diseases, we believe
that our technology may be applicable to the treatnof certain diseases of neurodegeneration. We Ib@en a pioneer in investigating the
link between Gaucher and Parkinson’s disease, anel hheen exploring the possibility of using pharabagical chaperones that target
glucocerebrosidase (GCase), the enzyme deficigBaircher disease, for more than five years. In 20dterous peer-reviewed publications
in leading scientific journals reported additiomdbrmation on the underlying mechanisms that B&ucher and Parkinson’s, and further
validated GCase as a target for the treatmenteoflitease. In particular, these new papers denaedta direct connection between GCase
and alpha-synuclein, whose accumulation in thenligaa hallmark of Parkinson’s, and showed thatdased GCase activity in the brain of
mouse models could reduce alpha-synuclein pathaogyother deficits. We will continue preclinicaldalND-enabling studies for the
pharmacological chaperone AT3375, which targets#ime GCase enzyme that is deficient in Gaucheasks These preclinical studies are
anticipated to be complete by year-end 2012 anéuaed in part by a grant awarded by the Micha&loX Foundation.

Our Pharmacological Chaperone Technology

In the human body, proteins are involved in alney&ry aspect of cellular function. Proteins aredinstrings of amino acids that fold
and twist into specific three-dimensional shapesrier to function properly. Certain human diseassalt from mutations that cause changes
in the amino acid sequence of a protein, and tbleaeges often reduce protein stability and mayearethem from folding properly. The
majority of genetic mutations that lead to the prettbn of less stable or misfolded proteins aréedalissense mutations. These mutations
result in the substitution of a single amino adddnother in the protein. Because of this typerodr, missense mutations often result in
proteins that have a reduced level of biologic#vdg.

Proteins generally fold in a specific region of tedl known as the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Tak has quality control mechanisms
that ensure that proteins are folded into theiremirthree-dimensional shape before they can mowe the ER to the appropriate destination
in the cell, a process generally referred to aseprdrafficking. Misfolded proteins are often elimated by the quality control mechanisms
after initially being retained in the ER. In centéinstances, misfolded or unstable proteins canraatate in the ER before being eliminated.
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The retention of misfolded proteins in the ER indpts their proper trafficking, and the resultiegluced biological activity can lead to
impaired cellular function and ultimately to diseak addition, the accumulation of misfolded phogen the ER may lead to various types of
stress on cells, which may also contribute to talldysfunction and disease.

We use pharmacological chaperones to increaseaahdity of target proteins and help them fold itb@ir correct three-dimensional
shape. This allows proper trafficking of the prateiithin the cell, thereby increasing protein aityivimproving cellular function and
potentially reducing cell stress.

Potential Advantages of Pharmacological Chaperonder the Treatment of Lysosomal Storage Diseases

Lysosomal storage diseases are a type of metadieticder characterized by mutations in lysosomayeres, which are specialized
proteins that break down cellular substrates iara @f the cell called the lysosome. We believé iearmacological chaperone therapy may
have advantages relative to the current therapstatidard of care for these disorders, ERT, whighlves regular infusions of recombinant
human enzyme to compensate for the deficient lysatenzyme. The following table compares some feataf ERT to pharmacological
chaperone therapy.

Product Characteristic Enzyme Replacement Therapy Pharmacological Chaperone Therapy
Biodistribution Variable tissue distributio Broad tissue distribution, including bre
Ease of Usi Weekly or every other week intravenous  Oral administration

infusion
Manufacturing Recombinant protein manufacturi Chemical synthesi

An additional therapeutic approach to the treatnoéigertain lysosomal storage diseases is subsedtestion therapy (SRT). We
believe our pharmacological chaperone therapieshaag advantages relative to SRT as well. Like mlaaological chaperone therapies,
SRT uses orally-administered small molecules; harehe underlying mechanism of action is veryatiéht. SRTs are designed to prevent
the production of the substrate that accumulatelésiease by inhibiting an enzyme required to mhkestibstrate in cells, which is not the
same enzyme that is deficient in the disease. Itapty, if synthesis of the substrate is inhibitedannot perform its normal biological
functions. Our pharmacological chaperones are deditp bind directly to the enzyme deficient in tligease, increasing its stability and
helping it fold into its correct three-dimensioshlpe. This in turn enables proper traffickingh® iysosome where the enzyme can directly
decrease substrate accumulation. To date, one 8Riligi has received regulatory approval in the drfél the European Union (EU) for the
treatment of lysosomal storage diseases. Zavesgauhstrate reduction therapy product commerciligeActelion, Ltd., is approved for t
treatment of Gaucher disease in the U.S., the Elb#rer countries as well for another lysosomalagfe disease in the EU. Sanofi aventis,
through its subsidiary Genzyme Corporation, isenify developing a SRT product which is in Phaske@lopment for the treatment of
Gaucher Disease.

Migalastat HCI for Fabry Disease
Overview

Our most advanced product candidate, migalastaf id@h investigational, orally-administered, snrmadllecule pharmacological
chaperone for the treatment of Fabry disease. toligc, 2010, we entered into a License and Colkthmr Agreement with GSK to develop
and commercialize migalastat HCI. Under the terfrth® License and Collaboration Agreement, GSKikezkan exclusive worldwide
license to develop, manufacture and commercialigmiastat HCI. In consideration of the license grare received an upfront license
payment of $30 million and are eligible to recefivgher payments of up to approximately $170 miiligpon the successful achievement of
development, regulatory and commercialization rdless, as well as tiered double-digit royaltiegytobal sales of migalastat HCI. We are
jointly funding development costs with GSK in aatance with an agreed upon development plan, pursoiavhich we funded 50% of tt
development costs in 2011 and will fund only 25%heaf development costs for 2012 and beyond, sutgeartnual and aggregate caps.

Clinical Studies of Migalastat HCI Monotherapy feasibry Disease

Study 011 is a six-month, placebo-controlled gldbahse 3 study of migalastat HCI for Fabry diseéaseipport marketing applications
for the FDA and other regulatory agencies. In Saper 2009, the first patient was randomized in Ml to receive migalastat HCI 150
or placebo on an every-other-day (QOD) oral dosittiedule for a six-month double-blinded treatmemiogl. During a six-month open-label
follow up period, patients continue treatment witlgalastat HCI or switch from placebo to
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migalastat HCIl. We exceeded our target enrolimésOqoatients for Study 011 when we enrolled outh@rd final patient in December 20.
As of December 31, 2011, 24 of 26 patients who ltawvepleted the six-month treatment and six-monliiovicup periods are currently
enrolled in the ongoing Phase 3 extension studyramain on migalastat HCI treatment. We expectlteftom this study in the third quarter
of 2012.

The primary efficacy endpoint for Study 011 is amde in interstitial capillary globotriaosylcerami(GL-3), the substrate that
accumulates in Fabry disease, as measured by kiopgy. Patients in Study 011 with a reductioiGaf3 deposits per capillary of at least
50% at six months will be considered responders.firtal analysis will compare the number of respsdn the migalastat HCI group vs. the
placebo group. Secondary endpoints for Study Odlidie safety and tolerability, urine GL-3, renahdtion, and quality of life (QOL). Urine
GL-3 will be analyzed using the first analyticallglidated GLP assay, which was developed by Amicuseasure forms of GL-3 found in
kidney cells. Renal function will be assessed byasneng iohexol glomerular filtration rate (GFREER, and 24-hour urine protein.

Study 012 is our second Phase 3 study intendedpioost the worldwide registration of migalastat HQl Fabry disease. Study 012 is a
randomized, open-label, 18-month Phase 3 studgrtpare the safety and efficacy of migalastat H@ BRT in male and female patients
with Fabry disease. The study will randomize appnaxely 50 patients (30 to switch to migalastat ld@#l 20 to remain on ERT) identified
having alpha-Gal A mutations amenable to migald$Gitand who have been treated with either of tR& &currently marketed (Fabrazyme
® (agalsidase beta) or Replagal (agalsidase alfafjdbry disease for at least 12 months. Subjedtseimigalastat HCI treatment arm will
receive 150 mg of migalastat HCI every other dayiJerthose in the ERT alone arm will continue ositlturrent dose and regimen. The
primary outcome of efficacy will be renal functias measured by glomerular filtration rate (GFR)tfar migalastat HCl and ERT groups at
18 months. The primary analysis will use descrggtatistics to compare the mean changes in GF&afdr arm. Secondary outcomes of
efficacy include renal function as measured by @drturine protein and other clinical outcomes. Tite patient in Study 012 commenced
dosing in September 2011 and we expect to completdiment by the end of 2012, although timelines/roe influenced by the continuing
ERT shortage.

Our ongoing Phase 2 extension study (Study 2088sfgned to evaluate the long-term safety andagf§iof migalastat HCI (150 MG
god). Among the endpoints being evaluated are twasures of renal function, estimated glomerul&afibn rate (eGFR) and 24-hour urine
protein. As of December 31, 2011, 17 patients wdrafeted one of our four Phase 2 clinical studresenrolled in Study 205 continue to
receive migalastat HCI for up to five years.

The key findings from our four Phase 2 studiesland term extension study to date include the foiimy:

* migalastat HCI has been generally safe and wedkabéd at all doses evaluated and no drug-reletdals adverse events have
been reportec

» migalastat HCl increased the level of the enzynfieidat in 24 of the 26 original Phase 2 study solg
* migalastat HCIl was shown to reduce the accumul@te-3 substrate in a majority of study subje:
* eGFR has remained stable out -4 years for all subjects in the extension st

» Trends of reduced 24-hour urine protein continweblet observed in 17 subjects retrospectively ifledtas having alpha-Gal A
mutations amenable to migalastat HCI; these sewargebjects continue to receive treatment with tagiat HCl in the Phase 2
extension stud

* Responses in patients with different Fabry mutatiwere consistent with the results of in vitroitegtthus suggesting the ability
to use pharmacogenetics to select likely e-Gal A mutations amenable to migalastat

In February 2004, the FDA granted orphan drug ahedign to migalastat HCI for the treatment of Fafbisease and in May 2006, the
EMEA granted orphan medicinal product designatammfiigalastat HCI. In the United States, we intemdeek Accelerated Approval for
migalastat HCI according to Subpart H regulations.

Phase 2 ChaperoiieERT CoAdministration Study of migalastat HCI for Fabrysase

We are also investigating the use of migalastat ¢tChdministered with ERT in a Phase 2 study. S@i/is an ongoing, open-label
Phase 2 drug-drug interaction study to evaluatsalfiety and pharmacokinetic (PK) effects of twoedosf migalastat HCI (150 mg and 450
mg) co-administered with ERT (Fabrazyfme (agalsideeta) or Replagal( agalsidase alfa)) in up to 2kesndiagnosed with Fabry disease.
Unlike Study 011 and Study 012, patients in Stutly 8re not required to have alpBal A mutations amenable to chaperone therapy lse
when co-administered with ERT, migalastat HCI isigeed to bind to and stabilize the recombinanyerein the circulation in any patient
receiving ERT.



We recently presented data for the first sevenesbjn Study 013 who received their current doskragimen of the ERT agalsidase
beta alone at one infusion followed by oral migeasiCl 150 mg administered two hours prior to agkse beta at their next infusion. Du
the supply shortage of agalsidase beta, five afetlseibjects had been receiving 0.5 mg/kg infusedyegwo weeks and two subjects had been
receiving a dose of 1.0 mg/kg infused every fouekge The preliminary results include the following:

» Increases in levels of active enzyme in plasmas&imdand peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMi&shonstrate a positive
druc-drug interaction between migalastat HCI 150 mgagelsidase beta, confirming observations from prieall studies anc

» For all seven treated with migalastat HCI 150 regels of active enzyme in plasma ranged from 14 2efold higher than with
ERT alone, as measured by total area under the ¢AtC). Skin biopsies taken on Day 2 pdsse demonstrated increased le
of active enzyme in the skin from all seven pasdndm 1.1 to 18.9-fold after subtracting basekévity. On Day 7 post-dose,
active enzyme activity remained increased in fif/the seven patients, up to 11.1-fold higher adtdstracting baseline activity,
following cc-administration compared to ERT alol

In published preclinical studies, the administration of migalastat HCl and ERT led tdditaation of the ERT and increased uptake of ax
enzyme into key organs of disease, including kidhegart, and skin, when compared to ERT alone. ifbigased enzyme uptake in Fabry
mouse models also led to further reductions in Gth8& substrate that accumulates in kidney, heattsiin in Fabry disease. We expect to
complete Study 013 in the first half of 2012.

Causes of Fabry Disease and Rationale for Use of Migalastat HCI

Fabry disease is a lysosomal storage diseaseingsiutim a deficiency it -GAL A. Symptoms can be severe and debilitating,
including kidney failure and increased risk of hedtack and stroke. The deficiencycofGal A in Fabry patients is caused by inherited
genetic mutations. Certain of these mutations cabaages in the amino acid sequence gbal A that may result in the productionafGal
A with reduced stability that does not fold ints @orrect three-dimensional shape. AlthoagiGal A produced in patient cells often retains
the potential for some level of biological activithie cell’s quality control mechanisms recogniad eetain misfolded -Gal A in the ER,
until it is ultimately moved to another part of tbell for degradation and elimination. Consequeriitife or noa -Gal A moves to the
lysosome, where it normally breaks down GL-3. Ta&ls to accumulation of GR4n cells, which is believed to be the cause ef#fimptom
of Fabry disease. In addition, accumulation ofrttisfoldeda -Gal A enzyme in the ER may lead to stress on egltsinflammatory-like
responses, which may contribute to cellular dysfioncand disease.

Migalastat HCI is designed to act as a pharmacocldghaperone fan -Gal A by selectively binding to the enzyme, whicbreases its
stability and helps the enzyme fold into its cotitbcee-dimensional shape. This stabilizatiomeGal A allows the cell's quality control
mechanisms to recognize the enzyme as properlgdadd that trafficking of the enzyme to the lysosamincreased, enabling it to carry out
its intended biological function, the metabolisnGif-3. As a result of restoring the proper traffick of a -Gal A from the ER to the
lysosome, migalastat HCI also reduces the accuionlaf misfolded protein in the ER, which may alke stress on cells and some
inflammatory-like responses that may be contritiuferctors in Fabry disease.

Because migalastat HCI increases levels of a gatieaturally produced -GAL, those Fabry disease patients with a missemgation
or other genetic mutations that result in productiba -Gal A that is less stable but with some residualyene activity are the ones most
likely to respond to treatment with migalastat H@Mle estimate that approximately fifty percent ofigrats with Fabry disease may have alpha-
Gal A mutations that are amenable to migalastat&$Gi monotherapy. Patients with genetic mutateading to a partially made -Gal A
enzyme o -Gal A enzyme with an irreversible loss of activétie less likely to respond to treatment with nagtdt HCl as a monotherapy.
However, we believe that all Fabry patients arepilly treatable with migalastat HCI in combimetiwith ERT.

Fabry Disease Background

The clinical manifestations of Fabry disease sphroad spectrum of severity and roughly correlaté & patient’s residuat -Gal A
levels. The majority of currently treated patieats referred to as classic Fabry disease patigost, of whom are males. These patients
experience disease of various organs, includingitheeys, heart and brain, with disease symptorssdppearing in adolescence and
typically progressing in severity until death ire tfourth or fifth decade of life. A number of stagisuggest that there are a large number of
undiagnosed males and females that have a rarfggboy disease symptoms, such as impaired cardiemnal function and strokes, that
usually first appear in adulthood.



Individuals with this type of Fabry disease, rederto as later-onset Fabry disease, tend to habeihiesiduat -Gal A levels than
classic Fabry disease patients. Although the symgtof Fabry disease span a spectrum of severisyugeful to classify patients as having
classic or later-onset Fabry disease when disqussndisease and the associated treatable papulati

Classic Fabry Disease

Individuals with classic Fabry disease are in niesiances males. They have little or no detectabl@al A levels and are the most
severely affected. These patients first experielimease symptoms in adolescence, including pairiaglihg in the extremities, skin lesions,
a decreased ability to sweat and clouded eye leHgbgse patients are not treated, their lifeemtpncy is reduced and death usually occu
the fourth or fifth decade of life from renal faiy cardiac dysfunction or stroke. Studies repoirie¢tie Journal of the American Medical
Association (January 1999) and The Metabolic antebldar Bases of Inherited Disease (8th edition12@diggest the annual incidence of
Fabry disease in newborn males is 1:40,000-1:60,006rent estimates from the University of lowa &nel National Kidney Foundation
suggest that there are a total of approximatel@G@assic Fabry disease patients worldwide.

Later-Onset Fabry Disease

Individuals with later-onset Fabry disease can béror female. They typically first experience dise symptoms in adulthood, and
often have disease symptoms focused on a singéoFgr example, many males and females with taiset Fabry disease have enlarge!
of the left ventricle of the heart. As the patieativance in age, the cardiac complications of tbeade progress and can lead to death. Studie
reported in Circulation and Journal of the Amerietart Association (March 2002 and August 2004)ireted that 6-12% of patients
between 40 and 60 years of age with an unexplantdgement of the left ventricle of the heartpadition referred to as left ventricular
hypertrophy, have Fabry disease.

A number of males and females also have later-dredaty disease with disease symptoms focused dtidhey that progress to end
stage renal failure and eventually death. Studipsnted in Nephrology Dialysis Transplant (2003)niCal and Experimental Nephrology
(2005) and Nephrology Clinical Practice (2005)restie that 0.20% to 0.94% of patients on dialysieHgabry disease.

In addition, later-onset Fabry disease may alssqmiein the form of strokes of unknown cause. Algtieported in The Lancet
(November 2005) found that approximately 4% of #edle and female patients in Germany between the efgk8 to 55 with stroke of
unknown cause have Fabry disease.

It was previously believed to be rare for femaleryalisease patients to develop overt clinical rigatations of Fabry disease. Fabry
disease is known as an X-linked disease becausethtgteda -Gal A gene mutation is located only on the X chreome. Females inherit
X chromosome from each parent and therefore caariirdn Fabry mutation from either parent. By cositranales inherit an X chromosome
(and potentially a Fabry mutation) only from thesiothers. For this reason, there are expected toughly twice as many females as males
that have Fabry disease mutations. Several stugliested in the Journal of Medical Genetics (20€g,Internal Medicine Journal (2002) :
the Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease (20@pprt that, while the majority of females with Fabiisease mutations have mild sympto
many have severe symptoms, including enlargemethiedift ventricle of the heart and/or renal feglu

Newborn screening studies in Italy, Taiwan and Aaspublished in the American Journal of Human &ies (2006), Human Mutation
(2009) and the Lancet (2011) respectively, regat the incidence of Fabry mutations in newborrev/er ten times higher than previous
estimates for classic patients, Combined theséestwdreened over two-hundred and sixty-three traisewborns, and found the incidence
of Fabry mutations to be between 1:2,400 to 1: 385 high incidence was attributed to a large benof newborn males with -Gal A
mutations often associated with later-onset Falsgade, which may not have been identified in jpeviscreening studies that relied on
diagnosis based on development of symptoms oficl&sdry disease.

Fabry Disease Market Opportunity

Fabry disease is a relatively rare disorder. Theeat estimates of approximately 5,000 patientddvade are generally based on a
small number of studies in single ethnic populaionwhich people were screened for classic Falsgade. The results of these studies were
subsequently extrapolated to the broader world jadpn assuming similar prevalence rates acrosslptipns. We believe these previously
reported studies did not account for the preval@idater-onset Fabry disease and, as describeceabmumber of recent studies suggest that
the prevalence of Fabry disease could be many timgier than previously reported.

We expect that as awareness of later-onset Fabeask grows, the number of patients diagnosedhéttisease will increase.
Increased awareness of all forms of Fabry disqmsécularly for specialists not accustomed totirgpFabry disease patients, may lead to
increased testing and diagnosis of patients wihdikease



Based on published data from the Human Gene Mut&letabase and our experience in the field, weebelthe majority of the known
genetic mutations that cause Fabry disease aremsissnutations. There are few widely-occurring iemeutations reported for Fabry
disease, suggesting that the frequency of a spagfietic mutation reported in the Human Gene NMrtddatabase reflects the approximate
frequency of that mutation in the general Fabrygpaitpopulation. In addition, data presented atlthih International Conference on Health
Problems Related to the Chinese (2002) suggestitbatast majority of newly diagnosed patients watier-onset Fabry disease also have
missense mutations. Because missense mutatiomsreftelt in less stable, misfoldadGal A with some residual enzyme activity, we bedi
patients with these mutations may benefit fromtirest with migalastat HCI. We also believe thateottypes of genetic mutations may result
in misfoldeda -Gal A and therefore may respond to treatment wiidpalastat HCI. Based on this, we believe that axprately fifty percent
of the Fabry disease patient population may befrefit treatment with migalastat HCI as a monothgrap

Existing Products for the Treatment of Fabry Disease and Potential Advantages of Migalastat HCI

Currently, two ERT products are approved for tleatment of Fabry disease: Fabrazyime (agalsidaapdred Replagal (agalsidase
alfa) Fabrazyme s approved globally and commeredlby sanofi aventis through Genzyme Corporatidiile Replagaf is
commercialized by Shire and approved in the EUathdr countries but not in the U.S. Orphan druduesteity for both Fabrazyme and
ReplagalP has expired in the EU and for Fabraz§ma the U.S. as well. The net product sales of Fapre® and Replag&l for 2011 were
approximately $150 million as publicly reported $gnofi aventis and $475 million as publicly repdrby Shire, respectively.

Prior to the availability of ERT, treatments fortdfa disease were directed at ameliorating sympteitisut treating the underlying
disease. Some of these treatments include opaigspnvulsants, antipsychotics and antidepressarasntrol pain and other symptoms, and
beta-blockers, calcium channel blockers, ACE irtbitsi angiotensin receptor antagonists and othemtado treat blood pressure and vascular
disease.

For Fabry disease patients who respond to migalH§ih we believe that the use of migalastat HCyrhave advantages relative to the
use of Fabrazym@ and Replagal . Published dafsatients treated with Fabrazyrme and Replagal fdoge of up to five years
demonstrate that these drugs can lead to the redurftGL-3 in multiple cell types in the skin, htand kidney. However, because they are
large protein molecules, Fabrazyfhe and Replagal believed to have difficulty penetrating some tessand cell types. In particular, it is
widely believed that Fabrazymie and Replagal arblenta cross the blood-brain barrier and thus atiely to address the neurological
symptoms of Fabry disease. As a small moleculafhethat has demonstrated high oral bioavailakdlity good biodistribution properties in
preclinical testing, migalastat HCI has the potrtt reach cells of all the target tissues of Falisease. Furthermore, treatment with
Fabrazyme and Replagal requires intravenous infisswery other week, frequently on-site at headtie acilities, presenting an
inconvenience to Fabry patients. Oral treatmertt wiigalastat HCl may be much more convenient féiepgs and may not have the safety
risks associated with intravenous infusions.

In addition, as discussed above, we believe thgalastat HCI cadministered with ERT may improve key charactarsstf the infuse:
enzymes used in ERT by allowing for increased partsof enzymes to the lysosomes and degradatisnlmdtrate, thereby potentially
increasing ERT'’s safety and efficacy. Importangigtients who may not have alpha-Gal A mutationsrafakle to migalastat HCI
monotherapy treatment may benefit from migalastatid combination with ERT, making migalastat H@itentially available to all Fabry
patients.

In February 2004, migalastat HCI| was granted orphvag designation by the FDA for the treatment albfy disease and in March 2006
the EMEA recommended orphan medicinal product ahedign. . See “Government Regulation.”

Chaperone-ERT Co-administration Therapy for Pompe ad Other Lysosomal Storage Diseases

In addition to Study 013 under the GSK collabomatiwe are conducting clinical and preclinical sasdéxamining co-administration of
pharmacological chaperones that we exclusively withn ERTs for other lysosomal storage diseaseBdoember 2011, we announced the
initial infusion of the first subject in an operbkl Phase 2 drug-drug interaction study (Study @1@T2220 (duvoglustat HCI) co-
administered with ERT in individuals with Pompeeadise. The purpose of Study 010 is to evaluate whéifi2220, an orally available,
investigational pharmacological chaperone ownedusiely by Amicus, can be safely co-administeréthwhe ERT alglucosidase alfa, the
only approved therapy for Pompe disease. The stiltlgnroll up to 22 male or female subjects whadéeen on a stable dose and regimen
of ERT for at least three months. All subjects Wil given a regularly scheduled ERT infusion. Ooer tprior to the initiation of the next EF
infusion, subjects will receive a single oral do$§&T2220. Plasma enzyme activity and protein Isweill be evaluated during each infusion.
Muscle biopsies will be taken seven days after éaftision to measure tissue ERT activity with anthaut the chaperone, as well as the
level of AT2220.

Data from preclinical studies in Pompe knock-outerpresented in 2011 at several scientific sympaeiaonstrated that AT2220 co-
administered with ERT significantly enhanced th&alp of the active enzyme into key organs involveBompe
disease, including heart, diaphragm, and skeletislcies. These preclinical data also showed a gresttaction of glycogen in key organs
with the co-administration of AT2220 versus ERTredo



In 2012, we intend to increase our commitment &olitoader application of the chaperone-ERT cominindaéchnology as a potential
next-generation treatment approach for multiple ES®e will continue our preclinical combination dies in Gaucher disease (afegostat
tartrate +/- Cerezyme and AT3375 €erezyme) and we have initiated new undisclosednpheological chaperone research and develog
programs to investigate the use of chaperonesmbuttion with other ERTs to potentially improveatment outcomes.

Pompe and Gaucher Disease Background

Like Fabry disease, Pompe and Gaucher diseasgsmsomal storage diseases resulting from a defigisnan enzymeq -glucosidase
(GAA) for Pompe and GCase for Gaucher. Signs antpsyms of both diseases can be severe and debditétor Pompe, they include
progressive muscle weakness throughout the bodtcplarly the heart and skeletal muscles; whilagras suffering from Gaucher may
experience an enlarged liver and spleen, abnorrmilyevels of red blood cells and platelets, akeletal complications. In some forms of
Gaucher disease, there is also significant impaitragthe central nervous system. The enzyme dgfaies in Pompe and Gaucher patients
are caused by inherited genetic mutations. Cedfdihese mutations cause changes in the amincsaqigence of the enzyme that may result
in the production of an enzyme with reduced stghiliat does not fold into its correct three-dimenal shape. Although the enzymes
produced in patient cells often retain the potéfitiasome level of biological activity, the celltgiality control mechanisms recognize and
retain the misfolded enzyme in the ER until it isnoiately moved to another part of the cell for cetation and elimination. Consequently,
little or no GAA in Pompe patients or GCase in Gargatients moves to the lysosome, where it ndyrbabaks down its substrate, a
complex lipid called glycogen in Pompe patients ghatocerebroside in Gaucher patients. This lea@d&tumulation of glycogen or
glucocerebroside in cells, which is believed taiteis the clinical manifestations of Pompe and Gwear disease, respectively. In addition, the
accumulation of the misfolded enzyme in the ER meag to cellular stress and inflammatory-like resges, which may contribute to cellular
dysfunction and disease.

AT3375 for Parkinson’s Disease

We are also conducting preclinical studies on #eaf our pharmacological chaperone technologyett Parkinson’s disease, with an
initial focus on Parkinson’s disease patients wigoadso Gaucher disease carriers. Amicus has besamer in investigating the link between
Gaucher and Parkinson’s disease, and has beerriegpiioe possibility of using pharmacological chagmes that target GCase, the enzyme
deficient in Gaucher disease, for more than fivargeln 2011, numerous peer-reviewed publicatiorieading scientific journals reported
additional information on the underlying mechanighe link Gaucher and Parkinson’s, and furtheideatd GCase as a target for the
treatment of this disease. In particular, these papers demonstrated a direct connection betweas&and alpha-synuclein, whose
accumulation in the brain is a hallmark of Parkimspand showed that increased GCase activityarbtiain of mouse models could correct
alpha-synuclein pathology and other deficits.

We believe the knowledge we have gained from exmiathe use of pharmacological chaperones in ranetic diseases, including
Gaucher, can be applied to non-lysosomal storaggade applications. We believe that pharmacologi@gerones may be used to stabilize
mutated proteins and further stabilize normal oitdwype” proteins, and may therefore increasedbidular amounts and activities of
specifically chosen target proteins that may bedrtgmt for the treatment of Parkinson’s diseaseisThvhile our initial efforts are focused on
subpopulations of Parkinson’s patients, we beltbeecharacteristics of chaperones may make treatofidmoader populations within this
disease possible.

In 2012, we will continue preclinical and IND-enilg studies for AT3375, which are anticipated tacbeplete by year-end 2012 and
are funded in part by a grant awarded by the Michaeox Foundation.

Parkinson’s Disease Background

Parkinson’s disease is a chronic, degenerativeolmgical disorder of the central nervous systen tbsults from the loss of cells in
various parts of the brain, including a region@dlihe substantia nigra. The substantia nigra petiduce dopamine, a chemical messenger
responsible for transmitting signals within theibrnat allow for coordination of movement. Lossdofpamine causes neurons to fire without
normal control, leaving patients less able to dicgaontrol their movement. The key signs of Paskin's disease are resting tremor, slowr
of movement (bradykinesia), postural instabilitplémce problems) and rigidity. Other symptoms idelstiff facial expression, shuffling
walk, muffled speech and depression.

Parkinson’s disease affects both men and womelmiosa equal numbers and shows no social, ethnamaic or geographic
boundaries. While the condition usually develogsrahe age of 65, 15% of those diagnosed are bldt is estimated that approximately
1 million people in the United State suffer fronrlason’s disease.
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Strategic Alliances and Arrangements

On October 28, 2010, we entered into a LicenseGailhboration Agreement with Glaxo Group Limited, afiliate of GSK, to develo
and commercialize migalastat HCI. Under the terfrth® License and Collaboration Agreement, GSKikezkan exclusive worldwide
license to develop, manufacture and commercialigalastat HCI. In consideration of the license grare received an upfront, license
payment of $30 million from GSK and are eligiblerézeive further payments of up to $173.5 milliggon the successful achievement of
development, regulatory and commercialization rdiess, as well as tiered double-digit royaltiegtobal sales of migalastat HCI. Potential
payments include up to (i) $13.5 million relatedhe attainment of certain clinical developmenteakives and the acceptance of regulatory
filings in select worldwide markets, (ii) $80 mdh related to market approvals for migalastat hhiGelected territories throughout the world,
and (iii) $80 million associated with the achievernef certain sales thresholds. We are jointly fngdlevelopment costs with GSK in
accordance with an agreed upon development plasugnt to which we funded 50% of development caos20il1 and will fund only 25% of
such costs in 2012 and beyond, subject to annubhggregate caps. Additionally, GSK purchased apmately 6.9 million shares of our
common stock at a price of $4.56 per share. Tla value of this equity investment was approximad1 million and represents a 19.8%
ownership position in the Company as of Decembe2811.

Under the terms of the agreement, while we willatmbrate with GSK, GSK will have decision-makinghaarity over clinical,
regulatory and commercial matters. Additionally,kG8ill have primary responsibility for interactiongth regulatory agencies and
prosecuting applications for marketing and reimborent approvals worldwide.

We will continue to evaluate other business devalept opportunities as appropriate that build shaldsh value and provide us with
access to the financial, technical, clinical anthotercial resources necessary to develop and malneeinacological chaperone therapeutics
and other technologies or products. We are exmgguotential collaborations, alliances and othelinmss development opportunities on a
regular basis. These opportunities may includeatttpiisition of preclinical-stage, clinical-stagenearketed products so long as such
transactions are consistent with our strategic matevelop and provide therapies to patients djwirith rare and orphan diseases and support
our continued transformation from a developmergestompany into a commercial biotechnology company.

Intellectual Property
Patents and Trade Secrets

Our success depends in part on our ability to mairgroprietary protection surrounding our prodeantdidates, technology and know-
how, to operate without infringing the proprietaights of others, and to prevent others from irgfitng our proprietary rights. Our policy is to
seek to protect our proprietary position by filidgS. and foreign patent applications related toproprietary technology, including both new
inventions and improvements of existing technoldbgt are important to the development of our bessnunless this proprietary position
would be better protected using trade secretsp@iant strategy includes obtaining patent protactidhere possible, on compositions of
matter, methods of manufacture, methods of usebowtion therapies, dosing and administration regis) formulations, therapeutic
monitoring, screening methods and assays. We algon trade secrets, know-how, continuing techgiola innovation, in-licensing and
partnership opportunities to develop and maintainpsoprietary position. Lastly, we monitor thirdries for activities that may infringe our
proprietary rights, as well as the progressiorhofitparty patent applications that may have themtial to create blocks to our products or
otherwise interfere with the development of ouribess. We are aware, for example, of U.S. patantscorresponding international
counterparts, owned by third parties that cont&imts related to treating protein misfolding. lfyaof these patents were to be asserted a¢
us we do not believe that our proposed productddvoel found to infringe any valid claim of thesagqrds. There is no assurance that a court
would find in our favor or that, if we choose oeaequired to seek a license, a license to anlyaset patents would be available to us on
acceptable terms or at all.

We own or license rights to several issued paterttse U.S., current member states of the Eurojfedant Convention and numerous
pending foreign applications, which are foreignmeuparts of many of our U.S. patents. We also onlitcense rights to several pending
U.S. applications. Our patent portfolio includesepds and patent applications with claims relatmgiethods of increasing deficient enzyme
activity to treat genetic diseases. The patentiposi for migalastat HCI, pharmacological chaperand ERT combination therapy, diseases
of neurodegeneration, afegostat tartrate and fisates including AT3375 for Gaucher disease an@220 (duvoglustat HCI) for Pompe
disease are described below and include both [gadeiat patent applications we own or exclusivelgrge:

* We have an exclusive license to six issued U.&mathat cover use of migalastat HCI to treat fFdisease, as well as
corresponding European, Japanese and Canadiangpdtkese exclusively licensed U.S. patents rejgdtinmigalastat HCI expire
in 2018 (not including the Hatch-Waxman statutarieasion, which is described below), while the Ehaan, Japanese and
Canadian patents, will expire in 2019 (not inclugthe Supplemental Protection Certificates or Si€rsions, which are
described below). The patents include claims cagemethods of increasing the activity of and préwenthe degradation af -
GAL, and methods for the treatment of Fabry disesseg migalastat HCI. In addition, we own pendih@. applications directed
to specific
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dosing regimens with migalastat HCI, which, if gy may result in patents that expire in 202728 urther, we own an issued
U.S. patent directed to synthetic steps relatedeaommercial process for preparing migalastat, M@lch may result in a patent
that expires in 2026. We jointly own one issued.p&ent covering a method of determining whethalerfrabry patients are
likely to respond to treatment with migalastat H@lich expires in 2027 and a divisional applicati®opending therefrom. Lastly,
we have one pending U.S. application covering ahotedf determining which -Gal A mutations are likely to be amendable to
therapy with migalastat HCI which, if granted, vabtpire in 2029. We have filed, or plan to fileSJand foreign counterparts of
these applications, where appropriate, by the eplplé deadline:

We have an exclusive license to pending patenicgifuns covering the co-administration of migadéa$iCl with ERT
(recombinantr -galactosidase A), afegostat tartrate with ERTdmelginant glucocerebrosidase) and AT2220 (duvodit$Td)
with ERT(recombinant acid -glucosidase). These applications are pendingerut!s., Europe, Canada, Brazil, China, Israel,
Japan and Mexico while the application in India isasied. If patents issue from these applicatiergiration will be in 2024. We
also own a U.S. provisional patent application cimgespecific doses and dosing regimens of migatdstdrochloride to treat
Fabry disease in combination with ERT (recombirtargalactosidase A). Similarly, we own a U.S. prowil patent application
that covers specific doses and dosing regimensadglustat HCI to treat Pompe disease in combinatiith ERT (recombinant
acida -glucosidase). If a patents issue from these apjita expiration will be in 203:

As part of our License and Collaboration Agreemeitiht GSK, we have licensed or sub-licensed to G8iéfaour worldwide
rights in our patents and applications to the exttest said patents and applications claim theofisgigalastat HCl as a
monotherapy or -administered with ERT

We own several US and foreign pending patent agjplins which cover the use of pharmacological chapes to treat diseases of
neurodegeneration. In particular we own two isquesents and two U.S. patent applications that ctheeuse of afegostat tartrate
and/or its derivatives to treat Parkinson’s disemswell as one patent application covering nosatmounds, including AT3375,
for the treatment of Parkinson’s disease. We owottear patent application covering the use of tieesaovel compounds,
including AT3375, for the treatment of Gaucher diseas a monotherapy as well as in combinationER. If patents issue frc
these applications expiration dates range from 202®30.

We have an exclusive license to several U.S. patantering the use of afegostat tartrate to treatcBer disease. These patents
expire in 2018 (not including the Hatch-Waxmanugtaty extension, which is described below). Theeere ex-U.S. counterparts
to the exclusively licensed U.S. patents, whichirexim 2018 in the U.S., covering afegostat taettattreat Gaucher disease. We
also have an exclusive license to two U.S. patelatming afegostat tartrate, the active chemicailetydn afegostat tartrate , whi
expire in 2015 and 2016 (not including the Hatchxvian statutory extension, which is described belanl corresponding
patents in the UK, France, Sweden, Germany, Svatzérand Japan all of which expire in 2015 (notiding the SPC extensior
which are described below). We own a U.S. patedtitcorresponding foreign patents covering afegtatrate, which is the
specific salt form or the active pharmaceuticaréatient in afegostat tartrate, which expires in20&e own several other pendi
U.S. applications directed to the synthesis of aétaf tartrate, as well as specific treatment aaditoring regimens with afegostat
tartrate which, if granted, will expire in 2028. Wave filed, or plan to file, foreign counterpavfshese applications, where
appropriate, by the applicable deadlir

We have an exclusive license to several U.S. patbat cover the use of AT2220 to treat Pompe déseBhese U.S. patents will
expire in 2018 (not including the Hatch-Waxmanugtaty extension, which is described below). Theeere ex-U.S. counterparts
to the exclusively licensed U.S. patents, whichirexim 2018 in the U.S., covering AT2220 to treatripe diseast

Individual patents extend for varying periods deafieg on the effective date of filing of the patepiplication or the date of patent
issuance, and the legal term of the patents icdhatries in which they are obtained. Generallyeps issued in the U.S. are effective for:

the longer of 17 years from the issue date or 20syffom the earliest effective filing date, if thatent application was filed prior
to June 8, 1995; ar

20 years from the earliest effective filing dafehe patent application was filed on or after J8n&995.

The term of foreign patents varies in accordandh miovisions of applicable local law, but typigai$ 20 years from the earliest
effective filing date.

The U.S. Drug Price Competition and Patent Terntd®ason Act of 1984, more commonly known as thédHaVaxman Act, provides
for an extension of one patent, known as a Hatchiféa statutory extension, for each NCE to comperfsaita portion of the time spent in
clinical development and regulatory review. Howetke maximum extension is five years and the esxten
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cannot extend the patent beyond 14 years from Newg Bpplication (NDA) approval. Similar extensioage available in European countr
known as SPC extensions, Japan and other courttidegever, we will not know what, if any, extensicare available until a drug is
approved. In addition, in the U.S., under provisiofthe Best Pharmaceuticals for Children’s Aa,may be entitled to an additional six
month period of patent protection Market Exclugiand Orphan Drug Exclusivity, for completing ped@&clinical studies in response to a
FDA issued Pediatric Written Request before sadustvities expire.

The patent positions of companies like ours aregdly uncertain and involve complex legal, techhiscientific and factual questions.
Our ability to maintain and solidify our propriegguosition for our technology will depend on oucsess in promptly filing patent
applications on new discoveries, and in obtainiffigcéive claims and enforcing those claims oncentgd. We focus special attention on fil
patent applications for formulations and deliveagimens for our products in development to furiidrance our patent exclusivity for those
products. We seek to protect our proprietary teldgyoand processes, in part, by contracting withemployees, collaborators, scientific
advisors and our commercial consultants to en$iateany inventions resulting from the relationship disclosed promptly, maintained in
confidence until a patent application is filed gmdferably until publication of the patent applioat and assigned to us or subject to a right to
obtain a license. We do not know whether any ofawn patent applications or those patent applioatibat are licensed to us will result in
the issuance of any patents. Our issued patentthasd that may issue in the future, or those $edrto us, may be challenged, narrowed,
invalidated or circumvented or be found to be ifdal unenforceable, which could limit our ability stop competitors from marketing
related products and reduce the term of patenégtion that we may have for our products. Neithemar our licensors can be certain tha
were the first to invent the inventions claimedir owned or licensed patents or patent applicatibnaddition, our competitors may
independently develop similar technologies or digié any technology developed by us and the rigffatsted under any issued patents may
not provide us with any meaningful competitive ambéges against these competitors. Furthermorepbec# the extensive time required for
development, testing and regulatory review of @ptal product, it is possible that any relatecepaitmay expire prior to or shortly after
commencing commercialization, thereby reducingattheantage of the patent to our business and preduct

We may rely, in some circumstances, on trade setwairotect our technology. However, trade seaetdifficult to protect. We seek
to protect our trade secret technology and prosess@art, by entering into confidentiality agrests with commercial partners,
collaborators, employees, consultants, scientdigsors and other contractors, and by contractiily aur employees and some of our
commercial consultants to ensure that any tradetseesulting from such employment or consultirg@vned by us. We also seek to
preserve the integrity and confidentiality of oataland trade secrets by maintaining physical ggafrour premises and physical and
electronic security of our information technologg®ms. While we have confidence in these indivgluarganizations and systems,
agreements or security measures may be breactetdjeamay not have adequate remedies for any br&aekldition, our trade secrets may
otherwise become known or be discovered indepelydeybthers. To the extent that our consultantsiti@ctors or collaborators use
intellectual property owned by others in their wéok us, disputes may arise as to the rights iateel or resulting know-how and inventions.

License Agreements

We have acquired rights to develop and commereiaiz product candidates through licenses grantaditious parties. The following
summarizes our material rights and obligations utitese licenses:

e Mt Sinai School of Medicir— We have acquired exclusive worldwide patent rightdevelop and commercialize migalastat t
afegostat tartrate and AT2220 and other pharmaabghaperones for the prevention or treatmetumhan diseases or clinical
conditions by increasing the activity of wild-typad mutant enzymes pursuant to a license agreemitbnitit. Sinai School of
Medicine (MSSM) of New York University. In conneati with this agreement, we issued 232,266 sharearafommon stock to
MSSM in April 2002. In October 2006, we issued MS&Madditional 133,333 shares of common stock aadiena payment of
$1.0 million in consideration of an expanded fiefdise under that license. Under this agreementate we have paid no upfront
or annual license fees and we have no milestofigare payments other than royalties on net sdlesiever, on October 31,
2008, we amended and restated this license agreéeémemong other items, provide us with the sibtrto control the
prosecution of patent rights under such agreemahtaclarify the portion of royalties and milestopayments we received from
Shire that were payable to MSSM. In connectiondivith, we agreed to pay MSSM $2.6 million in corti@cwith the
$50 million upfront payment that we received in lmber 2007 from Shire, our former collaborator,ahhivas already accrued
for at year-end 2007, and an additional $2.6 nmilfior the sole right to and control over the progien of patent rights. In
addition, we paid MSSM $3 million of the $30 miliapfront payment received from GSK in the fourttaer of 2010. This
agreement expires upon expiration of the last eflitensed patent rights, which will be in 201%jsat to any patent term
extension that may be granted, or 2024 if we dgwelproduct for combination therapy (pharmacoldgibaperone plus ERT) a
a patent issues from the pending application cogethie combination therapy, subject to any patm xtension that may be
granted
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» University of Maryland, Baltimore County We have acquired exclusive U.S. patent rightdeteelop and commercialize
afegostat tartrate for the treatment of Gaucheradie from the University of Maryland, Baltimore @tu Under this agreement,
date we have paid aggregate upfront and annualskictees of $45 thousand. We are required to matkiteatone payment upon
the demonstration of safety and efficacy of afegfostrtrate for the treatment of Gaucher diseaseRhase 2 study, and another
payment upon receiving FDA approval for afegostétate for the treatment of Gaucher disease. Walao required to pay
royalties on net sales. Upon satisfaction of boiflestones, we could be required to make up to $0ln in aggregate paymen
This agreement expires upon expiration of thed&sgie licensed patent rights in 20:

* Novo Nordisk A/— We have acquired exclusive patent rights to dgvahd commercialize afegostat tartrate for all &fmm
indications. Under this agreement, to date we Ip@ie an aggregate of $0.4 million in license fé#s.are also required to make
milestone payments based on clinical progressegfastat tartrate, with a payment due after indgimabf a Phase 3 clinical trial for
afegostat tartrate for the treatment of Gauchezadie and a payment due upon each filing for regylatpproval of afegostat
tartrate for the treatment of Gaucher disease ymofthe U.S., Europe or Japan. An additional paynedue upon approval of
afegostat tartrate for the treatment of Gaucheradis in the U.S. and a payment is also due updnaggcoval of afegostat tartrate
for the treatment of Gaucher disease in eitheruwwbpe or Japan. Assuming successful developmeafegbstat tartrate for the
treatment of Gaucher disease in the U.S., Eurogelapan, total milestone payments would be $7.8omilWe are also required
to pay royalties on net sales. This license wilii@ate in 2016

Under our license agreements, if we owe royaltieaet sales for one of our products to more thanaidrihe above licensors, then we
have the right to reduce the royalties owed tolmesmsor for royalties paid to another. The amafnbyalties to be offset is generally limited
in each license and can vary under each agreefanmigalastat HCl and AT2220, we will owe royadtienly to MSSM and will owe no
milestone payments. We would expect to pay royatteall three licensors with respect to afegdstdtate.

Our rights with respect to these agreements toldpyand commercialize migalastat HCI, afegostdtdss and AT2220 may terminate,
in whole or in part, if we fail to meet certain @&depment or commercialization requirements or ifdeenot meet our obligations to make
royalty payments.

Trademarks

In addition to our patents and trade secrets, we @avtain trademarks in the U.S. and/or abroadiidiveg A AMICUS
THERAPEUTICS®? & design and AMICUS THERAPEUTIGS . piesent, all of the U.S. trademark applicationgtiese marks have been
either registered or approved by the U.S. Pateshffaademark Office. Although we previously obtairsggproval of the tradename “Amigal”,
we will re-apply for registration of a new traderafor migalastat HCI based on feedback from FDAhjimiting the use of Amigal for
migalastat HCI. As part of our License and Collation Agreement with GSK, GSK will select and owe tradename for migalastat HCI.

Manufacturing

We continue to rely on contract manufacturers fpsuthe active pharmaceutical ingredients andadirsupplies for migalastat HCI
and our other product candidates. The active pheguatical ingredients for these products are manwfad under current good manufactur
practices (cGMP), at kilogram scale initiated witimmercially available starting materials. The comgnts in the final formulation for each
product are commonly used in other encapsulatedugts and are well characterized ingredients. We Iraplemented appropriate controls
for assuring the quality of both active pharmaamltingredients and capsules. Product specificatiati be established in concurrence with
regulatory bodies at the time of product registratiAs of the end of 2011, in accordance with allaboration agreement with GSK, GSK
has assumed all Chemistry, Manufacturing and Ctn(@MC) responsibilities for migalastat HCI.

Competition
Overview

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industriechegacterized by rapidly advancing technologiet®rise competition and a strong
emphasis on proprietary products. In addition, s#varge pharmaceutical companies are increasiioglysed on developing therapies for the
treatment of rare diseases, both through orgaoitrand acquisitions and partnerships. While wibe that our technologies, knowledge,
experience and scientific resources, along withomllaboration with GSK, provide us with compet#tiadvantages, we face potential
competition from many different sources, includommmercial enterprises, academic institutions, gawent agencies and private and public
research institutions. Any product candidates wWeasuccessfully develop and commercialize will cetepwith both existing and new
therapies that may become available in the future.
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Many of our competitors may have significantly gegdinancial resources and expertise associatddresearch and development,
regulatory approvals and marketing approved pradddiese competitors also compete with us in réieguand retaining qualified scientific
and management personnel, as well as in acquittgiblogies complementary to, or necessary forpoagrams. Smaller or early stage
companies may also prove to be significant commstitparticularly through collaborative arrangersesith large and established companies.

Our commercial opportunities could be reduced ioniahted if our competitors develop and commerz@fproducts that are safer, more
effective, have fewer side effects, are more coiergror are less expensive than products that wedaaelop. In addition, our ability to
compete may be affected because in some casesrnsigurother third party payors seek to encourageise of generic products. This may
have the effect of making branded products lesadite to buyers.

Major Competitors

Our major competitors include pharmaceutical amdeahnology companies in the U.S. and abroad tnat hpproved therapies or
therapies in development for lysosomal storagerdess within our core programs. Other competitoespharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies that have approved therapies or therap@/elopment for genetic diseases for which plaa@ological chaperone technology r
be applicable. Additionally, we are aware of seleaaly-stage, niche pharmaceutical and biotectgyotmmpanies whose core business
revolves around protein misfolding; however, wergoseaware that any of these companies is currevdiking to develop products that
would directly compete with ours. The key competitiactors affecting the success of our producticktes are likely to be their efficacy,
safety, convenience and price.

Any product candidates that we successfully devatlapcommercialize will compete with existing thges and new therapies that may
become available in the future. The following talidés our principal competitors and publicly agdile information on the status of their
product offerings (U.S. dollars in millions):

Competitor Indication Product Class of Product Status 2011 Sales
(in millions)
sanofi aventit Fabry diseas Fabrazyme® Enzyme Replacement Ther: Marketed $ 15C
Gaucher disea Cerezyme® Enzyme Replacement Ther: Marketed $ 62&
Pompe diseas Myozyme®/ Enzyme Replacement Ther: Marketed
Lumizyme® $ 43k
Gaucher disea  Eliglustat  Substrate Reduction Therapy Phase 3
tartrate N/A
Shire Fabry diseas Replaga® Enzyme Replacement Ther: Marketed $ 47¢%
Gaucher disea  VPRIV®  Enzyme Replacement Ther: Marketed $ 25¢€
Actelion, Ltd. Gaucher disea Zavesce®®  Substrate Reduction Thera Marketed $ 73
Protalix Biotherapeutics Gaucher disea Taligluceras Enzyme Replacement Ther: NDA filed
alfaD December 20( N/A

Government Regulation
FDA Approval Process

In the U.S., pharmaceutical products are subjeektensive regulation by the FDA. The Federal Fawdg, and Cosmetic Act and
other federal and state statutes and regulatiang&rg, among other things, the research, developresting, manufacture, storage,
recordkeeping, approval, labeling, promotion andkeizng, distribution, post-approval monitoring amgborting, sampling, and import and
export of pharmaceutical products. Failure to cogmwith applicable U.S. requirements may subjead@mpgany to a variety of administrative
or judicial sanctions, such as FDA refusal to apprmpending new drug applications (NDAs), warnintgles, product recalls, product seizul
total or partial suspension of production or disition, injunctions, fines, civil penalties, litigan, government investigation and criminal
prosecution.
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Pharmaceutical product development in the U.Scalflyi involves nonclinical laboratory and animadt® the submission to the FDA of
an investigational new drug application (IND), wiimust become effective before clinical testing magnmence, and adequate and well-
controlled clinical trials to establish the safatyd effectiveness of the drug for each indicatmmafhich FDA approval is sought. Satisfaction
of FDA pre-market approval requirements typicadliggs many years and the actual time required mgysudostantially based upon the type,
complexity and novelty of the product or diseagecknical tests include laboratory evaluation adguct chemistry, formulation and toxicity,
as well as animal trials to assess the charadgtsrishd potential safety and efficacy of the pradiibe conduct of the preclinical tests must
comply with federal regulations and requirementduding good laboratory practices. The resultsretpnical testing are submitted to the
FDA as part of an IND along with other informatimeluding information about product chemistry, méamturing and controls and a
proposed clinical trial protocol. Long-term preatial tests, such as animal tests of reproductixiity and carcinogenicity, may continue
after the IND is submitted.

A 30-day waiting period after the submission oflld® is required prior to the commencement of clitesting in humans. The IND
becomes effective 30 days after its receipt byRDA, and trials may begin at that point unlesskB& notifies the sponsor that the
investigations are subject to a clinical hold.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational new drug to healthy volunteers digpés under the supervision of a
qualified investigator. Clinical trials must be ceted in compliance with applicable governmenttaiipns, good clinical practices (GCP),
as well as under protocols detailing the objectiethe trial, the parameters to be used in moinigpsafety and the effectiveness criteria to be
evaluated. Each protocol involving testing on Wp&tients and subsequent protocol amendments mssitioeitted to the FDA as part of the
IND.

The FDA may order the temporary or permanent discoation of a clinical trial at any time or imposther sanctions if it believes that
the clinical trial is not being conducted in acarde with FDA requirements or presents an unacbkptesk to the clinical trial patients. The
study protocol and informed consent informationgatients in clinical trials must also be submitteén institutional review board (IRB), for
approval. An IRB may also require the clinicallltaathe site to be halted, either temporarily empanently, for failure to comply with the
IRB’s requirements, or may impose other conditions.

Clinical trials to support a new drug applicatiocdi)A) for marketing approval are typically conduciedhree sequential phases, but the
phases may overlap. In Phase 1, the initial intctida of the drug into healthy human subjects digpds, the drug is tested to assess
metabolism, pharmacokinetics, pharmacological astigide effects associated with increasing dasesipossible, early evidence on
effectiveness. Phase 2 usually involves trials liméed patient population, to determine the efifeeness of the drug for a particular
indication or indications, dosage tolerance anéhwpoin dosage, and identify common adverse effeaissafety risks. If a compound
demonstrates evidence of effectiveness and an @addesafety profile in Phase 2 evaluations, PBasils are undertaken to obtain the
additional information about clinical efficacy asdfety in a larger number of patients, typicallgatdgraphically dispersed clinical trial sites,
to permit FDA to evaluate the overall benefit-riskationship of the drug and to provide adequdiarmation for the labeling of the drug.

After completion of the required clinical testira;y NDA is prepared and submitted to the FDA. FDArapal of the NDA is required
before marketing of the product may begin in th8.0'he NDA must include the results of all predaij clinical and other testing and a
compilation of data relating to the product’s phacwlogy, chemistry, manufacture, and controls. ddst of preparing and submitting an
NDA is substantial. Under federal law, the subnaissif most NDAs is additionally subject to a subsit application user fee, and the hol
of an approved NDA is also subject to annual prbdnd establishment user fees. These fees arallypiccreased annually.

The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of a NDA ttedmine whether the application will be accepteadfifing based on the agency’s
threshold determination that it is sufficiently golete to permit substantive review. Once the subimisis accepted for filing, the FDA beg
an in-depth review. The FDA has agreed to certaifopmance goals in the review of new drug applicet Most such applications for non-
priority drug products are reviewed within ten mtantHowever, the FDA attempts to review a drug hatd that is eligible for priority
review within six months, as discussed below. Thaaw process may be extended by FDA for threetiaddil months to evaluate major
amendments to information already provided in ttigal submission. The FDA may also refer applieas for novel drug products or drug
products which present difficult questions of safat efficacy to an advisory committee, typicallpanel that includes clinicians and other
experts, for review, evaluation and a recommendai®to whether the application should be approvkd.FDA is not bound by the
recommendation of an advisory committee, but itegalty follows such recommendations. Before apprg\an NDA, the FDA will typically
inspect one or more clinical sites to assure campk with GCP. Additionally, the FDA will inspettet facility or the facilities at which the
drug is manufactured. FDA will not approve the pretdunless compliance with current good manufactupractices is satisfactory and the
NDA contains data that provide substantial evidehegthe drug is safe and effective in the indicastudied and to be markete
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After FDA evaluates the NDA and the manufacturiagilfties, it issues an approval letter or a cortgtesponse letter. Complete
response letters outline the deficiencies in thesssion and may require substantial additiondirtgr information in order for the FDA to
reconsider the application. If and when those dafities have been addressed to the FDA's satigfattian amendment submitted to the
NDA, the FDA will issue an approval letter. FDA ha@mmitted to reviewing such resubmissions in 8 aronths depending on the type
information included.

An approval letter authorizes commercial markeththe drug with specific prescribing informatiaor fspecific indications. As a
condition of NDA approval, the FDA may require stapgial post-approval testing and surveillance tmitor the drug’s safety or efficacy
and may impose other conditions, including labetiestrictions which can materially affect the pdi@market and profitability of the drug.
Once granted, product approvals may be withdrawonfpliance with regulatory standards is not maiet or problems are identified
following initial marketing.

The Hatch-Waxman Act

In seeking approval for a drug through an NDA, a#pits are required to list with the FDA each pateith claims that cover the
applicant’s product. Upon approval of a drug, eeicthe patents listed in the application for theglis then published in the FDA’s Approved
Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evabretj commonly known as the Orange Book. Drugsdigtehe Orange Book can, in tu
be cited by potential competitors in support ofrappl of an abbreviated new drug application (ANDAh ANDA provides for marketing of
a drug product that has the same route of admaiistr, active ingredients strength and dosage &sithe listed drug and has been shown
through bioequivalence testing to be therapeutiaduivalent to the listed drug. ANDA applicants aot required to conduct or submit
results of preclinical or clinical tests to prowe tsafety or effectiveness of their drug produtttepthan the requirement for bioequivalence
testing. Drugs approved in this way are commonigrred to as “generic equivalents” to the listedgirand can often be substituted by
pharmacists under prescriptions written for thgioal listed drug.

The ANDA applicant is required to certify to the Al2oncerning any patents listed for the approvextipct in the FDAS Orange Boot
Specifically, the applicant must certify that: tfie required patent information has not been fi{@dthe listed patent has expired; (iii) the
listed patent has not expired, but will expire queaticular date and approval is sought after gagpiration; or (iv) the listed patent is inva
or will not be infringed by the new product. A écation that the new product will not infringegttalready approved product’s listed patents
or that such patents are invalid is called a Pagdy# certification. If the applicant does not tdrade the listed patents, the ANDA applical
will not be approved until all the listed patentaiming the referenced product have expired.

If the ANDA applicant has provided a Paragraph difeeation to the FDA, the applicant must also dewtice of the Paragraph 4
certification to the NDA and patent holders onae ANDA has been accepted for filing by the FDA. TMIRA and patent holders may then
initiate a patent infringement lawsuit in respotséhe notice of the Paragraph 4 certification. Tilveg of a patent infringement lawsuit
within 45 days of the receipt of a Paragraph 4ifeeation automatically prevents the FDA from apyirgg the ANDA until the earlier of
30 months, expiration of the patent, settlemernheflawsuit or a decision in the infringement ctirze is favorable to the ANDA applicant.

The ANDA application also will not be approved liaty non-patent exclusivity, such as exclusiviay dbtaining approval of a new
chemical entity, listed in the Orange Book for thierenced product has expired (New Chemical EMiyket Exclusivity). Federal law
provides a period of five years following approwéia drug containing no previously approved actingredients, during which ANDAs for
generic versions of those drugs cannot be submittézks the submission contains a Paragraph Zedgallto a listed patent, in which case
submission may be made four years following thginal product approval. Federal law provides f@esaiod of three years of exclusivity
following approval of a listed drug that containeyiously approved active ingredients but is apptbin a new dosage form, route of
administration or combination, or for a new use, @ipproval of which was required to be supportedéyy clinical trials conducted by or for
the sponsor, during which FDA cannot grant effectpproval of an ANDA based on that listed drugtifier same new dosage form, route of
administration or combination, or new use.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Once an NDA is approved, a product will be subjeatertain post-approval requirements. For instaRBA closely regulates the post-
approval marketing and promotion of drugs, inclgdatandards and regulations for direct-to-conswadeertising, communications regarding
unindicated uses, industry-sponsored scientificexttational activities and promotional activitiegolving the internet.

Drugs may be marketed only for the approved indicatand in accordance with the provisions of {eraved labeling. Changes to
some of the conditions established in an appropgdication, including changes in indications, labg) or manufacturing processes or
facilities, require submission and FDA approvahafew NDA or NDA supplement before the change @imiplemented. An NDA
supplement for a new indication typically requicéinical data similar to that in the original aggation, and the FDA uses the same
procedures and actions in reviewing NDA supplemasti does in reviewing NDAs.
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Adverse event reporting and submission of periogjorts is required following FDA approval of an NDThe FDA also may require
post-marketing testing, known as Phase 4 testisig evaluation and mitigation strategies and sllargie to monitor the effects of an
approved product, or place conditions on an appitwad could restrict the distribution or use of fbroduct. In addition, quality control as
well as drug manufacture, packaging, and labelioggdures must continue to conform to current gonadufacturing practices, or cGMPs,
after approval. Drug manufacturers and certairneirtsubcontractors are required to register t&iablishments with FDA and certain state
agencies, and are subject to routine inspectioried¥DA during which the agency inspects manufaugufacilities to access compliance
with cGMPs. Accordingly, manufacturers must conéita expend time, money and effort in the areggaduction and quality control to
maintain compliance with cGMPs. Regulatory authesimay withdraw product approvals or request pcodecalls if a company fails to
comply with regulatory standards, if it encountarsblems following initial marketing, or if previsly unrecognized problems are
subsequently discovered.

Orphan Drugs

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drugs intended to treat ada®ease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fewan 200,000 individuals in the U.S. Orphan dragighation must be requested before
submitting an NDA. After the FDA grants orphan ddagignation, the generic identity of the drug asghotential orphan use are disclosed
publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug designation doesaonvey any advantage in or shorten the duratighe regulatory review and approval
process. The first NDA applicant with FDA orphamnigldesignation for a particular active ingredientdceive FDA approval of the
designated drug for the disease indication for witibias such designation, is entitled to a sevear-gxclusive marketing period (Orphan
Drug Exclusivity) in the U.S. for that product, fibvat indication. During the seven-year period,FlBeA may not finally approve any other
applications to market the same drug for the saiseade, except in limited circumstances, suchsi®waing of clinical superiority to the
product with orphan drug exclusivity or if the litee holder cannot supply sufficient quantitieshef product. Orphan drug exclusivity does
not prevent FDA from approving a different drug foe same disease or condition, or the same drugddferent disease or condition.
Among the other benefits of orphan drug designadi@ntax credits for certain research and a waif/éie NDA application user fee for the
orphan indication.

Pediatric I nformation

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2007ERR NDAs or supplements to NDAs must contain datassess the safety and
effectiveness of the drug for the claimed indicadian all relevant pediatric subpopulations andupport dosing and administration for each
pediatric subpopulation for which the drug is satfe effective. The FDA may grant deferrals for sigsion of data or full or partial waivers.
Unless otherwise required by regulation, PREA dassapply to any drug for an indication for whictpban designation has been granted.

Fast Track Designation

Under the fast track program, the sponsor of an ihdy request FDA to designate the drug candidagefast track drug if it is intende
to treat a serious condition and fulfill an unmeddital need. FDA must determine if the drug candidmalifies for fast track designation
within 60 days of receipt of the sponsor’s requ@sice FDA designates a drug as a fast track catedilds required to facilitate the
development and expedite the review of that drugroyiding more frequent communication with anddguice to the sponsor.

In addition to other benefits such as the abilityise surrogate endpoints and have greater intemactith FDA, FDA may initiate
review of sections of a fast track drug’s NDA beftine application is complete. This rolling revissavailable if the applicant provides and
FDA approves a schedule for the submission ofeéhgaining information and the applicant pays applieaser fees. However, FDA'’s time
period goal for reviewing an application does regib until the last section of the NDA is submittédiditionally, the fast track designation
may be withdrawn by FDA if FDA believes that thesidmation is no longer supported by data emergirthe clinical trial process.

Priority Review

Under FDA policies, a drug candidate is eligible gaority review, or review within a six-month terframe from the time a complete
NDA is accepted for filing, if the drug candidate@ypides a significant improvement compared to medkelrugs in the treatment, diagnosi:
prevention of a disease. A fast track designatad dandidate would ordinarily meet FDA'’s criteraa priority review. The FDA makes its
determination of priority or standard review durthg 60-day filing period after an initial NDA suission.
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Accelerated Approval

Under FDA's accelerated approval regulations, FDdyrapprove a drug for a serious or lifgeatening illness that provides meanin
therapeutic benefit to patients over existing tresaits based upon a surrogate endpoint that isrreblsdikely to predict clinical benefit. In
clinical trials, a surrogate endpoint is a measemnof laboratory or clinical signs of a diseaseamndition that substitutes for a direct
measurement of how a patient feels, functionsyoriges. Surrogate endpoints can often be measuoed easily or more rapidly than clini
endpoints. A drug candidate approved on this hasiabject to rigorous post-marketing compliangpiieements, including the completion of
Phase 4 or post-approval clinical trials to confthra effect on the clinical endpoint. Failure tadact required post-approval studies, or
confirm a clinical benefit during post-marketingdies, will allow FDA to withdraw the drug from timearket on an expedited basis. All
promotional materials for drug candidates appraveder accelerated regulations are subject to peigew by FDA.

Section 505(b)(2) New Drug Applications

Most drug products obtain FDA marketing approvalkpant to an NDA or an ANDA. A third alternativeaspecial type of NDA,
commonly referred to as a Section 505(b)(2) NDAicktenables the applicant to rely, in part, onghtety and efficacy data of an existing
product, or published literature, in support ofdfplication.

505(b)(2) NDAs often provide an alternate path BAFapproval for new or improved formulations or nages of previously approved
products. Section 505(b)(2) permits the submisefam NDA where at least some of the informatioruiesd for approval comes from studies
not conducted by or for the applicant and for whtod applicant has not obtained a right of refegeiitie applicant may rely upon certain
preclinical or clinical studies conducted for apagved product. The FDA may also require compattiggerform additional studies or
measurements to support the change from the appprreeluct. The FDA may then approve the new prodactlidate for all or some of the
label indications for which the referenced produes been approved, as well as for any new indicatiaght by the Section 505(b)(2)
applicant.

To the extent that the Section 505(b)(2) appli¢gaineélying on studies conducted for an already @y product, the applicant is
required to certify to the FDA concerning any paddisted for the approved product in the OrangelB the same extent that an ANDA
applicant would. Thus approval of a 505(b)(2) NDénde stalled until all the listed patents clainmtimg referenced product have expired,
until any non-patent exclusivity, such as exclugifor obtaining approval of a new chemical entlisted in the Orange Book for the
referenced product has expired, and, in the caadPafragraph 4 certification and subsequent pat&intigement suit, until the earlier of
30 months, settlement of the lawsuit or a decigidihe infringement case that is favorable to theti®n 505(b)(2) applicant.

Anti-Kickback, False Claims Laws & The Prescription Drug Marketing Act

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketing of pimaceutical products, several other types of statefederal laws have been applied
to restrict certain marketing practices in the piageutical industry in recent years. These lawsidecanti-kickback statutes and false claims
statutes. The federal healthcare program anti-kickistatute prohibits, among other things, knowiragid willfully offering, paying,
soliciting or receiving remuneration to induce réturn for purchasing, leasing, ordering or agiag for the purchase, lease or order of any
healthcare item or service reimbursable under MedidViedicaid or other federally financed healtegaograms. This statute has been
interpreted to apply to arrangements between phagutigal manufacturers on the one hand and pressripurchasers and formulary
managers on the other. Violations of the anti-kaaipstatute are punishable by imprisonment, crihfinas, civil monetary penalties and
exclusion from participation in federal healthcpregrams. Although there are a number of statut@smptions and regulatory safe harbors
protecting certain common activities from prosemutdr other regulatory sanctions, the exemptionksarfe harbors are drawn narrowly, and
practices that involve remuneration intended taaaprescribing, purchases or recommendations maylject to scrutiny if they do not
qualify for an exemption or safe harbor.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person fikgrawingly presenting, or causing to be presentddise claim for payment to the
federal government, or knowingly making, or causim¢pe made, a false statement to have a falsa glaid. Recently, several pharmaceu
and other healthcare companies have been prosaouted these laws for allegedly inflating drug pachey report to pricing services, which
in turn were used by the government to set MediaatkMedicaid reimbursement rates, and for allggprividing free product to customers
with the expectation that the customers wouldfbdleral programs for the product. In addition, aermarketing practices, including débel
promotion, may also violate false claims laws. Tiggority of states also have statutes or regulatgmilar to the federal anti-kickback law
and false claims laws, which apply to items andises reimbursed under Medicaid and other statgrpros, or, in several states, apply
regardless of the payor.
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Physician Drug Samples

As part of the sales and marketing process, phauti@al companies frequently provide samples of@ggd drugs to physicians. The
Prescription Drug Marketing Act (the PDMA) impogesjuirements and limitations upon the provisiowmfy samples to physicians, as well
as prohibits states from licensing distributorgscription drugs unless the state licensing rogmeets certain federal guidelines that
include minimum standards for storage, handlingraedrd keeping. In addition, the PDMA sets foritfil@and criminal penalties for
violations.

Regulation Outside the U.S.

In addition to regulations in the U.S., we will fgbject to a variety of regulations in other juiisidns governing clinical studies and
commercial sales and distribution of our produktsst countries outside the U.S. require that clihtdal applications be submitted to and
approved by the local regulatory authority for ealthical study. In addition, whether or not we abtFDA approval for a product, we must
obtain approval of a product by the comparable &gy authorities of countries outside the U.Sobewe can commence clinical studies or
marketing of the product in those countries. Thagrapal process varies from country to country, #redtime may be longer or shorter than
that required for FDA approval.

To obtain regulatory approval of a drug under Eguiatory systems, we may submit marketing authtidra either under a centralized
or decentralized procedure. The centralized praggdvhich is compulsory for medicines produced bstain biotechnological processes and
optional for those which are highly innovative, yides for the grant of a single marketing authdr@rathat is valid for all EU member states.
The decentralized procedure provides for approyalr® or more other, or concerned, member statas aksessment of an application
performed by one member state, known as the refenerember state. Under this procedure, an applézéhits an application, or dossier,
and related materials including a draft summarpgrofiuct characteristics, and draft labeling andpge leaflet, to the reference member ¢
and concerned member states. The reference metabepeepares a draft assessment and drafts oéldted materials within 120 days after
receipt of a valid application. Within 90 days eteiving the reference member state’s assessnpmrt,reach concerned member state must
decide whether to approve the assessment reporetatdd materials. If a member state cannot agptioe assessment report and related
materials on the grounds of potential serious tasthe public health, the disputed points may evalht be referred to the European
Commission, whose decision is binding on all mensbates.

We have obtained an orphan medicinal product daesigmin the EU from the EMEA for migalastat HCt e treatment of Fabry
disease and for afegostat tartrate for the treatwfe@aucher disease. We anticipate filing for @pimedicinal product designation from the
EMEA for AT2220 for the treatment of Pompe dised$® EMEA grants orphan drug designation to prontteéedevelopment of products
that may offer therapeutic benefits for litereatening or chronically debilitating conditioaecting not more than five in 10,000 people ia
EU. In addition, orphan drug designation can begaif the drug is intended for a life threatenis@riously debilitating or serious and
chronic condition in the EU and that without indees it is unlikely that sales of the drug in thd #ould be sufficient to justify developing
the drug. Orphan drug designation is only availafileere is no other satisfactory method approwetthe EU of diagnosing, preventing or
treating the condition, or if such a method exisie, proposed orphan drug will be of significanhdi to patients.

Orphan drug designation provides opportunitiedderreductions for protocol assistance and accesetcentralized regulatory
procedures before and during the first year aftereting approval, which reductions are not limitedhe first year after marketing approval
for small and medium enterprises. In addition, pfraduct which has an orphan drug designation splesgly receives EMEA marketing
approval for the indication for which it has suasignation, the product is entitled to orphan d¥ugusivity, which means the EMEA may
not approve any other application to market theesdrag for the same indication for a period ofyears. The exclusivity period may be
reduced to six years if the designation criter&arar longer met, including where it is shown that product is sufficiently profitable not to
justify maintenance of market exclusivity. Compatit may receive marketing approval of differentgdror biologics for the indications f
which the orphan product has exclusivity. In ortedo so, however, they must demonstrate thatékedrugs or biologics provide a
significant benefit over the existing orphan pradddis demonstration of significant benefit maydmne at the time of initial approval or in
post-approval studies, depending on the type oketeng authorization granted.

Pharmaceutical Pricing and Reimbursement

In the U.S. and markets in other countries, sadl@my products for which we receive regulatory awat for commercial sale will
depend in part on the availability of reimbursenfenin third party payors. Third party payors inadugovernment health administrative
authorities, managed care providers, private héadtlvers and other organizations. These thirdygeayors are
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increasingly challenging the price and examining¢bst-effectiveness of medical products and sesvim addition, significant uncertainty
exists as to the reimbursement status of newlyayggl healthcare product candidates. We may neeshiduct expensive pharmacoeconomic
studies in order to demonstrate the cost-effecégemf our products. Our product candidates map@acbnsidered cost-effective. Adequate
third party reimbursement may not be availablenabée us to maintain price levels sufficient tdizaan appropriate return on our
investment in product development.

In 2003, the U.S. government enacted legislatiaviding a partial prescription drug benefit for Meate recipients that began in 2006.
Government payment for some of the costs of pnesen drugs may increase demand for any productaffiicch we receive marketing
approval. However, to obtain payments under thigiiam, we would be required to sell products to i recipients through managed «
organizations and other health care delivery systeperating pursuant to this legislation. Thesewizations would negotiate prices for our
products, which are likely to be lower than we ntigtherwise obtain. Federal, state and local gavents in the U.S. continue to consider
legislation to limit the growth of healthcare costeluding the cost of prescription drugs. Futlegislation could limit payments for
pharmaceuticals such as the drug candidates thatevéeveloping.

The marketability of any products for which we rieeeregulatory approval for commercial sale mayesuf the government and third
party payors fail to provide adequate coverageraimbursement. In addition, an increasing emphasisianaged care in the U.S. has
increased and will continue to increase the pressarpharmaceutical pricing.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we had 96 full-time empts; 71 of whom were primarily engaged in reseanthdevelopment activities
and 25 of whom provide administrative servicesotaltof 26 employees have an M.D. or Ph.D. deg¥ese of our employees are
represented by a labor union. We have not expegteany work stoppages and consider our employataes to be good.

Our Corporate Information

We were incorporated under the laws of the Stafeetéware on February 4, 2002. Our principal exgeutffices are located at 1 Cei
Brook Drive, Cranbury, NJ 08512 and our telephomelper is (609) 662-2000. Our website address is vamicustherapeutics.conWe
make available free of charge on our website onuah quarterly and current reports, including admeents to such reports, as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically $ileh material with, or furnish such material teg U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Information relating to corporate governance at éusiTherapeutics, including our Code of Businessddot for Employees, Executi
Officers and Directors, Corporate Governance Guids| and information concerning our senior managgrteam, Board of Directors,
including Board Committees and Committee chartemd, transactions in our securities by directorsex@tutive officers, is available on our
website at www.amicustherapeutics.cander the “Investors—Corporate Governance” capiwth in print to any stockholder upon request.
Any waivers to the Codes by directors or executifficers and any material amendment to the Codgusiness Conduct and Ethics for
Employees, Executive Officers and Directors willgmsted promptly on our website.

We have filed applications to register certain ¢éradrks in the U.S. and abroad, including A AMICUSERAPEUTICS® and design
and AMICUS THERAPETUICS Fabrazyn®e , Cerezyme , Myoe® , Lumizyme® , Replaga@l , VPRI¥ and ZaveSeae the proper
of their respective owners.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The occurrence of any of the following risks ccudaim our business, financial condition, result®pérations and/or growth prospects.
In that case, the trading price of our common stoakld decline, and you may lose all or part of yimwvestment. You should understand 1
it is not possible to predict or identify all sudbks. Consquently, you should not consider thieviohg to be a complete discussion of alll
potential risks or uncertaintie:

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need foAdditional Capital

We have incurred significant operating losses sinaaur inception. We currently do not, and since incption never have had, any
products available for commercial sale. We expecbtincur operating losses for the foreseeable futurend may never achieve or
maintain profitability.

Since inception, we have incurred significant opegalosses. Our cumulative net loss attributabledmmon stockholders since
inception was $290.3 million and we had an accutedldeficit of $270.1 million as of December 31120To date, we have financed our
operations primarily through private placementswf redeemable convertible preferred stock, praeéman our initial public offering and
March 2010 registered direct offering, and from caltaboration agreement with GSK and prior collation agreement with Shire. We have
devoted substantially all of our efforts to res@aand development, including our preclinical depetent activities and clinical trials. We
have not completed development of any drugs. We&xp continue to incur significant and increasapgrating losses for at least the next
several years and we are unable to predict theeafeany future losses as we:

» continue our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trials of atégtat HCI for the treatment of Fabry diseaseifipsrt regulatory approval in
the United States (Study 011) and worldwide (StD@g);

» continue our ongoing Phase 2 clinical trial of niégéat HCI co-administered with ERT for Fabry dseand our Phase 2 clinical
trial of AT2220 c-administered with ERT for Pompe disee

» continue our preclinical studies on the use of ptaaological chaperones for the treatment of Paok’s Disease

« continue our preclinical studies on the use of ptaological chaperones co-administered with ERTofber lysosomal storage
diseases

» continue the research and development of additipraluct candidate:
» seek regulatory approvals for our product candsltitat successfully complete clinical trials;
» establish a sales and marketing infrastructuretoncercialize products for which we may obtain raguly approval

To become and remain profitable, we must succedéweloping and commercializing drugs with sigrafit market potential. This will
require us to be successful in a range of chalfengctivities, including the discovery of produandidates, successful completion of
preclinical testing and clinical trials of our prax candidates, obtaining regulatory approval iese product candidates and manufacturing,
marketing and selling those products for which waymbtain regulatory approval. We are only in theiminary stages of these activities.
We may never succeed in these activities and megrgenerate revenues that are large enough tewechrofitability. Even if we do achie'
profitability, we may not be able to sustain orrgsgse profitability on a quarterly or annual baSiar failure to become or remain profitable
could depress the market price of our common séockcould impair our ability to raise capital, emgaur business, diversify our product
offerings or continue our operations.

We will need substantial funding and may be unabléo raise capital when needed, which would force us delay, reduce or eliminate
our product development programs or commercializaton efforts.

We expect to continue to incur substantial reseanthdevelopment expenses in connection with ogoiogy activities, particularly as
we continue our Phase 3 development of migalagtat Further, subject to obtaining regulatory apdoaf any of our product candidates
besides migalastat HCI, we expect to incur sigaiftccommercialization expenses for product saldsaarketing, securing commercial
guantities of product from our manufacturers aratpct distribution. While research and developnoests associated with our migalastat
HCI program will be shared with GSK so long as ceitaboration continues, we remain responsibleafbcosts related to our other progra
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We believe that our existing cash and cash equiteakend marketable securities, along with reimbaesgs of development costs and
achievement of milestones under our collaboratidh ®SK, will be sufficient to enable us to fundraperating expenses and capital
expenditure requirements into the middle of thedthuarter of 2013. However, should GSK terminateawnllaboration agreement, we would
likely need to seek additional funding in ordectamplete any clinical trials related to migala$i&il, seek regulatory approvals of migalastat
HCI, and launch the product candidate and contiuenther clinical and preclinical programs. Capitay not be available when needed on
terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, eskheaidight of the current challenging economicvenment. If adequate funds are not avail;
to us on a timely basis, we may be required tocedu eliminate research development programsmoneercial efforts.

Our future capital requirements will depend on m&agtors, including:
» the progress and results of our clinical trialsmdalastat HCI
» the continuation of, and our achievement of milestpayments under, our collaboration agreement @8K;

» the scope, progress, results and costs of preglidevelopment, laboratory testing and clinicall&rifor our other product
candidates including those testing the use of pheomgical chaperones co-administered with ERTfanthe treatment of
diseases of neurodegenerati

» the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revidwur product candidate

« the number and development requirements of otleetymt candidates that we purs

» the costs of commercialization activities, incluglpproduct marketing, sales and distributi
» the emergence of competing technologies and othaarse market developmen

» the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting pagpplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddieg intellectual property
related claims

» the extent to which we acquire or invest in busieesproducts or technologies; ¢
e our ability to establish additional collaboraticarsd obtain milestone, royalty or other paymentmfemy such collaborator
Any capital that we obtain may not be on terms favmable to us or our stockholders or may require usd relinquish valuable rights.

Until such time, if ever, as we generate produegnee to finance our operations, we expect to firaour cash needs through public or
private equity offerings and debt financings, cagbe collaboration and licensing arrangements aadtg from patient advocacy groups,
foundations and government agencies. If we aretabiaise capital by issuing equity securitieswasdid in March 2010, our stockholders
will experience dilution. In addition, stockholdersay experience dilution if the holders of the vaats issued in connection with our March
2010 offering exercise their warrants. Debt finaggif available, may involve agreements that ideleovenants limiting or restricting our
ability to take specific actions, such as incurraaglitional debt, making capital expenditures allaléng dividends and may include rights
are senior to the holders of our common stock. Edicur current loan and security agreements wilihd® Valley Bank includes a covenant
where by we must maintain a minimum amount of Liégfyi measured at the end of each month where uintest cash, cash equivalents, and
marketable, securities is greater than $20 milfitus outstanding debt due to Silicon Valley BankyAlebt financing or additional equity ti
we raise may contain terms, such as liquidationathdr preferences, which are not favorable torumio stockholders. If we raise capital
through additional collaboration and licensing agements with third parties, it may be necessargltoquish valuable rights to our
technologies, future revenue streams, researchigmegor product candidates or to grant licensaeions that may not be favorable to us or
our stockholders.

We may acquire other assets or businesses, or forrnllaborations or make investments in other compaeis or technologies, that could
harm our operating results, dilute our stockholders ownership, increase our debt or cause us to incuignificant expense.

As part of our business strategy, we may pursuaisitigns of assets or businesses, or strateganals and collaborations to expand
our existing technologies and operations. We maydamtify or complete these transactions in a ljnmeanner, on a cogffective basis, or i
all, and we may not realize the anticipated besefitany such transaction, any of which could hadetrimental effect on our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.N&'ee no experience with acquiring other compaaislimited experience with forming
collaborations. We may not be able to find suitaaquisition candidates, and if we make any actijois, we may not be able to integrate
these acquisitions successfully into our existingibess and we may incur additional debt or assutkeown or contingent liabilities in
connection therewith. Integration of an acquirethpany or assets may also disrupt ongoing operatiegsire the hiring of additional
personnel and the implementation of additionalrimaésystems and infrastructure, especially thelisdipn of commercial assets, and require
management resources that would otherwise foculeweloping our existing business. We may not be tbfind suitable collaboration
partners or identify other investment opportunjtersd we may experience losses related to anyisueltments.
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To finance any acquisitions or collaborations, wayrahoose to issue debt or shares of our commaek atconsideration. Any such
issuance of shares would dilute the ownership oftackholders. If the price of our common stocloig or volatile, we may not be able to
acquire other assets or companies or fund a traasaasing our stock as consideration. Alterndsivid may be necessary for us to raise
additional funds for acquisitions through publicpivate financings. Additional funds may not baidable on terms that are favorable to us,
or at all.

Our short operating history may make it difficult t o evaluate the success of our business to date dadassess our future viability.

We are a development stage company. We commenegdtimms in February 2002. Our operations to dateibeen limited to
organizing and staffing our company, acquiring dadeloping our technology and undertaking predihgtudies and clinical trials of our
most advanced product candidates. We have noeystrgted any commercial sales for any of our proclardidates. We have not yet
demonstrated our ability to successfully complatgé-scale, clinical trials, obtain regulatory ap@ls, manufacture a commercial-scale
product or arrange for a third party to do so onlmhalf, or conduct sales and marketing activitiesessary for successful product
commercialization. Consequently, any predictionsudlour future success or viability may not be @zueate as they could be if we had a
longer operating history.

In addition, if we are successful in obtaining neditkg approval for any of our lead product candidair if we acquire commercial
assets, we will need to transition from a compaiti & research focus to a company capable of stipgarommercial activities. We may not
be successful in such a transition.

Risks Related to the Development and Commercializatn of Our Product Candidates

We depend heavily on the success of our most advaacproduct candidate, migalastat HCI. All of our pioduct candidates are still in
either preclinical or clinical development. Clinicd trials of our product candidates may not be succesful. If we are unable to
commercialize migalastat HCI, or experience signifiant delays in doing so, our business will be mateaitly harmed.

We have invested a significant portion of our ef@nd financial resources in the development ofiast advanced product candida
including migalastat HCI. Our ability to generateguct revenue, which may never occur, will depkeavily on the successful development
and commercialization of these product candidated,upon the continuation and success of any anlidions we may enter into, in
particular our collaboration with GSK. The succassbmmercialization of our product candidates wépend on several factors, including
the following:

» successful enrollment of patients in our clinicals on a timely basit

e obtaining supplies of our product candidates arftbres required, third party marketed products indgdERTs, for completion of
our clinical trials on a timely basi

» successful completion of preclinical studies arnicl trials;
e obtaining regulatory agreement in the structuredesign of our clinical program

» obtaining marketing approvals from the United Std&eod and Drug Administration (FDA), and similagulatory authorities
outside the U.S

» establishing commercial-scale manufacturing arrareges with third party manufacturers whose manufaug facilities are
operated in compliance with current good manufaegupractice (cGMP) regulation

» launching commercial sales of the product, whesth@ne or in collaboration with othel

» acceptance of the product by patients, the medaamunity and third party payor

e competition from other companies and their thersj

» successful protection of our intellectual propeights from competing products in the U.S. and abr@nc
» acontinued acceptable safety and efficacy profileur product candidates following approv

If the market opportunities for our product candidates are smaller than we believe they are, then ouevenues may be adversely
affected and our business may suffer.

Each of the diseases that our most advanced prododidates are being developed to address isQareprojections of both the
number of people who have these diseases, asstleasubset of people with these diseases whothaymtential to benefit from treatment
with our product candidates, are based on estimates

Currently, most reported estimates of the prevaaidhese diseases are based on studies of srha#ts of the population of specific
geographic areas, which are then extrapolatectimate the prevalence of the diseases in the broaoiéd population. In addition, as new
studies are performed the estimated prevalendgesttdiseases may change. In fact, as a resuliref eecent studies, we believe that
previously reported studies do not accurately astfor the prevalence of Fabry disease and thapitbealence of Fabry disease could be
many times higher than previously reported. Tharelze no assurance that the prevalence of Falegsisor Pompe disease in the study
populations, particularly in these newer studiesuaately reflects the prevalence of these disdagike broader world population.
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We estimate the number of potential patients irbtteader world population who have those diseasésraay respond to treatment with
our product candidates by further extrapolatingrestes of the prevalence of specific types of gematitations giving rise to these diseases.
For example, we base our estimate of the percemtalgabry patients who may respond to treatmertt wiigalastat HCI on the frequency of
missense and other similar mutations that causgykhdease reported in the Human Gene Mutationti2ae As a result of recent studies
estimate that the prevalence of Fabry disease dmutdany times higher than previously reportedbeleeve that the number of patients
diagnosed with Fabry disease will increase andnasé that the number of Fabry patients who mayfiidnem the use of migalastat HCl is
significantly higher than some previously reporgstimates of Fabry disease generally. If our esdmaf the prevalence of Fabry disease or
of the number of patients who may benefit from timent with our product candidates prove to be irexir the market opportunities for our
product candidates may be smaller than we beltesye &re, our prospects for generating revenue raadlersely affected and our business
may suffer.

Initial results from a clinical trial do not ensure that the trial will be successful and success irady stage clinical trials does not ensure
success in later-stage clinical trials.

We will only obtain regulatory approval to commaitcie a product candidate if we can demonstratbdatisfaction of the FDA or the
applicable non-U.S. regulatory authority, in wedlsigned and conducted clinical trials, that thedlpob candidate is safe and effective and
otherwise meets the appropriate standards regfdgrexpproval for a particular indication. Clinidaials are lengthy, complex and extremely
expensive processes with uncertain results. Ariitd one or more of our clinical trials may ocetirany stage of testing. We have limited
experience in conducting and managing the clinitals necessary to obtain regulatory approvalduiting approval by the FDA.

Success in preclinical testing and early cliniciall$ does not ensure that later clinical trial§ e successful, and initial results from a
clinical trial do not necessarily predict final véts. We cannot be assured that these trials Withately be successful. In addition, patients
may not be compliant with their dosing regimenra fprotocols or they may withdraw from the stuatyany time for any reason.

Even if our early stage clinical trials are sucégssve will need to conduct additional clinicalais with larger numbers of patients
receiving the drug for longer periods for all ofr quioduct candidates before we are able to seetoapis to market and sell these product
candidates from the FDA and regulatory authoritiesside the U.S. In addition, each of our prodactdidates is based on our
pharmacological chaperone technology. To date,re@at aware that any product based on chaperchadigy has been approved by the
FDA. As a result, while we have reached agreeméhttive FDA on the use of a surrogate primary enttpo our Phase 3 study for
migalastat HCI, we cannot be sure what endpoim$-A will require us to measure in later-stagaicél trials of our other product
candidates. If the FDA requires different endpothtan the endpoints we anticipate using, it maynbee difficult for us to obtain, or we may
be delayed in obtaining, FDA approval of our pradtandidates. If we are not successful in commkgzaig any of our lead product
candidates, or are significantly delayed in doiagaur business will be materially harmed.

We have limited experience in conducting and managg the preclinical development activities and clirgal trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the FDA

We have limited experience in conducting and margthie preclinical development activities and datitrials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the F¥e have not obtained regulatory approval nor cencralized any of our product
candidates. Although we recently completed enratinire our first Phase 3 study of migalastat HCI,vaee not yet completed a Phase 3
clinical trial for any of our product candidatesurdimited experience might prevent us from sucttdlysdesigning or implementing a clinical
trial. We have limited experience in conducting amghaging the application process necessary tanotetgulatory approvals and we might
not be able to demonstrate that our product catedaeet the appropriate standards for regulatgpyoaal. If we are not successful in
conducting and managing our preclinical developnaetivities or clinical trials or obtaining regutay approvals, we might not be able to
commercialize our lead product candidates, or mighsignificantly delayed in doing so, which wilaterially harm our business.

We may find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical trials.

Each of the diseases that our lead product cardidaie intended to treat is rare and we expectaaiibset of the patients with these
diseases to be eligible for our clinical trials. Vsay not be able to initiate or continue clinia#ls for each or all of our product candidates if
we are unable to locate a sufficient number ofilgiigpatients to participate in the clinical triaésjuired by the FDA or other non-U.S.
regulatory agencies. For example, the entry catfm our ongoing Phase 3 study in migalastat CHFabry disease to support approval in
the United States (Study 011) requires that patientst have a genetic mutation that we believespansive to migalastat HCI, and may not
have received ERT in the past or must have stopjpatment for at least six months prior to enrgllin the study. As a result, enrollment of
the study lasted for over two years.
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In addition, the requirements of our clinical tegtmandate that a patient cannot be involved inhemnalinical trial for the same
indication. We are aware that our competitors fangoing clinical trials for products that are cortifpee with our product candidates and
patients who would otherwise be eligible for ounicial trials may be involved in such testing, reridg them unavailable for testing of our
product candidates. Our inability to enroll a stiffnt number of patients for any of our currenfutare clinical trials would result in
significant delays or may require us to abandonarmaore clinical trials altogether.

If our preclinical studies do not produce positiveresults, if our clinical trials are delayed or if ®rious side effects are identified during
drug development, we may experience delays, incudditional costs and ultimately be unable to commeiialize our product
candidates.

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the sdleur product candidates, we must conduct, at @ur expense, extensive preclinical
tests to demonstrate the safety of our productidatek in animals, and clinical trials to demortstthe safety and efficacy of our product
candidates in humans. Preclinical and clinicaingss expensive, difficult to design and implemantl can take many years to complete. A
failure of one or more of our preclinical studigschnical trials can occur at any stage of testfe may experience numerous unforeseen
events during, or as a result of, preclinical testind the clinical trial process that could delaprevent our ability to obtain regulatory
approval or commercialize our product candidateduding:

e our preclinical tests or clinical trials may proéutegative or inconclusive results, and we maydge@r regulators may require
to conduct additional preclinical testing or cliali¢rials or we may abandon projects that we expmebt promising

« we may decide to amend existing protocols fc-going clinical trials;

* regulators or institutional review boards may natharize us to commence a clinical trial or conductinical trial at a prospective
trial site;

» conditions imposed on us by the FDA or any non-te§ulatory authority regarding the scope or desigour clinical trials may
require us to resubmit our clinical trial protoctdsinstitutional review boards for re-inspectiamedo changes in the regulatory
environment

» the number of patients required for our clinicalt may be larger than we anticipate or participamay drop out of our clinical
trials at a higher rate than we anticip:

» our third party contractors or clinical investigegonay fail to comply with regulatory requirementsail to meet their contractual
obligations to us in a timely manni

e we might have to suspend or terminate one or moaclinical trials if we, the regulators or thestitutional review boards
determine that the participants are being exposetacceptable health risl

» regulators or institutional review boards may reguihat we hold, suspend or terminate clinical aesefor various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulatory requirense

» the cost of our clinical trials may be greater thananticipate

« the supply or quality of our product candidatesthier materials necessary to conduct our clinigalst such as existing treatme
like ERT, may be insufficient or inadequate or waymot be able to reach agreements on acceptabie t@th prospective
clinical research organizatior

e acontinued shortage in the supply of ERT, whichr@gire to conduct Study 012 and may be requivefuture studies; an

» the effects of our product candidates may not bad#fsired effects or may include undesirable di@gets or the product
candidates may have other unexpected charactsr
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If we are required to conduct additional clinia@ls or other testing of our product candidategobpe those that we currently
contemplate, if we are unable to successfully cetepbur clinical trials or other testing, if thesuéts of these trials or tests are not positive or
are only modestly positive or if there are safaigaerns, we may:

» be delayed in obtaining, or may not be able toinbtaarketing approval for one or more of our pratdtandidates and milestone
payments from our collaboratol

» obtain approval for indications that are not asabras intended or entirely different than thosécetibns for which we sought
approval; ol

» have the product removed from the market afteriointg marketing approva

Our product development costs will also increaseefexperience delays in testing or approvals. Waat know whether any
preclinical tests or clinical trials will be initied as planned, will need to be restructured drbeilcompleted on schedule, if at all. Significant
preclinical or clinical trial delays also could stem the patent protection period during which wayrhave the exclusive right to
commercialize our product candidates. Such delay&lallow our competitors to bring products to kedrbefore we do and impair our abi
to commercialize our products or product candiddteaddition, GSK has significant influence on dwmnduct of our migalastat HCI progra
and could compel us to perform unanticipated céihidals of migalastat HCI or delay the approvaigess for a variety of reasons.

The commercial success of any product candidatesahwe may develop, includingnigalastat HC| will depend upon the degree of
market acceptance by physicians, patients, third péy payors and others in the medical community.

Any products that we bring to the market, includingalastat HCI, may not gain market acceptancphygicians, patients, third party
payors and others in the medical community. If ¢h@®ducts do not achieve an adequate level op&aoee, we may not generate significant
product revenue and we may not become profitalfie.degree of market acceptance of our product datedi, if approved for commercial
sale, will depend on a number of factors, including

« prevalence and severity of any side effects, inplydny limitations or warnings contained in a pro’'s approved labeling
» efficacy and potential advantages over alterndtiz@ments

* pricing;

» relative convenience and ease of administra

« willingness of the target patient population torigw therapies and of physicians to prescribe ttiesapies

» strength of marketing and distribution support, ebhin the case of migalastat HCI will be the resploitity of our collaborator,
GSK, and timing of market introduction of competiproducts

* publicity concerning our products or competing od and treatments; a
« sufficient third party insurance coverage or reinsement

Even if a product candidate displays a favorabiieaafy and safety profile in preclinical and clialdrials, market acceptance of the
product will not be known until after it is launaheDur efforts to educate the medical community taird party payors on the benefits of our
product candidates may require significant resaiec&l may never be successful. In the case of asigdlHCI, we will be relying in large
part on the efforts of our collaborator, GSK fockefforts. Such efforts to educate the marketpihaag require more resources than are
required by the conventional technologies marketedur competitors.

If we are unable to obtain adequate reimbursementrdm governments or third party payors for any products that we may develop or
if we are unable to obtain acceptable prices for thise products, our prospects for generating revenwsnd achieving profitability will
suffer.

Our prospects for generating revenue and achiguiofitability will depend heavily upon the availéity of adequate reimbursement for
the use of our approved product candidates froneigouental and other third party payors, both inUh®. and in other markets.
Reimbursement by a third party payor may depenah @gpoumber of factors, including the third party@as determination that use of a
product is:

» acovered benefit under its health pl
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» safe, effective and medically necess:
» appropriate for the specific patie

» cos-effective; anc

» neither experimental nor investigation

Obtaining reimbursement approval for a product fesaoh government or other third party payor isreettonsuming and costly process
that could require us to provide supporting scfentclinical and cost effectiveness data for tise of our products to each payor. We may not
be able to provide data sufficient to gain acceqamith respect to reimbursement or we might neembhduct postnarketing studies in ord
to demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of any fyttwducts to such payors’ satisfaction. Such studight require us to commit a significant
amount of management time and financial and oth&wurces. Even when a payor determines that a giresdeligible for reimbursement, the
payor may impose coverage limitations that preclagment for some uses that are approved by the &D¥wn-U.S. regulatory authorities.

In addition, there is a risk that full reimbursemsray not be available for high priced productsrétwer, eligibility for coverage does not
imply that any product will be reimbursed in alkea or at a rate that allows us to make a profitven cover our costs. Interim payments for
new products, if applicable, may also not be sigfitto cover our costs and may not be made pemalmethe case of migalastat HCI, we
will be reliant on GSK to seek reimbursement appl®¥rom governments and third-party payors.

A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare industry afsgwhere is toward cost containment. We expeetntechanges in the Medicare
program and increasing emphasis on managed caomtimue to put pressure on pharmaceutical proglicing. For example, the Medicare
Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization #ic2003 provides a new Medicare prescription dyegefit that began in 2006 and
mandates otheeforms. While we cannot predict the full outconfieh® implementation of this legislation, it is gdse that the new Medica
prescription drug benefit, which will be manageddoiwate health insurers and other managed caenaations, will result in additional
government reimbursement for prescription drugschvimay make some prescription drugs more affoelbbt may further exacerbate
industry wide pressure to reduce prescription gnices. If one or more of our product candidatesihes commercialization, such changes
may have a significant impact on our ability to @girice we believe is fair for our products and/raffect our ability to generate revenue and
achieve or maintain profitability.

Governments outside the U.S. tend to impose striprice controls and reimbursement approval policieswhich may adversely affect
our prospects for generating revenue.

In some countries, particularly European Union (Ebntries, the pricing of prescription pharmacgalti is subject to governmental
control. In these countries, pricing negotiationigwovernmental authorities can take considertibile (6 to 12 months or longer) after the
receipt of marketing approval for a product. Toadbtreimbursement or pricing approval in some coestwe may be required to conduct a
clinical trial that compares the cost effectivenesur product candidate to other available thimadf reimbursement of our products is
unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or itjprg is set at unsatisfactory levels, our prospéat generating revenue, if any, could be
adversely affected and our business may suffer.

If we are unable to establish sales and marketingapabilities or enter into agreements with third paties to market and sell our
product candidates, we may be unable to generate duct revenue.

At present, we have no sales or marketing persometder to commercialize any of our product ddates, we must either acquire or
internally develop sales, marketing and distributiapabilities, or enter into collaborations witirijpers to perform these services for us, as
we have done with GSK for the commercializatiommigalastat HCI. We may not be able to establisbessahd distribution partnerships for
other product candidates on acceptable termsail, @nd if we do enter into a distribution arramgent, our success will be dependent upon
the performance of our partner.

In the event that we attempt to acquire or develapown in-house sales, marketing and distributiapabilities, factors that may inhibit
our efforts to commercialize our products withawategic partners or licensees include:

» ourinability to recruit and retain adequate nursh#reffective sales and marketing person

» the inability of sales personnel to obtain access tsuccessfully market to adequate numbers afiptays to prescribe our
products;

» the lack of additional products to be marketed biysales personnel, which may put us at a compestitisadvantage against
companies with broader product lin
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« unforeseen costs associated with creating our aes sind marketing team or with entering into dnaing agreement with an
independent sales and marketing organization

» efforts by our competitors to commercialize produator about the time when our product candidaitedd be coming to marke

We may co-promote our product candidates in varmoagkets with pharmaceutical and biotechnology camgs in instances where we
believe that a larger sales and marketing preseilcexpand the market or accelerate penetratibwel do enter into arrangements with third
parties to perform sales and marketing servicespmduct revenues will be lower than if we dirgabld and marketed our products and any
revenues received under such arrangements willndiepe the skills and efforts of others.

We may not be successful in entering into distidyuarrangements and marketing alliances with thadies. Our failure to enter into
these arrangements on favorable terms could delagpair our ability to commercialize our produetnelidates and could increase our costs
of commercialization. Dependence on distributiomagements and marketing alliances to commercializgoroduct candidates will subject
us to a number of risks, including:

e we may not be able to control the amount and tinsifigesources that our distributors may devotdéodommercialization of our
product candidate:

» our distributors may experience financial diffi¢edt;

* Dbusiness combinations or significant changes iistailoutor’'s business strategy may also adversiéécha distributor’s
willingness or ability to complete its obligationader any arrangement; a

» these arrangements are often terminated or alléaegpire, which could interrupt the marketing aades of a product and
decrease our revent

If we are unable to establish adequate sales, niagkand distribution capabilities, whether indeghemtly or with third parties, we may
not be able to generate product revenue and mayenaime profitable.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause sito incur substantial liabilities and to limit commercialization of any products that
we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposrelated to the testing of our product candglatdhuman clinical trials and will fac
an even greater risk if we commercially sell angdarcts that are approved for sale. We may be exposgroduct liability claims and prodt
recalls, including those which may arise from méas malfunction of, or design flaws in, such prodyuwhether or not such problems
directly relate to the products and services weshmevided. If we cannot successfully defend owesehgainst claims that our product
candidates or products caused injuries, we williratbstantial liabilities. Regardless of meriegentual outcome, liability claims may result
in:

» decreased demand for any product candidates ougis)

» damage to our reputatio

» regulatory investigations, prosecutions or enforeenactions that could require costly recalls adpict modifications
» withdrawal of clinical trial participant:

» costs to defend the related litigatic

» substantial monetary awards to trial participamtpatients, including awards that substantiallyssdour product liability
insurance, which we would then be required to pasnfother sources, if available, and would damageability to obtain liability
insurance at reasonable costs, or at all, in thedt

* loss of revenue
» the diversion of managemss attention from managing our business;

« the inability to commercialize any such productdidates or product:
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We have liability insurance policies for our cliaidrials in the geographies in which we are comidgdrials. The amount of insurance
that we currently hold may not be adequate to calldiabilities that we may incur. Insurance caage is increasingly expensive. We may
be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reakopast and we may not be able to obtain insuraneerage that will be adequate to sal
any liability that may arise. On occasion, largégments have been awarded in class action lawsasesd on drugs that had unanticipated
effects. A successful product liability claim oseries of claims brought against us could causatogk price to fall and, if judgments exceed
our insurance coverage, could decrease our avaitaish and adversely affect our business.

We face substantial competition which may result irothers discovering, developing or commercializingroducts before or more
successfully than we do.

The development and commercialization of new disidsghly competitive and competition is expectednicrease. We face
competition with respect to our current productdidates and any products we may seek to develgpjracor commercialize in the future
from major pharmaceutical companies, specialty plaaeutical companies and biotechnology companiekiwie. For example, several
large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companie®itly market and sell products for the treatn@iysosomal storage diseases,
including Fabry disease. These products includefsamentis’ Fabrazyme& and Shire plc’s Replagaln adidition, sanofi aventis, Shire and
Actelion, Ltd. market and sell Cerezyre , VPRIV afaesc® |, respectively, for the treatment of Gaudisease, and sanofi aventis
markets and sells Myozynfe and Lumizyfne for thetineait of Pompe disease. We are also aware of etizyime replacement and
substrate reduction therapies in development byl fharties, including eliglustat tartrate, an drahtment developed by sanofi aventis and in
Phase 3 development for the treatment of Gauckende, and taliglucerase alfa, anew enzyme repétdherapy for the treatment of
Gaucher disease which is being developed by Pxd3ahTherapeutics.

Potential competitors also include academic institis, government agencies and other public andgiresearch organizations that
conduct research, seek patent protection and estafalllaborative arrangements for research, deweémt, manufacturing and
commercialization. Our competitors may develop paid that are more effective, safer, more convérietess costly than any that we are
developing or that would render our product can@isl@bsolete or noncompetitive. Our competitors aiay obtain FDA or other regulatory
approval for their products more rapidly than weyrobtain approval for ours. We may also face coitipatfrom off-label use of other
approved therapies. There can be no assurancéebhelbpments by others will not render our prodactdidates or any acquired products
obsolete or noncompetitive either during the redeahase or once the products reach commercializati

We believe that many competitors, including acaddnstitutions, government agencies, public andgie research organizations, la
pharmaceutical companies and smaller more focusexgbanies, are attempting to develop therapies forynof our target indications. Many
of our competitors have significantly greater fio@hresources and expertise in research and dawelot, manufacturing, preclinical testing,
conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatorypapvals, prosecuting intellectual property rightsl anarketing approved products than we do.
Smaller and other early stage companies may ats@p be significant competitors, particularlyahgh collaborative arrangements with
large and established companies. These third parimpete with us in recruiting and retaining diedi scientific and management person
establishing clinical trial sites and patient réigon for clinical trials, as well as in acquigitechnologies complementary to or necessary for
our programs or advantageous to our business.diti@d if we obtain regulatory approvals for oungucts, manufacturing efficiency and
marketing capabilities are likely to be significaoimpetitive factors. We currently have no comnaneianufacturing capability, sales force
or marketing infrastructure. Further, many of competitors have substantial resources and expéntisenducting collaborative
arrangements, sourcing in-licensing arrangemertsaaquiring new business lines or businesses tearaater than our own.

Our business activities involve the use of hazardeunaterials, which require compliance with environnental and occupational safety
laws regulating the use of such materials. If we @late these laws, we could be subject to significefines, liabilities or other adverse
consequences.

Our research and development programs involvedht&raled use of hazardous materials, includingrab@l agents, corrosive,
explosive and flammable chemicals and other haz@srdompounds in addition to certain biological mdeas waste. Ultimately, the activiti
of our third party product manufacturers when adpa candidate reaches commercialization will a¢squire the use of hazardous materials.
Accordingly, we are subject to federal, state awdl laws governing the use, handling and dispofstlese materials. Although we believe
that our safety procedures for handling and dispsf these materials comply in all material respedth the standards prescribed by local,
state and federal regulations, we cannot completétyinate the risk of accidental contaminationrpury from these materials. In addition,
our collaborators may not comply with these lawsthle event of an accident or failure to compljhva@hvironmental laws, we could be held
liable for damages that result, and any such ligtbuld exceed our assets and resources or wd bewsubject to limitations or stoppages
related to our use of these materials which may tean interruption of our business operationthose of our third party contractors. While
we believe that our existing insurance
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coverage is generally adequate for our normal leqdif these hazardous materials, it may not bicserfit to cover pollution conditions or
other extraordinary or unanticipated events. Funtioee, an accident could damage or force us todtwh our operations. Changes in
environmental laws may impose costly compliancairegqnents on us or otherwise subject us to futafkelities and additional laws relating

to the management, handling, generation, manufdiamsportation, storage, use and disposal afnmatst used in or generated by the
manufacture of our products or related to our céhirials. In addition, we cannot predict the effénat these potential requirements may have
on us, our suppliers and contractors or our custeme

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

Use of third parties to manufacture our product cardidates may increase the risk that we will not havsufficient quantities of our
product candidates or such quantities at an acceplde cost, and clinical development and commerciakigion of our product candidates
could be delayed, prevented or impaired.

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilitiesdlinical or commercial production of our prodeeindidates. We lack the resour
and the capabilities to manufacture any of our peb@andidates on a clinical or commercial scale.drently outsource all manufacturing
and packaging of our preclinical and clinical prodeandidates to third parties. The manufactunghairmaceutical products requires
significant expertise and capital investment, idahg the development of advanced manufacturingriigcies and process controls.
Manufacturers of pharmaceutical products often entar difficulties in production, particularly ircaling up initial production. These
problems include difficulties with production costsd yields and quality control, including stalilitf the product candidate. The occurrence
of any of these problems could significantly deday clinical trials or the commercial availabilié§ our products.

We do not currently have any agreements with théndy manufacturers for the long-term commerciglpdy of any of our product
candidates. We may be unable to enter into agretsnimmcommercial supply with third party manufaets, or may be unable to do so on
acceptable terms. Even if we enter into these aggats, the manufacturers of each product candwiditbe single source suppliers to us ft
significant period of time.

Reliance on third party manufacturers’ entailsgjgk which we would not be subject if we manufestuproduct candidates or products
ourselves, including:

» reliance on the third party for regulatory comptiarand quality assuranc
» limitations on supply availability resulting fronapgacity and scheduling constraints of the thirdipsy

* impact on our reputation in the marketplace if nfaoturers of our products, once commercialized téameet the demands of our
customers

» the possible breach of the manufacturing agreeimettie third party because of factors beyond outrod; and

» the possible termination or non-renewal of the agrent by the third party, based on its own busipessities, at a time that is
costly or inconvenient for u

The failure of any of our contract manufacturersn@intain high manufacturing standards could rasuhjury or death of clinical trial
participants or patients using products. Such ffaittould also result in product liability claimspguct recalls, product seizures or
withdrawals, delays or failures in testing or deliy, cost overruns or other problems that coul@basly harm our business or profitability.

Our contract manufacturers are required to adlveF®®A regulations setting forth cGMP. These redafet cover all aspects of the
manufacturing, testing, quality control and rec@ejiing relating to our product candidates and aogiyrts that we may commercialize. Our
manufacturers may not be able to comply with cGigutations or similar regulatory requirements aléghe U.S. Our failure, or the failure
of our third party manufacturers, to comply wittphpable regulations could significantly and adetysaffect regulatory approval and
supplies of our product candidates.

Our product candidates and any products that wedeaglop or acquire may compete with other prodaodidates and products for
access to manufacturing facilities. There are #&didhnumber of manufacturers that operate under B@dgulations and that are both capable
of manufacturing for us and willing to do so. I&tthird parties that we engage to manufacture mtsdor our preclinical tests and clinical
trials should cease to continue to do so for aagog, we likely would experience delays in advagtirese trials while we identify and
qualify replacement suppliers and we may be un@bdibtain replacement supplies on terms that a@rddole to us. Later relocation to
another manufacturer will also require notificatiogview and other regulatory approvals from theARihd other regulators and will subject
our production to further cost and instability iretavailability of our product candidates. In aibdif if we are not able to obtain adequate
supplies of our product candidates or the drugtsmeges used to manufacture them, it will be moifecdlit for us to develop our product
candidates and compete effectively.
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Our current and anticipated future dependence oftwers for the manufacture of our product candilatay adversely affect our future
profit margins and our ability to develop produahdidates and commercialize any products that mbégjulatory approval on a timely and
competitive basis.

Materials necessary to manufacture our product canidlates may not be available on commercially reasobé terms, or at all, which
may delay the development and commercialization afur product candidates.

We rely on the manufacturers of our product cartdglto purchase from third party suppliers the netenecessary to produce the
compounds for our preclinical and clinical studiesl will rely on these other manufacturers for caraial distribution if we obtain
marketing approval for any of our product candidaguppliers may not sell these materials to outufeturers at the time we need them or
on commercially reasonable terms and all such prace susceptible to fluctuations in price andlabdity due to transportation costs,
government regulations, price controls and chairgesonomic climate or other foreseen circumstandgsdo not have any control over the
process or timing of the acquisition of these niakeby our manufacturers. Moreover, we currentdyndt have any agreements for the
commercial production of these materials. If ounofacturers are unable to obtain these materialsiopreclinical and clinical studies,
product testing and potential regulatory appro¥alwr product candidates would be delayed, sigaiftty impacting our ability to develop o
product candidates. If our manufacturers or weuable to purchase these materials after regulajmpyoval has been obtained for our
product candidates, the commercial launch of oadpet candidates would be delayed or there would $fgortage in supply, which would
materially affect our ability to generate reventresn the sale of our product candidates.

We rely on third parties to conduct certain preclinical development activities and our clinical trialsand those third parties may not
perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet established deadlines for the completion of such awtties and trials.

We do not independently conduct clinical trials dor product candidates or certain preclinical dtgwment activities of our product
candidates, such as long-term safety studies malsi We rely on, or work in conjunction with, tthiparties, such as contract research
organizations, medical institutions and clinicalastigators, to perform these functions. For examnpk rely heavily on a contract research
organization to help us conduct our ongoing PhadRal trials in migalastat HCI for the treatntexf Fabry disease. Our reliance on these
third parties for preclinical and clinical developnt activities reduces our control over these didss We are responsible for ensuring that
each of our preclinical development activities and clinical trials is conducted in accordance with applicable general investigational plan
and protocols, however, we have no direct contvel these researchers or contractors (except kyamt)) as they are not our employees.
Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with staddacommonly referred to as Good Clinical Prastiime conducting, recording and
reporting the results of our preclinical developteetivities and our clinical trials to assure tbata and reported results are credible and
accurate and that the rights, safety and confidgtytiof trial participants are protected. Our aglce on third parties that we do not control
does not relieve us of these responsibilities aadirements. Furthermore, these third parties nsyteave relationships with other entities,
some of which may be our competitors. If thesedtparties do not successfully carry out their cacttral duties, meet expected deadlines or
conduct our preclinical development activities ar olinical trials in accordance with regulatorgiuirements or our stated protocols, we will
not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in ohbtginiegulatory approvals for our product candidatesd will not be able to, or may be
delayed in our efforts to, successfully commerzalur product candidates. Moreover, these thiriggamay be bought by other entities or
they may go out of business, thereby preventinmtirem meeting their contractual obligations.

We also rely on other third parties to store arstrittiute drug supplies for our preclinical devel@urmactivities and our clinical trials.
Any performance failure on the part of our existorguture distributors could delay clinical devefoent or regulatory approval of our
product candidates or commercialization of our patsl, producing additional losses and deprivingfysotential product revenue.

Extensions, delays, suspensions or terminatiolnsiopreclinical development activities or our diial trials as a result of the
performance of our independent clinical investigaind contract research organizations will dedagl make more costly, regulatory
approval for any product candidates that we maelbgv Any change in a contract research organizatioging an ongoing preclinical
development activity or clinical trial could ser&y delay that trial and potentially compromise thsults of the activity or trial.
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We may not be successful in maintaining or estabhéng collaborations, which could adversely affectar ability to develop and,
particularly in international markets, commercialize products.

For each of our product candidates, we are colibar with physicians, patient advocacy groupsnttations and government agencies
in order to assist with the development of our pistd. We plan to pursue similar activities in fetgprograms and plan to evaluate the merits
of retaining commercialization rights for ourselwsntering into selective collaboration arrangetsevith leading pharmaceutical or
biotechnology companies, such as our collabordtomigalastat HCIl with GSK. We also may seek t@ablsh collaborations for the sales,
marketing and distribution of our products. If weat to seek collaborators in the future but arelleto reach agreements with suitable
collaborators, we may fail to meet our businesgctbjes for the affected product or program. Wefand will continue to face, significant
competition in seeking appropriate collaboratorsrébver, collaboration arrangements are complextiamelconsuming to negotiate,
document and implement. We may not be successtulirefforts, if any, to establish and implemeritatzorations or other alternative
arrangements. The terms of any collaboration ceraihrangements that we establish, if any, maypadavorable to us.

Any collaboration that we enter into may not becassful. The success of our collaboration arrangésné any, will depend heavily ¢
the efforts and activities of our collaboratorssitikely that any collaborators of ours will hasignificant discretion in determining the efforts
and resources that they will apply to these collations. The risks that we may be subject to irsiinbs future collaborations include the
following:

e our collaboration agreements are likely to be foed terms and subject to termination by our caltalors;

» our collaborators are likely to have the first tigh maintain or defend our intellectual propeights and, although we would
likely have the right to assume the maintenancedafiense of our intellectual property rights if @atlaborators do not, our abili
to do so may be compromised by our collabor’ acts or omissions; ar

» our collaborators may utilize our intellectual peoty rights in such a way as to invite litigatidrat could jeopardize or invalidate
our intellectual property rights or expose us tteptial liability.

Collaborations with pharmaceutical companies aherithird parties often are terminated or alloneéxpire by the other party. Such
terminations or expirations may adversely affectinsncially and could harm our business reputatiothe event we elect to pursue
collaborations that ultimately expire or are teratéd.

Our collaboration with GSK is important to our business. If this collaboration is unsuccessful or if 6K terminates this collaboration,
our business could be adversely affected.

We expect that a substantial amount of the funtbngur operations will come from our collaboratiwith GSK. We and GSK are
jointly developing migalastat HCI and sharing castsociated with the development program in acomelavith an agreed upon developm
plan. Under the plan, we are responsible for 2596iaf development costs of migalastat HCl in 2@h2 beyond, subject to annual and
aggregate caps. We are also eligible to receivie $1.73.5 million if certain clinical, regulatoryd sales milestones are met, as well as tiered
double-digit royalties on sales of migalastat HQWr business plan and financial guidance currentlude assumptions regarding GSK'’s
cost-sharing obligations and our achievement oéshines. However, GSK may elect to terminate thliafeoration at its discretion. If this
collaboration is unsuccessful, or if it is termidin whole or in part, our business could be ashigraffected. As a result, we could require
additional financing earlier than we currently esth@r need to take additional steps to managérthacial risk associated with such
termination, including actions that may affect othier programs.

In addition, while we are collaborating with GSK e development of migalastat HCI, GSK has degisiaking authority with respe
to clinical development, regulatory and commerzation matters. The collaboration provides GSK withlusive worldwide
commercialization rights to migalastat HCI, and #erefore, are solely reliant on GSK for the corruiadization of the product candidate.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain protectionfor the intellectual property relating to our technology and products, the value of
our technology and product candidates will be advesely affected.

Our success will depend in large part on our ghititobtain and maintain protection in the U.S. atiter countries for the intellectual
property covering or incorporated into our techggland product candidates. The patent situatigherfield of biotechnology and
pharmaceuticals generally is highly uncertain anablives complex legal, technical, scientific andtfal questions. We may not be able to
obtain additional issued patents relating to oant@logy or product candidates. Even if issuedeqatissued to us or our licensors may be
challenged, narrowed, invalidated, held to be umreefable or circumvented, which could limit ourlipito stop competitors from marketing
similar products or reduce the term of patent mtixte we may have for our product candidates. Chariig either patent laws or in
interpretations of patent laws in the U.S. and oteeintries may diminish the value of our inteliedtproperty or narrow the scope of our
patent protection.
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The degree of future protection for our proprietagts is uncertain, and we cannot ensure that:
» we or our licensors were the first to make the imians covered by each of our pending patent apijitios;
» we or our licensors were the first to file patepplécations for these invention
» others will not independently develop similar deahative technologies or duplicate any of our texdbgies;

e any patents issued to us or our licensors will gl®a basis for commercially viable products, wilbvide us with any competitive
advantages or will not be challenged by third ear

» we will develop additional proprietary technologthat are patentabl

» we will file patent applications for new proprietaechnologies promptly or at a

» our patents will not expire prior to or shortly@aftommencing commercialization of a product
» the patents of others will not have a negativeotfd® our ability to do busines

In addition, we cannot be assured that any of eadmg patent applications will result in issuetepés. In particular, we have filed
patent applications in the European Patent Officea@ther countries outside the U.S. that have aehlissued as patents. These pending
applications include, among others, the patentiegipdns we license pursuant to a license agreemimtvount Sinai School of Medicine of
New York University. If patents are not issuedespect of our pending patent applications, we nudypa able to stop competitors frc
marketing similar products in Europe and other ¢des in which we do not have issued patents.

The patents and patent applications that we haeadied from Mt. Sinai School of Medicine relatingise of migalastat HCI to treat
Fabry disease expire in 2018 in the U.S., 2019urofe and Japan and 2019 in Canada. These pateetsng migalastat HCI to treat Fabry
disease have been sublicensed by us to GSK, whietcantrols the prosecution and enforcement of patdnts and patent applications to
extent they relate to migalastat HCI. Patentswieahave licensed claiming afegostat tartrate (thieechemical moiety in afegostat tartrate)
expire between 2015 and 2016 in the U.S. and ib 201the UK, France, Sweden, Germany, SwitzerlarlJapan. In the U.S., we have
several issued patents that were licensed frorMth&inai School of Medicine covering afegostatrite’s methods of use which expire in
2018. We own a U.S. patent and its correspondingjdo applications covering afegostat tartrate isdse to treat Gaucher disease, which
expires in 2027. Other than the patent applicatimrering afegostat tartrate and its use to treacBer disease, we currently have no pending
or issued patents covering methods of using afagtatrate outside of the U.S. other than the penadpplications covering the use of
afegostat tartrate in combination with ERT to tr@aucher disease. Patents and patent applicatiahs/& own or have licensed relating to
use of AT2220 expire in 2018 in the U.S. (not imthg the Hatch-Waxman statutory extension, whiafleiscribed above). Further, we
currently do not have composition of matter pratecfor AT2220 in the U.S. or either compositionnoéitter or method of use protection
outside of the U.S. Where we lack patent proteatigiside of the U.S., we intend to seek orphan oireali product designation and to rely on
statutory data exclusivity provisions in jurisd@is outside the U.S. where such protections ariéable, including Europe. If we are unable
obtain such protection outside the U.S., our coitggstmay be free to use and sell afegostat tarttatl/or AT2220 outside of the U.S. and
there will be no liability for infringement or arother barrier to competition. The patent rights the own or have licensed relating to our
product candidates are limited in ways that magcafbur ability to exclude third parties from cortipg against us if we obtain regulatory
approval to market these product candidates. Iticpdar:

* We do not hold composition of matter patents caxgemigalastat HCl and AT2220. Composition of matatents can provide
protection for pharmaceutical products to the extieat the specifically covered compositions arpantant. For our product
candidates for which we do not hold compositiomattter patents, competitors who obtain the requigigulatory approval can
offer products with the same composition as oudpets so long as the competitors do not infringerapthod of use patents that
we may hold

» For some of our product candidates, the principsit protection that covers or those we expedtoailer, our product candidate
is a method of use patent. This type of patent pniyects the product when used or sold for theiipd method. However, this
type of patent does not limit a competitor from ingkand marketing a product that is identical to poduct that is labeled for an
indication that is outside of the patented metlwwdor which there is a substantial use in commergside the patented metht

33



Moreover, physicians may prescribe such a competitientical product for indications other than ¢time for which the product has
been approved, or off-label indications, that areeced by the applicable patents. Although sucHadifél prescriptions may infringe or indu
infringement of method of use patents, the praéi@mmmon and such infringement is difficult t@pent or prosecute.

Our patents also may not afford us protection ajaiompetitors with similar technology. Because=paapplications in the U.S. and
many other jurisdictions are typically not publighentil 18 months after filing, or in some casesatall, and because publications of
discoveries in the scientific literature often laghind the actual discoveries, neither we nor isenkors can be certain that we or they were
the first to make the inventions claimed in outhair issued patents or pending patent applicationthat we or they were the first to file for
protection of the inventions set forth in theseepaipplications. If a third party has also filed.&. patent application covering our product
candidates or a similar invention, we may haveadigipate in an adversarial proceeding, knownremgerference, declared by the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office to determine priorftingention in the U.S. The costs of these procegslicould be substantial and it is poss
that our efforts could be unsuccessful, resulting loss of our U.S. patent position.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in our intellectual property licenses with third parties, wecould lose license rights that are
important to our business.

We are a party to a number of license agreemedlisdimg agreements with the Mount Sinai School &d\dine of New York
University, the University of Maryland, BaltimoreoGnty and Novo Nordisk A/S, pursuant to which veetise key intellectual property
relating to our lead product candidates. We exfmeenter into additional licenses in the futuredenour existing licenses, we have the right
to enforce the licensed patent rights. Our exidlitenses impose, and we expect that future licenskimpose, various diligence, milestone
payment, royalty, insurance and other obligatiomsi®. If we fail to comply with these obligatiorise licensor may have the right to termit
the license, in which event we might not be ablm#oket any product that is covered by the licenmsdnts.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality ofour proprietary information and know-how, the value of our technology and products
could be adversely affected.

We seek to protect our know-how and confidentitdrimation, in part, by confidentiality agreementishiour employees, corporate
partners, outside scientific collaborators, spoadaesearchers, consultants and other advisorals@dnave confidentiality and invention or
patent assignment agreements with our employeeswanebnsultants. If our employees or consultarggath these agreements, we may not
have adequate remedies for any of these breachaddltion, our trade secrets may otherwise bedam®n to or be independently
developed by others. Enforcing a claim that a pélegally obtained and is using our trade secigtifficult, expensive and time consuming,
and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, tooutside the U.S. may be less willing to protestie secrets. Costly and time consuming
litigation could be necessary to seek to enforakdeiermine the scope of our proprietary rights, faflure to obtain or maintain trade secret
protection could adversely affect our competitivsibess position.

If we infringe or are alleged to infringe the intelectual property rights of third parties, it will a dversely affect our business.

Our research, development and commercializationites, as well as any product candidates or petgltesulting from these activities,
may infringe or be accused of infringing one or enciaims of an issued patent or may fall within shepe of one or more claims in a
published patent application that may subsequésglye and to which we do not hold a license orratigats. Third parties may own or
control these patents or patent applications inllfg& and abroad. These third parties could briagns against us that would cause us to i
substantial expenses and, if successful againsbu$] cause us to pay substantial damages. Fuitlagpatent infringement suit were brou
against us, we or they could be forced to stopetaydresearch, development, manufacturing or sdléee product or product candidate the
the subject of the suit.

No assurance can be given that patents do not baigt not been filed, or could not be filed oues, which contain claims covering
our product candidates technology or methods. Beratithe number of patents issued and patentcapipins filed in our field, we believe
there is a risk that third parties may allege thaye patent rights encompassing our product caredidachnology or methods.

We are aware, for example, of U.S. patents, anasponding international counterparts, owned hbytparties that contain claims
related to treating protein misfolding. If any bEte patents were to be asserted against us,witi® not believe that our product candidates
would be found to infringe any valid claim of sygéitents, there is no assurance that a court winddrf our favor or that, if we choose or.
required to seek a license with respect to sucbnpgtsuch license would be available to us onmabke terms or at all. If we were to
challenge the validity of any issued U.S. paterddart, we would need to overcome a presumptiorabdlity that attaches to every patent.
This burden is high and would require us to prestsar and convincing evidence as to the invaliditthe patent’s claims. There is no
assurance that a court would find in our favormdrningement or validity.
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In order to avoid or settle potential claims wiéispect to any of the patent rights described aboamy other patent rights of third
parties, we may choose or be required to seeleadiefrom a third party and be required to payhbegfees or royalties or both. These lice
may not be available on acceptable terms, or aEaén if we or our collaborators were able to obtalicense, the rights may be
nonexclusive, which could result in our competitgaining access to the same intellectual propettynately, we could be prevented from
commercializing a product, or be forced to ceaseesaspect of our business operations, if, as & i@sactual or threatened patent
infringement claims, we are unable to enter interises on acceptable terms. This could harm oimdssssignificantly.

Others may sue us for infringing their patent dveotintellectual property rights or file nullitypposition or interference proceedings
against our patents, even if such claims are withmarit, which would similarly harm our businessirfhermore, during the course of
litigation, confidential information may be discéabin the form of documents or testimony in conioectvith discovery requests, depositions
or trial testimony. Disclosure of our confidentialormation and our involvement in intellectual pesty litigation could materially adversely
affect our business.

There has been substantial litigation and othecqedings regarding patent and other intellectugbgnty rights in the pharmaceutical
and biotechnology industries. In addition to infrlgment claims against us, we may become a padth&r patent litigation and other
proceedings, including interference proceedingsated by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office gombsition proceedings in the European
Patent Office, regarding intellectual property t&tvith respect to our products and technology nbfr/eve prevail, the cost to us of any pat
litigation or other proceeding could be substantial

Some of our competitors may be able to sustairtisés of complex patent litigation more effectivéign we can because they have
substantially greater resources. In addition, amgettainties resulting from any litigation couldsificantly limit our ability to continue our
operations. Patent litigation and other proceedimgg also absorb significant management time.

Many of our employees were previously employednatersities or other biotechnology or pharmacelticanpanies, including our
competitors or potential competitors. We try toleeshat our employees do not use the proprietdoyration or knowkow of others in the
work for us. However, we may be subject to claihet tve or these employees have inadvertently @ratbe used or disclosed intellectual
property, trade secrets or other proprietary inftion of any such employesformer employer. Litigation may be necessaryefedd agains
these claims and, even if we are successful imdéig ourselves, could result in substantial ctstss or be distracting to our managemer
we fail to defend any such claims, in addition &yipg monetary damages, we may jeopardize valuatdibectual property rights, disclose
confidential information or lose personnel.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our ProductCandidates

If we are not able to obtain and maintain requiredregulatory approvals, we will not be able to commagialize our product candidates,
and our ability to generate revenue will be materifly impaired.

Our product candidates, including migalastat HGH the activities associated with their developnaart commercialization, including
their testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, re&eeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertigmmgmotion, sale and distribution, are subject
to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and othgulaory agencies in the U.S. and by comparableagities in other countries. Failure to
obtain regulatory approval for a product candideiteprevent us from commercializing the produchdalate in the jurisdiction of the
regulatory authority. We have not obtained reguiaspproval to market any of our product candid@ieany jurisdiction. We have only
limited experience in filing and prosecuting the@ligations necessary to obtain regulatory approaatsexpect to rely on third party contract
research organizations to assist us in this proteske case of migalastat HCI, GSK will have mmnresponsibility for the preparation, fili
and prosecution of applications for approval wigulatory agencies.

Securing FDA approval requires the submission téresive preclinical and clinical data and suppagrtirformation to the FDA for eac
therapeutic indication to establish the productiadate’s safety and efficacy. Securing FDA appralab requires the submission of
information about the product manufacturing prodesand inspection of manufacturing facilities thye FDA. Our future products may not
be effective, may be only moderately effective @ymprove to have undesirable or unintended sidectsff toxicities or other characteristics
that may preclude our obtaining regulatory appravgrevent or limit commercial use.

Our product candidates may fail to obtain regulatgproval for many reasons, including:

« our failure to demonstrate to the satisfactiorhef EDA or comparable regulatory authorities thata@uct candidate is safe and
effective for a particular indicatiol

» the results of clinical trials may not meet thedleof statistical significance required by the FDAcomparable regulatory
authorities for approva

* ourinability to demonstrate that a product can#’s benefits outweigh its risk
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« ourinability to demonstrate that the product cdath is at least as effective as existing thera

» the FDA'’s or comparable regulatory authorities’adjseement with the manner in which we interpretdda from preclinical
studies or clinical trials

» the FDA’s or comparable regulatory authoritiesleg to approve the manufacturing processes, guaidcedures or
manufacturing facilities of third party manufactigrevith which we contract for clinical or commeldaipplies; ant

» achange in the approval policies or regulationdhefFDA or comparable regulatory authorities shange in the laws governing
the approval proces

The process of obtaining regulatory approvals geasive, often takes many years, if approval isiokt at all, and can vary
substantially based upon a variety of factors uditlg the type, complexity and novelty of the preideandidates involved. Changes in
regulatory approval policies during the developnmariod, changes in or the enactment of additistetlites or regulations, or changes in
regulatory review for each submitted product agblan may cause delays in the approval or rejeafan application. The FDA and non-
U.S. regulatory authorities have substantial dismnein the approval process and may refuse top@®y application or may decide that our
data is insufficient for approval and require aidaial preclinical, clinical or other studies. Inditbn, varying interpretations of the data
obtained from preclinical and clinical testing adbdlelay, limit or prevent regulatory approval gfraduct candidate. Any regulatory approval
we ultimately obtain may be limited or subject éstrictions or post approval commitments that retige approved product not commerciz
viable. Any FDA or other regulatory approval of qaroduct candidates, once obtained, may be withdrawluding for failure to comply
with regulatory requirements or if clinical or mdacturing problems follow initial marketing. Undire terms of our collaboration with GSK,
GSK will have considerable influence and decisiaking authority over matters relating to the sutzmis of an NDA for migalastat HCI in
the U.S. and applications for approval outsideUt®. GSK will also have primary responsibility fateractions with the FDA and other
regulatory agencies outside the U.S. We, therefoeeheavily reliant on GSK for the prosecutiorsoth applications.

Our product candidates may cause undesirable siddfects or have other properties that could delay oprevent their regulatory
approval or commercialization.

Undesirable side effects caused by our productidates could interrupt, delay or halt clinical lsiand could result in the denial of
regulatory approval by the FDA or other regulatanghorities for any or all targeted indicationsd @mturn prevent us from commercializing
our product candidates and generating revenuestfiemsale. In addition, if any of our product datates receive marketing approval anc
or others later identify undesirable side effeetgsed by the product:

* regulatory authorities may require the additiomesftrictive labeling statemen
* regulatory authorities may withdraw their approefithe product; an
e we may be required to change the way the prodwdnsinistered or conduct additional clinical tri

Any of these events could prevent us from achiewvinmaintaining market acceptance of the affectedyrct or could substantially
increase the costs and expenses of commerciatiaengroduct candidate, which in turn could delapmvent us from generating significant
revenues from its sale or adversely affect our tamn.

We may not be able to obtain orphan drug exclusiwt for our product candidates. If our competitors are able to obtain orphan drug
exclusivity for their products that are the same dug as our product candidates, we may not be able ttave competing products
approved by the applicable regulatory authority for a significant period of time.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, imthg the U.S. and Europe, may designate drugsefatively small patient populations
as orphan drugs. We obtained orphan drug desigrsafiom the FDA for migalastat HCI for the treatrhehFabry disease on February 25,
2004, for the active ingredient in afegostat taetfar the treatment of Gaucher disease on Jarigrg006 and for AT2220 for the treatment
of Pompe disease on June 18, 2007. We also obtampédn medicinal product designation in the EUnfidgalastat HCI on May 22, 2006and
for afegostat tartrate on October 23, 2007. Wecgn#tie filing for orphan drug designation in the Eld AT2220 for the treatment of Pompe
disease. Generally, if a product with an orphamgydiesignation subsequently receives the first nteadx@pproval for the indication for which
it has such designation, the product is entitled peeriod of marketing exclusivity, which precludie applicable regulatory authority from
approving another marketing application for the sairug for that time period. The applicable pei®d years in the U.S. and 10 years in
Europe. For a drug composed of small moleculesi-bv defines “same drug” as a drug that contaiesséime active molecule and is
intended for the same use. Obtaining orphan dratusivity for
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migalastat HCI| and afegostat tartrate may be inapdito each of the product candidate’s success Ewvee obtain orphan drug exclusivity
for our products, we may not be able to maintaifdr example, if a competitive product that is $hene drug as our product candidate is
shown to be clinically superior to our product cidiate, any orphan drug exclusivity we have obtawéidnot block the approval of such
competitive product and we may effectively lose tied previously been orphan drug exclusivity.

Any product for which we obtain marketing approval could be subject to restrictions or withdrawal fromthe market and we may be
subject to penalties if we fail to comply with reglatory requirements or if we experience unanticipaéd problems with our products,
when and if any of them are approved.

Any product for which we obtain marketing approwabng with the manufacturing processes, post aginical data, labeling,
advertising and promotional activities for suchdaret, will be subject to continual requirementsnél review by the FDA and comparable
regulatory authorities. These requirements inclidemissions of safety and other post marketingin&ion and reports, registration
requirements, cGMP requirements relating to qualitytrol, quality assurance and corresponding reaarice of records and documents,
requirements regarding the distribution of sampdgshysicians and recordkeeping. Even if we obtagulatory approval of a product, the
approval may be subject to limitations on the iatéd uses for which the product may be marketed thre conditions of approval, or contain
requirements for costly post marketing testing sundeillance to monitor the safety or efficacy lo¢ fproduct. We also may be subject to state
laws and registration requirements covering th&itigion of our products. Later discovery of prewsly unknown problems with our
products, manufacturers or manufacturing processdajlure to comply with regulatory requirementgy result in actions such as:

e restrictions on such products, manufacturers orufgturing processe

e warning letters

» withdrawal of the products from the mark

» refusal to approve pending applications or supplesmt® approved applications that we subi
e voluntary or mandatory reca

+ fines;

» suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvalsefusal to approve pending applications or supplasito approved
applications that we subm

» refusal to permit the import or export of our protiy

e product seizure or detentior

» injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimingkenalties; an
e adverse publicity

If we, or our suppliers, third party contractornical investigators or collaborators are slovattapt, or are unable to adapt, to changes
in existing regulatory requirements or adoptiomeiv regulatory requirements or policies, we or@altaborators may lose marketing
approval for our products when and if any of themapproved, resulting in decreased revenue froesiones, product sales or royalties.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in international jurisdictions would prevent us from marketing aur products abroad.

We intend to have our products marketed outsidéJtiSe In order to market our products in the EU arahy other jurisdictions, we
must obtain separate regulatory approvals and gomitth numerous and varying regulatory requiremente approval procedures vary
among countries and can involve additional testind clinical trials. The time required to obtairpegval may differ from that required to
obtain FDA approval. The regulatory approval preoastside the U.S. may include all of the risk®aisded with obtaining FDA approval.
addition, in many countries outside the U.S., reiguired that the product be approved for reimément by government-backed healthcare
regulators or insurance providers before the prodaic be approved for sale in that country. We n@tyobtain approvals from regulatory
authorities outside the U.S. on a timely basiat &ll. Approval by the FDA does not ensure apprbyaegulatory authorities in other
countries or jurisdictions, and approval by oneutatpry authority outside
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the U.S. does not ensure approval by regulatofyaaities in other countries or jurisdictions orttwe FDA. We may not be able to file for
regulatory approvals and may not receive necesgapyovals to commercialize our products in any reardnder the terms of our
collaboration with GSK, GSK will have considerabifluence and decision making authority over mattetating to the submission of
applications for approval of migalastat HCI outside U.S. GSK will also have primary responsibifily interactions with regulatory agenc
outside the U.S. We, therefore, are heavily relanGSK for the prosecution of such applications.

Risks Related to Employee Matters

Our future success depends on our ability to retaiour Chief Executive Officer and other key executies and to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on John F. Crowley, ouri@taan and Chief Executive Officer, Bradley L. Carefpbour Chief Business
Officer, David J. Lockhart, Ph.D., our Chief SciéntOfficer and Pol F. Boudes, M.D., our Chief Medl Officer. These executives each
have significant pharmaceutical industry experieie Crowley is a commissioned officer in the UN&avy (Reserve), and he may be called
to active duty service at any time. The loss of ®iowley for protracted military duty could matdiyaadversely affect our business. The loss
of the services of any of these executives miglpeide the achievement of our research, development@nmercialization objectives and
materially adversely affect our business. We domaintain “key person” insurance on Mr. Crowleyoarany of our other executive officers.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, ¢tial and sales and marketing personnel will alsoriigal to our success. In addition,
maintaining a qualified finance and legal departhig@key to our ability to meet our regulatory gfations as a public company and important
in any potential capital raising activities. Oudirstry has experienced a high rate of turnoveedemnt years. We may not be able to attrac!
retain these personnel on acceptable terms giweodmpetition among numerous pharmaceutical artddsioology companies for similar
personnel, particularly in New Jersey and surrougdireas. Although we believe we offer competiigkaries and benefits, we may have to
increase spending in order to retain personnglelfail to retain our remaining qualified personaeteplace them when they leave, we may
be unable to continue our development and comnizaii@n activities.

In addition, we rely on consultants and advisarsluding scientific and clinical advisors, to assis in formulating our research and
development and commercialization strategy. Ousultiants and advisors may be employed by emplatbes than us and may have
commitments under consulting or advisory contradth other entities that may limit their availabjlito us.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our executive officers, directors and principal stekholders maintain the ability to control all matters submitted to our stockholders
for approval.

Our executive officers, directors and affiliatedcktholders beneficially own shares representing@pmately 61% of our common
stock as of December 31, 2011. As a result, ifatstsckholders were to choose to act together,wheyd be able to control all matters
submitted to our stockholders for approval, as aelbur management and affairs. For example, thersens, if they choose to act together,
will control the election of directors and approeflany merger, consolidation, sale of all or sahsally all of our assets or other business
combination or reorganization. This concentratibmaiing power could delay or prevent an acquisitid us on terms that other stockholders
may desire. The interests of this group of stoatteid may not always coincide with the intereststbér stockholders, and they may act,
whether by meeting or written consent of stockhadm a manner that advances their best inteagstsiot necessarily those of other
stockholders, including obtaining a premium valoetheir common stock, and might affect the premgimarket price for our common stor

Provisions in our corporate charter documents and nder Delaware law could make an acquisition of usyhich may be beneficial to
our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent atempts by our stockholders to replace or remove oucurrent management.

Provisions in our corporate charter and our bylevay discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acguisitr other change in control of
that stockholders may consider favorable, includiagsactions in which our stockholders might othise receive a
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premium for their shares. These provisions cowd &mit the price that investors might be willitgpay in the future for shares of our
common stock, thereby depressing the market pfioerocommon stock. In addition, these provisioreyrfrustrate or prevent any attempts
by our stockholders to replace or remove our canmamagement by making it more difficult for stookders to replace members of our bc
of directors. Because our board of directors ipoasible for appointing the members of our manageream, these provisions could in turn
affect any attempt by our stockholders to replagesnt members of our management team. Among ottiese provisions:

» establish a classified board of directors, and sesult, not all directors are elected at one;t
» allow the authorized number of our directors tachbanged only by resolution of our board of direst
* limit the manner in which stockholders can remowedlors from our board of directol

» establish advance notice requirements for stocldngicoposals that can be acted on at stockholdetimygs and nominations to
our board of directors

e require that stockholder actions must be effectedduly called stockholder meeting and prohibitaas by our stockholders by
written consent

» limit who may call stockholder meeting

» authorize our board of directors to issue prefestedk, without stockholder approval, which coutdused to institute a “poison
pill” that would work to dilute the stock ownershgp a potential hostile acquirer, effectively pretiag acquisitions that have not
been approved by our board of directors;

* require the approval of the holders of at least @f%he outstanding voting stock to amend or repedhin provisions of our
charter or bylaws

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delawegegre governed by the provisions of Section 20B@Delaware General
Corporation Law, which prohibits a person who ownsxcess of 15% of our outstanding voting stockrfirmerging or combining with us for
a period of three years after the date of the &etitsn in which the person acquired in excess &b b5 our outstanding voting stock, unless
the merger or combination is approved in a presdrimanner.

An active trading market for our common stock may rot develop.

We completed our initial public offering of equigcurities in June 2007, and prior to such offerihgre was no public market for our
common stock. Although we are listed on The NASD&Rbal Market, an active trading market for our coam stock may never develop or
be sustained. If an active market for our commonlkstioes not develop or is not sustained, it magliffieult for our stockholders to sell
shares without depressing the market price forronrmon stock.

If the price of our common stock is volatile, purclasers of our common stock could incur substantiabkses.

The price of our common stock is volatile. The ktotarket in general and the market for biotechnplogmpanies in particular have
experienced extreme volatility that has often bemrelated to the operating performance of particttenpanies. The market price for our
common stock may be influenced by many factorduding:

» results of clinical trials of our product candidate those of our competitol

* our entry into or the loss of a significant colladtion;

» regulatory or legal developments in the U.S. ameotountries, including changes in the health pasgnent system:
e variations in our financial results or those of gamies that are perceived to be similar tc

» changes in the structure of healthcare paymentisiss

* market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biatetgy sectors and issuance of new or changediteswanalysts’ reports or
recommendations
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» general economic, industry and market conditit

» results of clinical trials conducted by others oungs$ that would compete with our product candide
» developments or disputes concerning patents or ptioprietary rights

e public concern over our product candidates or anguyicts approved in the futur

e litigation;

* acquisitions of business or assi

» future sales or anticipated sales of our commocksby us or our stockholders; a

» the other factors described in ti*Risk Factor” section.

For these reasons and others potential purchaseus oommon stock should consider an investmentincommon stock as risky and
invest only if they can withstand a significantdand wide fluctuations in the marked value ofrtiraiestment.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish esearch or reports or publish unfavorable researclabout our business, the price of
our common stock and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock dependsaith on the research and reports that securitiesdostry analysts publish about us
or our business. If securities or industry analgsisot initiate or continue coverage of us, tlalitng price for our common stock would be
negatively affected. In the event we obtain se@sior industry analyst coverage, if one or morthefanalysts who covers us downgrades
common stock, the price of our common stock woilklely decline. If one or more of these analystssesao cover us or fails to publish
regular reports on us, interest in the purchaseioEommon stock could decrease, which could cthesprice of our common stock or trad
volume to decline.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
None.
Iltem 2. PROPERTIES.

We currently lease approximately 73,646 squaredeeffice and laboratory space in Cranbury, Nevsde and 7,700 square feet of
office and laboratory space in San Diego, Califanmder certain lease agreements. The initial térilne Cranbury, New Jersey lease runs to
February 28, 2019 and may be extended by us foatiditional five-year periods. The lease for tha Ba&go, California location runs until
September 2013 and may be extended by us for tditiGthl five-year periods. We believe that ourremt office and laboratory facilities are
adequate and suitable for our current and antiethaeeds.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are not currently a party to any material lggakeedings.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

None.
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PART Il

Item 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market For Our Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ & ldlarket under the symbol “FOLD” since May 31, Z0@rior to that time,
there was no public market for our common stocle fidilowing table sets forth the range of high & closing sales prices of our common
stock as quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market forpleeiods indicated.

High Low
2011
First Quarte! $ 7.0¢ $ 4.17
Second Quarte 7.94 5.71
Third Quartel 7.71 3.5¢
Fourth Quarte 4.1t 2.1C
High Low
2010
First Quarte! $ 447 $ 3.04
Second Quarte 3.3¢ 1.9¢
Third Quartel 4.0t 1.8¢
Fourth Quarte 4.84 3.5

The closing price for our common stock as repobgthe NASDAQ Global Market on February 18, 201288.53 per share. As of
February 17, 2012, there were 35 holders of reoboir common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any dividends orcapital stock. We currently intend to retain antufe earnings to finance our
research and development efforts, the further dgweént of our pharmacological chaperone technoéoglthe expansion of our business.
We do not intend to declare or pay cash dividendsut stockholders in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
Use of Proceeds from the Sale of Registered Secig#t
Initial Public Offering

Our initial public offering of common stock was etfed through a Registration Statement on Forn{BSld No. 333-141700) that was
declared effective by the Securities and Exchamyar@ission (SEC) on May 30, 2007. We registeredgamegate of 5,750,000 shares of our
common stock. On June 5, 2007, at the closingebffering, 5,000,000 shares of common stock welek @n our behalf at an initial public
offering price of $15.00 per share, for aggregdferimg proceeds of $75.0 million. The initial pibbffering was underwritten and managed
by Morgan Stanley, Merrill Lynch & Co., JPMorgam4ard Capital Markets and Pacific Growth Equitid<C. Following the sale of the
5,000,000 shares, the public offering terminated.

After deducting expenses of approximately $6.9iamllwe received net offering proceeds of approxétyab68.1 million from our
initial public offering. As of December 31, 2011eWave used the proceeds of approximately $68llbmfbr clinical development of our
projects, research and development activitiesinglab additional preclinical projects and to fumdrking capital and other general corporate
purposes.
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March 2010 Registered Direct Offering

In March 2010, we sold 4,946,524 shares of our comstock and warrants to purchase 1,854,946 sbamesnmon stock in a
registered direct offering to a select group ofitnonal investors through a Registration Statetren Form S-3 (File No. 333-158405) that
was declared effective by the SEC on May 27, 200@. shares of common stock and warrants were galdits consisting of one share of
common stock and one warrant to purchase 0.37®slaicommon stock at a price of $3.74 per unie Warrants have a term of four years
and are exercisable any time on or after the sigtimanniversary of the date they were issued, axarcise price of $4.43 per share. The
aggregate offering proceeds were $18.5 millionrinkeSwann LLC served as sole placement agenhioffering. Following the sale of the
common stock and warrants, the public offering teated.

We paid Leerink Swann a placement agency fee eéqual% of the aggregate offering proceeds, apprately $1.05 million. The net
proceeds of the offering were $17.1 million afteddcting the placement agency fee and all othenatgd offering expenses. No offering
expenses were paid directly or indirectly to anyuwf directors or officers (or their associatespersons owning ten percent or more of any
class of our equity securities or to any otheliafés.

As of December 31, 2011, approximately $1.9 milliomet proceeds from our registered direct offgrirere maintained in money
market funds and in investment-grade, interestibganstruments, pending their use. We have useddimaining proceeds from this offering
to further advance the development of our lead gebdandidate, migalastat HCI, and the completioceaain activities required for the
submission of a license application globally, adl a® for general corporate matters.

The foregoing represents our best estimate of seiofiproceeds for the period indicated.

42



Performance Graph

The following performance graph shows the totatshalder return of an investment of $100 cash oy Blg 2007, the date our
common stock first started trading on the NASDAQ@I6all Market, for (i) our common stock, (i) the NBEQ Composite Index (U.S.) and
(iii) the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index as of Decemi3dr, 2011. Pursuant to applicable SEC rules, #llesaassume reinvestment of the full
amount of all dividends, however no dividends hbgen declared on our common stock to date. Th&tsdtader return shown on the graph
below is not necessarily indicative of future pemiance, and we do not make or endorse any preascéie to future stockholder returns.
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.  —8—NASDAQ Composite —&— NASDAQ Biotechnology

* $100 invested on May 31, 2007 in Amicus Therapsutitc. stock or in inde-including reinvestment of dividenc

5/31/2007 12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2010 12/31/2011
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 10C 74 55 28 33 24
NASDAQ Composite 10C 10z 61 87 10z 10C
NASDAQ Biotechnology 10C 10C 87 101 11€ 13C

The stock price performance included in this gragphot necessarily indicative of future stock prerformance.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

There were no purchases of our common stock fothifee months ended December 31, 2011.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
(in thousands except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

Period from
February 4, 200:
(inception) to
December 31,

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2011
Statement of Operations Data
Revenue
Research revent $ 1,378 $ 12,18¢ $ 17,54 $ — $ 1479 $ 45,90:
Collaboration revenu 40¢ 2,77¢ 46,81! 92z 6,64( 57,56:
Total revenue 1,784 14,967 64,35¢ 922 21,43¢ 103,46:
Operating expense
Research and developme 31,07« 37,76¢ 48,08: 39,04: 50,85¢ 265,62(
General and administrati\ 15,27¢ 19,66¢ 19,97: 15,66( 19,88( 113,24¢
Restructuring charge — — 1,52 — — 1,52
Impairment of leasehold improvemel — — — — — 1,03(
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,23 1,49: 2,132 2,05¢ 1,58t 10,06:
In-process research and developn — — — — — 41¢
Total operating expens 47,58¢ 58,92! 71,70¢ 56,76( 72,321 391,90.
Loss from operation (45,809 (43,956 (7,350 (55,839 (50,887 (288,43))
Other income (expense:!
Interest incomt 5,13¢ 4,81¢ 997 15€ 16C 14,07:
Interest expens (34¢) (21¢) (27¢) (260 (14¢) (2,339
Change in fair value of warrant liabili (149 — — (1,410 2,76¢ 90C
Other income — — 64 1,27 70 231
Loss before tax benet (41,167 (39,359 (6,567 (56,075 (48,04) (275,56)
Income tax benef — — — 1,13¢ 3,62¢ 5,46:
Net loss (41,167 (39,35%) (6,567%) (54,93¢) (44,417 (270,109
Deemed divideni — — — — — (19,429
Preferred stock accretic (357) — — — — (802)
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (41519 $ (39,359 ¢ (6,567) $ (54,930 $ (44,41 (290,33()
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
common shar- basic and dilute: $ (3.14) $ (1.75) $ (0.29) $ (1.9¢) $ (1.2¢)
Weighted-average common shares outstandin
basic and dilute: 13,235,75 22,493,80 22,624,13 27,734,79 34,569,64
As of December 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents and marketable seci $ 16152 $ 121,12: $ 78,22« $ 107,44' $  55,70:
Working capital 147,24 110,20¢ 69,29:! 93,45¢ 47,39:
Total asset 167,09 128,77: 85,37( 112,55: 69,79¢
Total liabilities 63,80( 57,73( 13,537 47,61¢ 40,20:
Redeemable convertible preferred st — — — — —
Deficit accumulated during the development si (124,839 (164,189 (170,756 (225,69)) (270,10
Total stockholder equity $ 10329 $ 71,04 $ 7183 $ 6493¢ $ 29,59

44



Item 7. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
Overview

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. (Amicus) is a biopharmical company focused on the discovery, develogrard commercialization of
orally-administered, small molecule drugs knowplarmacological chaperones, a novel, first-in-clagzroach to treating a broad range of
diseases including lysosomal storage diseasesis@aseés of neurodegeneration. We believe thatlmpacological chaperone technology,
our advanced product pipeline, especially our lgaduct candidate, migalastat HCI, and our strategilaboration with GSK uniquely
position us as a leader in the development ofrireats for rare and orphan diseases.

We are focused on the development of pharmacolbgizgperone monotherapy programs and pharmacoladieperones in
combination with enzyme replacement therapy (ER,current standard of treatment for Fabry andrdifsosomal storage disease. In 2
we are advancing two pharmacological chaperone therapy programs for genetic diseases:

» Migalastat HCI for patients with Fabry disease tifead as having alpha-galactosidase A (alpha-Gatiitations amenable to
chaperone therapy, ai

» AT3375 for Parkinsd's disease in Gaucher disease carriers and pobgniialbroader Parkins’s population
Our pharmacological chaperone-ERT combination egrfor 2012 include:
» Migalastat HCI c-administered with ERT for patients with Fabry dseeaeceiving ERT treatment with any genetic mute
* AT2220 (duvoglustat HCI) -administered with ERT for Pompe disee
e AT3375 and afegostat tartrate-administered with ERT for Gaucher disease,

» Several new, undisclosed pharmacological chapgrorgrams focused on the combination of chaperoritsBRTs for additione
lysosomal storage diseas

Our novel approach to the treatment of human gedéeases consists of using pharmacological chapsrthat selectively bind to the
target protein, increasing the stability of thetpino and helping it fold into the correct three-dimsional shape. This allows proper trafficking
of the protein within the cell, thereby increasprgtein activity, improving cellular function andtentially reducing cell stress. We have also
demonstrated in preclinical studies that pharmagofd chaperones can further stabilize normal vatd-type” proteins. This stabilization
could lead to a higher percentage of the targaepre folding correctly and more stably, which éacrease cellular levels of that target
protein and improve cellular function, making chapees potentially applicable to a wide range oédses.

Our lead product candidate, migalastat HCI for Falisease, is in late Phase 3 development. Weenaaping and commercializing
migalastat HCI with an affiliate of GSK pursuantadicense and Collaboration Agreement enteredim@ctober 2010. Our partnership w
GSK allows us to utilize GSK's significant expeetis clinical, regulatory, commercial and manufaicty matters in the development in
migalastat HCI. In addition, the cost-sharing agements and potential milestone and royalty paysnender the License and Collaboration
Agreement provide us with financial strength ardvalus to continue the development of migalastat Wkile also advancing our other
programs. We also believe this collaboration isantgnt in validating our status as a leader indéreclopment of treatments for rare diseases
given the increasing focus placed on the rare deséald.

Our Phase 3 clinical development program for treeafsmigalastat HCI as monotherapy in Fabry diséadades two global registratis
studies for patients with Fabry disease identifisthaving alpha-Gal A mutations amenable to mitgtl&Cl: Study 011 and Study 012. We
completed enrollment of 67 total patients in StOdy, our placebo-controlled Phase 3 study, in Déezr2011 and expect results in the third
quarter of 2012. We plan to use the data from S@idyto support the submission of a New Drug Amtian, or NDA, to the FDA for
marketing approval in the United States and torgahy support marketing applications for othegutatory agencies. Study 012 is our
second phase 3 study for migalastat HCI intendesthpgort the worldwide registration of migalastalfor Fabry disease. We dosed the first
patient in Study 012 in September 2011 to compgaesafety and efficacy of migalastat HCl and ERJa(sidase beta or agalsidase alfa) and
expect to complete enroliment of approximately &fignts by the end of 2012, although timelines mm&aynfluenced by the continuing ERT
shortage.

While our initial clinical efforts have focused tme use of pharmacological chaperones to treastysal storage diseases, we believe
that our technology may be applicable to the treatnof certain diseases of nheurodegeneration.
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We have been a pioneer in investigating the lilkvben Gaucher and Parkinson’s disease, and hanesiptoring the possibility of
using pharmacological chaperones that target ghreticosidase (GCase), the enzyme deficient in Gaudibease, for more than five years.
In 2011, numerous peer-reviewed publications idilega scientific journals reported additional infation on the underlying mechanisms that
link Gaucher and Parkinson’s, and further valida&thase as a target for the treatment of the diséaparticular, these new papers
demonstrated a direct connection between GCasalphd-synuclein, whose accumulation in the bragn hgllmark of Parkinson’s, and
showed that increased GCase activity in the braimause models could correct alpha-synuclein patiyohnd other deficits. We will
continue preclinical and IND-enabling studies foe pharmacological chaperone AT3375, which tartietsame GCase enzyme that is
deficient in Gaucher disease. These preclinicalistuare anticipated to be complete by year-en@ 208 are funded in part by a grant
awarded by the Michael J. Fox Foundation.

We have generated significant losses to date apecgxo continue to generate losses as we contireuelinical development of our
drug candidates, including migalastat HCI, and cmhgreclinical studies on other programs. Thes@ides are budgeted to expand over
time and will require further resources if we ayde successful. From our inception in February?20@ough December 31, 2011, we have
accumulated a deficit of $270.1 million. As we hane yet generated commercial sales revenue frgnohaur product candidates, our los
will continue and are likely to be substantial lve thear term.

Collaboration with GSK

On October 28, 2010, we entered into the LicenseCuoilaboration Agreement with Glaxo Group Limited, affiliate of GSK, to
develop and commercialize migalastat HCI. Undertéhnms of the License and Collaboration Agreem@®K received an exclusive
worldwide license to develop, manufacture and consrakize migalastat HCI. In consideration of theelise grant, we received an upfront,
license payment of $30 million from GSK and we eligible to receive further payments of up to $573illion upon the successful
achievement of development, regulatory and comrakzation milestones, as well as tiered douttilgit royalties on global sales of migalas
HCI. Potential payments include up to (i) $13.5linl related to the attainment of certain clinidavelopment objectives and the acceptance
of regulatory filings in select worldwide markefs) $80 million related to market approvals forgalastat HCI in selected territories
throughout the world, and (iii) $80 million assdeid with the achievement of certain sales threshde and GSK are jointly funding
development costs in accordance with an agreed dgeslopment plan pursuant to which we funded 50%edevelopment costs in 2011
and we will fund only 25% of the development cast2012 and beyond, subject to annual and aggreggi® Additionally, GSK purchased
approximately 6.9 million shares of our common ktata price of $4.56 per share. The total valutisfequity investment to us was
approximately $31 million and represents a 19.8%ership position in us as of December 31, 2011 .adtitk terms of the collaboration
agreement, while we will collaborate with GSK, G&#! have decision-making authority over cliniceégulatory and commercial matters.
Additionally, GSK will have primary responsibilifpr interactions with regulatory agencies and pcosieg applications for marketing and
reimbursement approvals worldwide.

Other Potential Alliances and Collaborations

We continually evaluate other potential collabarmasi and business development opportunities thakddmmister our ability to develop
therapies for rare and orphan diseases includiegding agreements and acquisitions of businesskassets. We believe such opportunities
may be important to the advancement of our cuerduct candidate pipeline, the expansion of theld@ment of our current technology,
gaining access to new technologies and in our fibemstion from a development stage Company to angeruial biotechnology Company.

Financial Operations Overview
Revenue

In November 2010, GSK paid us an initial, non-refable license fee of $30 million and a premium ®Rmillion related to GSK's
purchase of an equity investment in us. The tgiédamt consideration received of $33.2 million Wik recognized as Collaboration Revenue
on a straight-line basis over the development pasfcdhe collaboration agreement which is approxatyeb.2 years. For the year ended
December 31, 2011, we recognized approximately $llon of the total upfront consideration as Gdilbration Revenue and approximately
$14.8 million of Research Revenue for reimbursegaech and development costs.

Research and Development Expenses

We expect to continue to incur substantial reseanthdevelopment expenses as we continue to dewatgproduct candidates and
explore new uses for our pharmacological chaperectenology. However, we will share future reseanctl development costs related to
migalastat HCI with GSK in accordance with the lnse and Collaboration Agreement. Research and @@weint expense consists of:

» internal costs associated with our research anétalidevelopment activitie:
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» payments we make to third party contract researghnizations, contract manufacturers, investigadites, and consultant
» technology license cost
* manufacturing development cos

« personnel related expenses, including salariegftientravel, and related costs for the persommadlved in drug discovery and
development

e activities relating to regulatory filings and thévancement of our product candidates through mieeli studies and clinical trials;
and

« facilities and other allocated expenses, whichudeldirect and allocated expenses for rent, facilidintenance, as well as
laboratory and other supplie

We have multiple research and development pro@ueing at any one time. We utilize our internalogrces, employees and
infrastructure across multiple projects. We recmd maintain information regarding external, oupotket research and development
expenses on a project specific basis.

We expense research and development costs asadcincluding payments made to date under ourdeagreements. We believe that
significant investment in product development eoapetitive necessity and plan to continue thegestments in order to realize the poter
of our product candidates. From our inception ibriiary 2002 through December 31, 2011, we haveiaeduesearch and development
expense in the aggregate of $265.6 million.

The following table summarizes our principal proddievelopment projects through December 31, 201cluding the related stages of
development for each project, and the out-of-pgakeétd party expenses incurred with respect tdgaoject (in thousands).

Period from
February 4,
2002
(Inception) to
Years Ended December 31, December 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011
Projects
Third party direct project expens
Migalastat HCI (Fabry Disea— Phase 3 $ 8,63¢ $ 11,95¢ $ 19,30t $  65,33¢
Afegostat tartrate (Gaucher Dise~ Phase 2* 6,961 362 (112 26,11¢
AT2220 (Pompe Disea- Phase 2 1,87¢ 23€ 10¢ 13,24:
Neurodegenerative Diseases (Preclini 3,194 784 2,20¢ 8,60¢
Co-Administration studies (Fabry & Pompe Diseasthase 2; Gaucher
Preclinical) — 212 2,73¢ 2,95(
Total third party direct project expens 20,66 13,55( 24,24 116,25:
Other project cost®
Personnel cost 18,80: 16,67: 18,81« 93,25!
Other cost® 8,61 8,821 7,798 56,11¢
Total other project cos 27,41¢ 25,49: 26,60 149,36¢
Total research and development c¢ $ 48,08 $ 39,04 $ 50,85¢ $ 265,62(

(1) Other project costs are leveraged across multigggts.
(2) Other costs include facility, supply, overhead, hoehsing costs that support multiple proje:
* We do not plan to advance our afegostat tartrateotherapy program into Phase 3 development atithés

The successful development of our product candsdathighly uncertain. At this time, we cannot meeebly estimate or know the
nature, timing and costs of the efforts that wilfecessary to complete the remainder of the demadot of our product candidates. As a
result, we are not able to reasonably estimat@é¢hied, if any, in which material net cash inflomsy commence from our product
candidates, including migalastat HCI or any of otlrer preclinical product candidates. This uncetyais due to the numerous risks and
uncertainties associated with the conduct, duratimhcost of clinical trials, which vary signifidhnover the life of a project as a result of
evolving events during clinical development, indhgl

* the number of clinical sites included in the trj:
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» the length of time required to enroll suitable pats;

» the number of patients that ultimately participiat¢he trials;

» the results of our clinical trials; a1

e any mandate by the FDA or other regulatory autiidatconduct clinical trials beyond those curremthticipated

Our expenditures are subject to additional unaatits, including the terms and timing of regulatapprovals, and the expense of fili
prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patentslar other intellectual property rights. We médpain unexpected results from our
clinical trials. We may elect to discontinue, detaymodify clinical trials of some product candigsior focus on others. In addition, GSK has
considerable influence over and decision-makinf @ity related to our migalastat HCI program. Aha in the outcome of any of the
foregoing variables with respect to the developnoéit product candidate could mean a significaanhge in the costs and timing associated
with the development, regulatory approval and coneiabzation of that product candidate. For examlthe FDA or other regulatory
authorities were to require us to conduct clintdals beyond those which we currently anticipaieif we experience significant delays in
enrollment in any of our clinical trials, we could required to expend significant additional finahcesources and time on the completion of
clinical development. Drug development may takeesaiwears and millions of dollars in developmeutts.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense consists pilynafrsalaries and other related costs, includitoglsbased compensation expense,
for persons serving in our executive, finance, aotiog, legal, information technology and humarowse functions. Other general and
administrative expense includes faciliglated costs not otherwise included in researdhdavelopment expense, promotional expenses,
associated with industry and trade shows, and gsafeal fees for legal services, including patetated expense and accounting services.
From our inception in February 2002 through Decen®ie 2011, we spent $113.2 million on general ashahinistrative expense.

Interest Income and I nterest Expense

Interest income consists of interest earned orcash and cash equivalents and marketable secuhitiegest expense consists of inte
incurred on our capital lease facility and our @quént financing agreements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmats and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial caoditind results of operations are based on oundiahstatements, which we have
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accegtedunting principles. The preparation of thesarftial statements requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the repartemints of assets and liabilities and the disclsficontingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, as well as therted revenues and expenses during the reporéinigds. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate
our estimates and judgments, including those desdiin greater detail below. We base our estinatdsstorical experience and on various
other factors that we believe are reasonable uh@ezircumstances, the results of which form th&sor making judgments about the
carrying value of assets and liabilities that aveneadily apparent from other sources. Actualltesuay differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. We believe tha following discussion represents our crit@atounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue when amounts are realizegbtivable and earned. Revenue is considered rbliaad earned when the
following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evident@an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occuoreservices have been rendered; (3) the
price is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectafrthe amounts due are reasonably assured.

In multiple element arrangements, revenue is alémtto each separate unit of accounting and edofedsble in an arrangement is
evaluated to determine whether it represents stgparéis of accounting. A deliverable constituteseparate unit of accounting when it has
standalone value and there is no general righttofm for the delivered elements. In instances wheraforementioned criteria are not met,
the deliverable is combined with the undeliverezhednts and the allocation of the arrangement ceratidn and revenue recognition is
determined for the combined unit as a single uihétagounting. Allocation of the consideration igetenined at arrangement inception on the
basis of each unit’s relative selling price. Intameces where there is determined to be a singteofiatcounting, the total consideration is
applied as revenue for the single unit of accogndind is recognized over the period of inceptionugh the date where the last deliverable
within the single unit of accounting is expectedéodelivered.

Our current revenue recognition policies, whichevapplied in fiscal 2010, provide that, when aatmiration arrangement contains
multiple deliverables, such as license and reseandhdevelopment services, we allocate revenuadi geparate unit of accounting based on
a selling price hierarchy. The selling price hietgrfor a deliverable is based on (i) its vendacsfic objective
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evidence (VSOE) if available, (ii) third party eeitce (TPE) if VSOE is not available, or (iii) estitad selling price (BESP) if neither VSOE
nor TPE is available. We would establish the VS®Eedling price using the price charged for a dalable when sold separately. The TPE of
selling price would be established by evaluatingdéy similar and interchangeable competitor prasluc services in standalone sales to
similarly situated customers. The best estimatgetiing price would be established consideringriméfactors such as an internal pricing
analysis or an income approach using a discouraeh ftow model.

The revenue associated with reimbursements foarelseand development costs under collaboratioreagegats is included in Research
Revenue and the costs associated with these resatidaramounts are included in research and develapaxpenses. We record these
reimbursements as revenue and not as a reducti@sedrch and development expenses as we havempotenced our planned principal
operations (i.e., selling commercial products) emedare a development stage enterprise, therefexdaienent activities are part of our
ongoing central operations.

Our collaboration agreement with GSK provides &g any future collaboration agreements we may émtealso may provide for
contingent milestone payments. In order to deteenttie revenue recognition for these contingentstolees, we evaluate the contingent
milestones using the criteria as provided by th&BAyuidance on the milestone method of revenuegrétion at the inception of a
collaboration agreement. The criteria requires fhate determine if the milestone is commensuvéth either our performance to achieve
the milestone or the enhancement of value resufitorg our activities to achieve the milestone, tfi¢ milestone be related to past
performance, and (iii) the milestone be reasonaddiive to all deliverable and payment terms ef ¢bllaboration arrangement. If these
criteria are met then the contingent milestonesbeaoonsidered as substantive milestones and vilébognized as revenue in the period that
the milestone is achieved.

Accrued Expenses

When we are required to estimate accrued expersaaibe we have not yet been invoiced or othervatiea of actual cost, we
identify services that have been performed on etali and estimate the level of service performatithe associated cost incurred. The
majority of our service providers invoice us mowtim arrears for services performed. We make eséisaf our accrued expenses as of each
balance sheet date in our financial statementgdb@séacts and circumstances known to us. Exangflestimated accrued expenses include:

» fees owed to contract research organizations inection with preclinical and toxicology studies attidical trials;
» fees owed to investigative sites in connection withical trials;
» fees owed to contract manufacturers in connectiitim tive production of clinical trial material
» fees owed for professional services, .
» unpaid salaries, wages and bene
Stock-Based Compensation

We apply the fair value method of measuring stoakedl compensation, which requires a public ergitpy¢asure the cost of employee
services received in exchange for an award of gdustruments based upon the grant-date fair veluke award. We chose the “straight-
line” attribution method for allocating compensatimosts and recognized the fair value of each stption on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period of the related awards.

We recognized stock-based compensation expensé®fdllion, $6.2 million, and $8.7 million for theears ended 2009, 2010 and
2011, respectively. The following table summarizgsrmation related to stock compensation expeasegnized in the income statement (in
millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Stock compensation expense recognize:
Research and development expe $ 32 % 26 $ 2.8
General and administrative expel 4.€ 3.6 5.8
Total stock compensation exper $ 7.8 $ 6.2 $ 8.7

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model wistimating the value for stock-based awards. Usevafluation model requires
management to make certain assumptions with retpsetected model inputs. Expected volatility wakulated based on a blended
weighted average of historical information of otgck and the weighted average of historical infaroraof similar public entities for which
historical information was available. We will camiie to use a blended weighted average approact) asirown historical volatility and oth
similar public entity volatility information untibur historical volatility is relevant to measurepegted volatility for future option grants. The
average expected life was determined using a “diiegil method of estimating the expected
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exercise term which is the mid-point between th&ting date and the end of the contractual termouksstock price volatility has been over
75% and we have experienced significant businessactions (Shire and GSK collaborations), we belthat we do not have sufficient
reliable exercise data in order to justify a chaimgihe use of the “simplified” method of estimatithe expected exercise term of employee
stock option grants. The risk-free interest ratieased on U.S. Treasury, zero-coupon issues wimaining term equal to the expected life
assumed at the date of grant. Forfeitures are aghrbased on voluntary termination behavior, dsagen historical analysis of actual option
forfeitures. The weighted average assumptions unstee Black-Scholes option pricing model are does:

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Expected stock price volatility 80.€% 80.5% 78.8%
Risk free interest rai 2.4% 2.4% 2.C%
Expected life of options (year 6.2fF 6.25 6.2fF
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0C $ 0.0 $ 0.0C

The weighted-average grant-date fair value peresbhoptions granted during 2009, 2010 and 201kwWédr83, $2.09 and $4.11,
respectively.

Warrants

The warrants issued in connection with our March@fegistered direct offering are classified aighility. The fair value of the warra
liability is evaluated at each balance sheet dsitgguthe BlackScholes valuation model. This model uses inputh sische underlying price
the shares issued when the warrant is exerciséatjlitg, risk free interest rate and expected bfethe instrument.

Any changes in the fair value of the warrants ligbis recognized in the consolidated statemerdpdrations. The weighted average
assumptions used in the Black-Scholes valuationaifod the warrants for December 31, 2010 and 20¢las follows:

December 31 December 31,
2010 2011
Expected stock price volatility 78.7% 67.2%
Risk free interest rai 1.15% 0.28%
Expected life of warrants (yeai 3.17 2.17
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0C % 0.0C

As a result, for the year ended December 31, 28&Iecorded a change in warrant liability gain 2f8million. The resulting fair valu
of the warrant liability at December 31, 2011 was9$million.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Attributable to Common $ckholders per Common Share

We calculated net loss per share as a measureirinemt performance while giving effect to all dilwé potential common shares that
were outstanding during the reporting period. We &aet loss for all periods presented; accordingly inclusion of common stock options
and warrants would be anti-dilutive. Therefore, wedghted average shares used to calculate boit drad diluted earnings per share are the
same.

The following table provides a reconciliation oéthumerator and denominator used in computing lzesldiluted net loss attributable
to common stockholders per common share (in thalssercept share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Historical
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (6,567) $ (54,936 $ (44,41)
Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstan— basic and dilute: 22,624,13  27,734,79  34,569,64
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Dilutive common stock equivalents would include thikeitive effect of common stock options and watsaior common stock
equivalents. Potentially dilutive common stock egients totaled approximately 4.8 million, 7.0 mitl and 8.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectivelgnatly dilutive common stock equivalents werelaged from the diluted earnings per
share denominator for all periods because of tmirdilutive effect.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2010

RevenueTotal revenue for the year ended December 31, 20hdisted of payments received from GSK for shdmelopment costs
for migalastat HCI (research revenue) and the neized portion of the $33.2 million upfront cash pent received from GSK (collaboration
revenue). For the year ended December 31, 201 tecegnized $6.6 million of the total upfront coreiation as Collaboration Revenue,
compared to $0.9 million in the prior year and $lrhillion of Research Revenue for reimbursed reteand development costs in 2011. We
did not recognize any Research Revenue in 201@vartthve not generated any commercial sales rev@nce our inception.

Research and Development Expeisesearch and development expense was $50.9 milliddl1 representing an increase of
$11.9 million or 31% from $39.0 million in 2010. &lvariance was primarily attributable to a $7.4liomlincrease in contract research rele
to clinical trials, a $4.5 million increase in GSKllaboration fees, and higher personnel costdf fillion, partially offset by a $3.0 million
decrease in license fees and $1.4 million decreas@nufacturing costs.

General and Administrative Expensgeneral and administrative expense was $19.9 miliic?011, an increase of $4.2 million or 27%
from $15.7 million in 2010. The variance was priityadue to additional stock option compensationenge recognized of $2.7 million as a
result of the change in the terms of the Chief ltige Officer’s stock options resulting from hisignation and subsequent reappointment to
the Chief Executive Officer position as well asaerance related compensation charge of $0.6 milétated to the resignation of our former
President and the vesting of his restricted stockrd. In addition, there were increases in recreitiiees, professional fees, and consulting
fees of $1.0 million.

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization expense was $1.6amilh 2011, a decrease of $0.5 million or 24%
from $2.1 million in 2010. The decrease in deprémiawas due to a smaller depreciable asset bd3ecember 31, 2011.

Interest Income and Interest Expenisgerest income was $0.2 million in both 2011 afd@ Interest expense was $0.1 million in 2
a decrease of $0.2 million from $0.3 million in 201

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilityn connection with the sale of our common stock wadrants from the registered direct
offering in March 2010, we recorded the warranta &ability at their fair value using a Blaceholes model and will remeasure the fair v
at each reporting date until exercised or expi@thnges in the fair value of the warrants are tegdn the statements of operations as non-
operating income or expense. For the year endedrbleer 31, 2011, we reported a gain of $2.8 miltelated to the decrease in fair value of
these warrants from the year ended December 3D, Bk market price for our common stock has beehnaay continue to be volatile.
Consequently, future fluctuations in the price of oommon stock may cause significant increaseoreases in the fair value of these
warrants.

Other Income/Expens@ther income decreased due to funds received fnentS. Treasury Department in 2010 of $1.4 million
compared to $0.1 million in 2011 for the Qualifiederapeutic Discovery Projects tax credit and gpgagram.

Tax BenefitDuring 2010 and 2011, we sold a portion of our Niensey state net research and development crnetitd) resulted in th
recognition of $1.1 million and $3.6 million in iome tax benefits for the years ended December(® and 2011, respectively. Assuming
the State of New Jersey continues to fund thisgarogwhich is uncertain, the future amount of rmdrating loss and research and
development credit carry forwards which we may wdllalso depend upon the allocation among quaddycompanies of an annual pool
established by the State of New Jersey.

Net Operating Loss Carry forward8s of December 31, 2011, the Company had fededhktate net operating loss carry forwards, or
NOLs, of approximately $110 million and $179 mitliarespectively. The federal carry forward will betp expire in 2026 and will end
2031. The state carry forwards acquired prior t02@ill begin to expire in 2013 and will end in 205Section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, contains provisions wiighthe amount of NOLs that companies may udilin any one year in the event of
cumulative changes in ownership over a three-yedog in excess of 50%. During 2011, there waswinesship change in excess of 50%;
therefore there was no write-down to net realizahlee of the federal NOLs subject to the 382 latidtns.

Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009

RevenueTotal revenue for the year ended December 31, 2@HX$0.9 million compared to $64.5 million for tywar ended December
31, 2009. In November 2010, GSK paid us an initiah-refundable license fee of $30 million and enpum of $3.2 million related to GSK’
purchase of an equity investment in Amicus. Thaltopfront consideration received of $33.2 milliwitl be recognized as Collaboration
Revenue on a straight-line basis over the developperiod of the collaboration agreement whichgpraximately 5.2 years. For the year
ended December 31, 2010, we recognized $0.9 mitifdhe total upfront consideration as CollabonatiRevenue. We have not generated any
commercial sales revenue since our inception.

Research and Development Expem&esearch and development expense was $39.0 niilli2@10 representing a decrease of
$9.1 million or 19% from $48.1 million in 2009. Thariance was primarily attributable to lower pensel costs of $2.1 million associated
with the 2009 work force reduction, a $0.7 millidacrease in contract manufacturing costs due ttirttieg of batch production and a $6.0
million decrease in contract research relateditocell trials.
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General and Administrative Expensgeneral and administrative expense was $15.7 milid2010, a decrease of $4.3 million or 22%
from $20.0 million in 2009. The variance was priityaattributable to lower personnel costs of $2.#lion associated with the 2009 work
force reduction and a decrease in legal and priofegisfees of $1.6 million.

Restructuring Chargefestructuring charges were $1.5 million in 2009 tuthe corporate restructuring implemented inftheth
quarter of 2009. The restructuring charges inclug28 million for employment termination costs plalgein cash and a facilities
consolidation restructuring charge of $0.6 millieonsisting of lease payments and the write-dowfixefl assets in the vacated building.
There were no restructuring costs in 2010.

Depreciation and AmortizationDepreciation and amortization expense was $2.1amilh both 2009 and 2010. There was no increase
in depreciation and amortization expense due ®pesperty, plant and equipment purchased in 28kbmpared to prior years.

Interest Income and Interest Expenisgerest income was $0.2 million in 2010, compae#1.0 million in 2009. The decrease of $0.8
million or 80% was due to lower average cash arsth eguivalents balances throughout the year. Isttesgoense was $0.3 million in both
2010 and 2009.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilityn connection with the sale of our common stock wadrants from the registered direct
offering in March 2010, we recorded the warranta &ability at their fair value using a Blaceholes model and will remeasure the fair v.
at each reporting date until exercised or expi@thanges in the fair value of the warrants are tegan the statements of operations as non-
operating income or expense. For the year endedrleer 31, 2010, we reported a loss of $1.4 milledated to the increase in fair value of
these warrants from issuance dates. The market fmiour common stock has been and may continbe imlatile. Consequently, future
fluctuations in the price of our common stock mayse significant increases or decreases in thedhie of these warrants.

Other Income/Expens@ther Income increased due to funds received ffmmXS. Treasury Department in 2010 of $1.4 milfianthe
Qualified Therapeutic Discovery Projects tax creaitl grant program. Other expense increased dtirengear due to certain items from
property and equipment being disposed of during/tfee resulting in a charge of $0.1 million.

Tax BenefitDuring 2010, we sold a portion of our New Jerseyeshet operating loss carry forwards, which resuit the recognition
of $1.1 million in income tax benefits. Assuming tBtate of New Jersey continues to fund this pragrehich is uncertain, the future amount
of net operating loss and research and developanedit carry forwards which we may sell will alsepegtnd upon the allocation among
qualifying companies of an annual pool establidethe State of New Jersey.

Net Operating Loss Carry forward8s of December 31, 2010, we had federal and s&ttegerating loss carry forwards, or NOLs, of
approximately $71 million and $133 million, respeely. The federal carry forward will begin to erpiin 2026 and will end in 2031. The
state carry forwards acquired prior to 2009 wilyipeto expire in 2013 and will end in 2017. Sect88? of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, contains provisions which lingtamount of NOLs that companies may utilize in ang year in the event of cumulative
changes in ownership over a three-year period tesxof 50%. We completed a detailed study of ddk dNand determined that as a result of
our registered direct offering in March 2010, thexes an ownership change in excess of 50% andkttezdl NOLs subject to the 382
limitations were written down to their net realimbalue. Additionally, we determined that the aainimitation on the utilization of the pre-
ownership change loss will be approximately $3.0ioni. Ownership changes in future periods may gladditional limits on our ability to
utilize net operating loss and tax credit carryvaids.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Source of Liquidity

As a result of our significant research and devalept expenditures and the lack of any approvedyatsdo generate product sales
revenue, we have not been profitable and have gestkoperating losses since we were incorporat2@02. We have funded our operations
principally with $148.7 million of proceeds fromdeemable convertible preferred stock offerings, @ naillion of gross proceeds from our
IPO in June 2007, $18.5 million of gross proceedmfour Registered Direct Offering in March 20180%® million from the non-refundable
license fees paid by our current and previous bohators and $31.0 million from GSK'’s investmenthie Company at the time the
collaboration was formed. In the future, we exgedund our operations, in part, through the retcefost-sharing and milestone payments
from GSK. The following table summarizes our sigrdft funding sources as of December 31, 2011:

Approximate
Amount (1)

Funding () Year No. Shares (in thousands)
Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred S 2002 444,44, % 2,50(
Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred S 2004, 2005, 2006, 20 4,917,85: 31,18¢
Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred 2005, 200 5,820,02! 54,99¢
Series D Redeemable Convertible Preferred S 2006, 200 4,930,40! 60,00(
Common Stocl 2007 5,000,00t! 75,00(
Upfront License Fee from Shi 2007 — 50,00(
Registered Direct Offerin 201( 4,946,52! 18,50(
Upfront License Fee from GS 201C — 30,00(
Common Stocl- GSK 201C 6,866,24! 31,28t

3292549 $ 353,47

(1) Represents gross proces
(2) The Series A, B, C and D Redeemable ConvertibleeReal Stock was converted to common stock upometteetiveness of our IP!

In addition, in conjunction with the GSK collabdoat agreement, we received reimbursement of researd development expenditures
from the date of the agreement (October 28, 2Gi@ugh December 31, 2011 of $6.7 million. We akeived $31.1 million in
reimbursement of research and development expeadiftom the prior Shire collaboration from theedat the agreement (November 7,
2007) through October 29, 2009.

As of December 31, 2011, we had cash and cashaqote and marketable securities of $55.7 millidie. invest cash in excess of our
immediate requirements with regard to liquidity axagbital preservation in a variety of interest-limginstruments, including obligations of
U.S. government agencies and money market accoMimsrever possible, we seek to minimize the patéeffects of concentration and
degrees of risk. Although we maintain cash balamg#sfinancial institutions in excess of insur@uaiits, we do not anticipate any losses with
respect to such cash balances.

In March 2010, we sold 4.95 million shares of oomenon stock and warrants to purchase 1.85 milli@vess of common stock in a
registered direct offering to a select group ofitnsonal investors. The shares of common stoakwarrants were sold in units consisting of
one share of common stock and one warrant to psec®875 shares of common stock at a price of §&r4nit. The warrants have a tern
four years and are exercisable any time on or #ftesix month anniversary of the date they wesedd, at an exercise price of $4.43 per
share. The net proceeds of the offering were $difllibn after deducting the placement agency fea @hother estimated offering expenses.

In October 2010, we sold approximately 6.9 millgirares of our common stock to GSK in connectioh wie collaboration agreement
at a price of $4.56 per share. The total valudisféquity investment to us is approximately $3lliom and represents a 19.8% ownership
position in the us as of December 31, 2011.

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Net cash used in operations for the year endedrbleee31, 2011 was $49.4 million due primarily te tiet loss for the year end
December 31, 2011 of $44.4 million and the changeperating assets and liabilities of $12.5 millidhe change in operating assets and
liabilities consisted of an increase in receivalfitesn GSK related to the collaboration agreemer&®0 million; an increase of $3.7 million
prepaid assets primarily related to a receivaldmfthe sale of state net operating loss carry faisjar NOLs; a decrease in deferred reve
of $4.8 million related to the recognition of thefront payment from GSK for the collaboration agneat; and an increase in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of $1.4 million rklat@rogram expenses.
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Net cash used in operations for the year endedrbleee31, 2010 was $14.0 million due primarily te tret loss for the year ended
December 31, 2010 of $54.9 million, partially offeg the change in operating assets and liabildfe®31.2 million. The change in operating
assets and liabilities of $31.2 million was dueraiily to deferred revenue related to the collabonsagreement with GSK.

Net Cash Used in and Provided by I nvesting Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities for tleayended December 31, 2011 was $46.5 millionchigt provided by investing
activities reflects $98.5 million for the sale arediemption of marketable securities, offset by %fillion for the purchase of marketable
securities and $1.4 million for the acquisitionppbperty and equipment.

Net cash used in investing activities for the yeradled December 31, 2010 was $19.4 million. Net aasld in investing activities
reflects $94.6 million for the sale and redemptibmarketable securities, offset by $113.7 millfonthe purchase of marketable securities
and $0.4 million for the acquisition of propertyda@quipment.

Net Cash Provided by and Used in Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the yeaded December 31, 2011 was $0.9 million and rsfliéae $1.3 million in payments of
our secured loan agreement and capital lease tibligapartially offset by $0.4 million of proceefilem exercise of stock options.

Net cash provided by financing activities for treay ended December 31, 2010 was $43.7 and reftex®l7.1 million from the
issuance of common stock and the $28.1 million fommmon stock issued to GSK as part of the colkaiimm agreement. These cash inflows
were partially offset by the payments of our seddoan agreement and capital lease obligationd & fillion and $0.3 million, respectivel

Funding Requirements

We expect to incur losses from operations for thedeeable future primarily due to research anéldpment expenses, including
expenses related to conducting clinical trials. fture capital requirements will depend on a nundfdactors, including:

. the progress and results of our clinical trial®of drug candidates, including migalastat

. our ability to achieve development and commerciian milestone payments and sales royalties umalecollaboration with
GSK;

. the scope, progress, results and costs of prealidavelopment, laboratory testing and clinicalltrifor our product candidates
including those testing the use of pharmacologibaperones co-administered with ERT and for thegitnent of diseases of
neurodegeneratiol

. the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revidwur product candidate

. the number and development requirements of otleetymt candidates that we purs

. the costs of commercialization activities, inclugliproduct marketing, sales and distributi
. the emergence of competing technologies and otharae market developmen

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting paspplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddfieg intellectual property
related claims

. the extent to which we acquire or invest in busiessproducts or technologies; ¢
. our ability to establish collaborations and obtaitestone, royalty or other payments from any stafaborators

We do not anticipate that we will generate revefinom commercial sales of our current product pipelintil at least 2013, if at all. In
the absence of additional funding, we expect oatinaing operating losses to result in increasesuincash used in operations over the next
several quarters and years. However, we belieweotiraexisting cash and cash equivalents and $éortinvestments, including anticipated
payments from GSK in connection with the collabiomratis expected to be sufficient to fund our ofiataexpenses and capital expenditure
requirements through the middle of the third quasfe2013.
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Financial Uncertainties Related to Potential Future Payments
Milestone Payments

We have acquired rights to develop and commereiair product candidates through licenses grantegiious parties. While our
license agreements for migalastat HCl and AT2226ataontain milestone payment obligations, twéhelse agreements related to afegostat
tartrate do require us to make such payments téicespecified pre-commercialization events octlpgon the satisfaction of certain
milestones and assuming successful developmeri¢gbstat tartrate, we may be obligated, under ghheeanents that we have in place, to
make future milestone payments aggregating up pooapmately $7.9 million. However, such potentialestone payments are subject to
many uncertain variables that would cause such patgnif any, to vary in size.

Royalties

Under our license agreements, if we owe royaltieaet sales for one of our products to more thanlieensor, then we have the righ
reduce the royalties owed to one licensor for rigslpaid to another. The amount of royalties toffset is generally limited in each license
and can vary under each agreement. For migala§tbahtl AT2220, we will owe royalties only to Mt.rai School of Medicine (MSSM). W
would expect to pay royalties to all three licerssaith respect to afegostat tartrate should we rolv@ to commercialization. To date, we
have not made any royalty payments on sales opmgtucts and believe we are at least a couple yaeayg from selling any products that
would require us to make any such royalty payments.

In accordance with our license agreement with MS&® paid $3 million of the $30 million upfront pagmt received from GSK to
MSSM in the fourth quarter of 2010. We will alsodigligated to pay MSSM royalties on worldwide nales of migalastat HCI.

Whether we will be obligated to make milestoneayafty payments in the future is subject to thecess of our product development
efforts and, accordingly, is inherently uncertain.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our significant cantual obligations and commercial commitments etdnber 31, 2011 and the
effects such obligations are expected to have otiquidity and cash flows in future periods (irotisands).

Less than 1-3 3-5 Over 5
Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Operating lease obligations $ 11,99 $ 1,76¢ $ 3,012 $ 3,36¢ $ 3,84t
Debt obligations 1,04« 1,044 — — —
Total fixed contractual obligations ( $ 13,03 §$ 2,80¢ $ 3,01z $ 3,36¢ §$ 3,84¢

(1) This table does not include (a) any milestone paysm@hich may become payable to third parties utidense agreements as the tin
and likelihood of such payments are not knownafi) royalty payments to third parties as the anwahsuch payments, timing and/or
the likelihood of such payments are not known afopunts, if any, that may be committed in the fitior construct additional facilities,
and (d) contracts that are entered into in thenamgi course of business which are not materidiénaiggregate in any period presented
above.

We currently lease laboratory and office spaceramBury, New Jersey. The initial term of the leagleich commenced on March 1,
2012, runs for seven years and may be extended for two additional five-year periods. We alscskeaffice and laboratory space in San
Diego, California, which will expire by its terms September 2013.

In May 2009, we entered into a loan and securitgagent with Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) that prova®r up to $4 million of
equipment financing through October 2012. Borrowingder the loan agreement are collateralized bipatent purchased with the proce:
of the loan and bear interest at a fixed rate pfaxmately 9%. We entered a second loan and sg@greement with SVB in August 2011
(“2011 Loan Agreement”) in order to finance certaapital expenditures to be made by us in conneetith our recent move to our new
corporate headquarters. The 2011 Loan Agreementde®for up to $3 million of equipment financirtgaugh January 2014. Borrowings
under the 2011 Loan Agreement are collateralizeddwipment purchased with the proceeds of the doanbear interest at a variable rate of
SVB prime + 2.5%. The current SVB prime rate i4.0he 2011 Loan Agreement contains the same fiabomvenant as the previous loan
agreement.
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On June 28, 2011, we entered into a new employagneement with our chairman and chief executivieeff John F. Crowley, that
provides for an annual base salary, a cash bonus tuf 60% of base salary, and monthly payment® gpmaximum of $1.8 million for out-
of-pocket medical expenses and the correspondingrtess-up payments. We entered into the employmgmement upon Mr. Crowley’s
return to the chief executive officer position @lling a brief term as executive chairman of the @any from April 2011 through August
2011 during which time he did not serve as chiefoexive officer. The terms of this current employmnagreement are substantially simila
Mr. Crowley’s prior employment agreement pursuanthich he served as chief executive officer. Nigtaldr. Crowley’s base salary, bont
severance and benefits under the current employaggaement are the same as provided under theopeeagreement The agreement will
continue for successive one-year terms until eiffagty provides written notice of termination t@ thther in accordance with the terms of the
agreement.

We have entered into agreements with clinical researganizations and other outside contractors areqartially responsible for
conducting and monitoring our clinical trials farradrug candidates including migalastat HCI. Thasstractual obligations are not reflected
in the table above because we may terminate théhowutipenalty.

We have no other lines of credit or other committedrces of capital. To the extent our capital weses are insufficient to meet future
capital requirements, we will need to raise adddiccapital or incur indebtedness to fund our of@na. We cannot assure you that additional
debt or equity financing will be available on acedype terms, if at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as ofnilmre31, 2010 and 2011.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB amended its guidance oprésentation of comprehensive income in finandatesnents to improve the
comparability, consistency and transparency ofrfoie reporting and to increase the prominencéenfis that are recorded in other
comprehensive income. The new accounting guidagmaines entities to report components of compréatiermscome in either (1) a
continuous statement of comprehensive income am@)eparate but consecutive statements. Thegiooi of this guidance are effective
fiscal years, and interim periods within those geleginning after December 15, 2011. We do natipate the adoption of this guidance \
have a material impact on our financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB amended the FASB Accountitap8ards Codification to converge the fair valuesueement guidance in U.S.
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standaf@bme of the amendments clarify the applicatfoexesting fair value measurement
requirements, while other amendments change pkatipunciples in fair value measurement guidameeddition, the amendments require
additional fair value disclosures. The amendmergs#ective for fiscal years beginning after Debeml5, 2011 and should be applied
prospectively. The Company is currently evaluatimgimpact, if any, that the provisions of the adraents will have on its consolidated
results of operations or financial position.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risk is the risk of change in fair valueaofinancial instrument due to changes in interat®s;, equity prices, creditworthiness,
financing, exchange rates or other factors. Oungry market risk exposure relates to changes émést rates in our cash, cash equivalents
and marketable securities. We place our investmiertiggh-quality financial instruments, primarilyamey market funds, corporate debt
securities, asset backed securities and U.S. go@rhagency notes with maturities of less thanyaae, which we believe are subject to
limited interest rate and credit risk. The secasitin our investment portfolio are not leveraged,cassified as available-for-sale and, due to
the short-term nature, are subject to minimal ggerate risk. We currently do not hedge interatst exposure and consistent with our
investment policy, we do not use derivative finah@istruments in our investment portfolio. At Detdger 31, 2011, we held $55.7 million in
cash, cash equivalents and available for sale isesuaind due to the short-term maturities of omnestments, we do not believe that a 10%
change in average interest rates would have &fisigmni impact on our interest income. As Decemier2®11, our cash, cash equivalents and
available for sale securities were all due on deh@arwithin one year. Our outstanding debt hasedfinterest rate and therefore, we have no
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

We have operated primarily in the U.S., althoughdeeonduct some clinical activities with vendowmside the U.S. While most
expenses are paid in U.S. dollars, there are minpayaments made in local foreign currency. If exa@rates undergo a change of 10%, we
do not believe that it would have a material impatbur results of operations or cash flows.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Management’s Report on Consolidated Financial Stataents and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. hgsapeel, and is responsible for the Company’s codatdd financial statements and
related footnotes. These consolidated financid¢stants have been prepared in conformity with geBerally accepted accounting
principles.

We are responsible for establishing and maintaiahgguate internal control over financial reportimgernal control over financial
reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(fdmulgated under the Securities Exchange AcB8#las a process designed by, or under
the supervision of the Company'’s principal exeautwnd principal financial officers and effectedtbg Company’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel, to provide reBkoaasurance regarding the reliability of finahoiporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting principlesincludes those policies and
procedures that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that in mre@sie detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and dispositions of the
assets of Amicus Therapeutics, Ir

. provide reasonable assurance that transactions@eded as necessary to permit preparation ofi¢iahstatements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, tivad receipts and expenditures of Amicus therapsulinc. are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of managementdinedtors of Amicus therapeutics, Inc.; ¢

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of the assets
of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. that could have a niteffect on the financial statemer

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeqaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

We assessed the effectiveness of our internal@amier financial reporting as of December 31, 20himaking this assessment, we
used the criteria set forth by the Committee ofr&ooing Organizations of the Treadway Commissio@$0) in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework. Based on our assessment we believeathaf,December 31, 2011, our internal control divemncial reporting is effective based
on those criteria.

Dated February 28, 2012

/s/ John F. Crowle /s/ Daphne Quim
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic Corporate Controlle
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Amicus Therapeutics Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and subgigiadevelopment stage
company) as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, anctkhied consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ equity (deficiency) and cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeehDecember 31, 2011 and the period from Februa2@@?2 (inception) to December 31,
2011. These financial statements are the respditsitfi the Company’s management. Our responsibiitto express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighaBioUnited States).
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenatidit to obtain reasonable assurance about whe#hénancial statements are free of
material misstatement. We were not engaged to pardm audit of the Company’s internal control ofireancial reporting. Our audits
included consideration of internal control overfitial reporting as a basis for designing audit@dares that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgssmopinion on the effectiveness of the Compamg&rnal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinin.audit also includes examining, on a test basiglence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessagccounting principles used and significaninesties made by management, and evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. Weste that our audits provide a reasonable basisto opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referealove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position
of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. at December 31, 201d 2010, and the consolidated results of theiratpmrs and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 80d the period from February 4, 2002 (incepttorpecember 31, 2011, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

MetroPark, New Jersey
February 28, 2012
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,

2010 2011
Assets:
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 29,57 $  25,66¢
Available-for-sale securitie 77,87 30,03«
Receivable due from GS — 5,04:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,23¢€ 5,90z
Total current asse 109,68: 66,64¢
Property and equipment, less accumulated depreciatid amortization of $8,095 and $9,507 at Dece@b
2010 and 2011, respective 2,60¢ 2,43¢
Other nor-current assel 267 70€
Total Assets $ 11255 $ 69,79
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 8,29 $ 9,70¢
Current portion of capital lease obligatic 40 —
Current portion of deferred reven 6,64( 8,50¢
Current portion of secured loi 1,25: 1,04«
Total current liabilities 16,22! 19,25¢
Deferred revenue, less current port 25,63¢ 18,99¢
Warrant liability 4,712 1,94¢
Secured loan, less current port 1,04¢ —
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder' equity:
Common stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 sharémanéd, 34,508,932 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 20
125,000,000 shares authorized, 34,654,206 shawsdsind
outstanding at December 31, 2( 40¢€ 407
Additional paic-in capital 290,24¢ 299,28!
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)/incc (28) 4
Deficit accumulated during the development si (225,69 (270,10
Total stockholdel equity 64,93« 29,59:
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 11255 $§ 69,79

See accompanying notes to consolidated financiééstents
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31,

Period from
February 4,
2002
(Inception) to
December 31,

2009 2010 2011 2011
Revenue
Research revent $ 1754 % — $ 14,79¢ $ 45,90
Collaboration revenu 46,81 922 6,64( 57,56:
Total revenue 64,35¢ 922 21,43¢ 103,46
Operating Expense
Research and developme 48,08: 39,04 50,85¢ 265,62
General and administrati 19,97: 15,66( 19,88( 113,24¢
Restructuring charge 1,52 — — 1,52
Impairment of leasehold improvemel — — — 1,03(
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,132 2,05¢ 1,58t 10,06:
In-process research and developn — — — 41€
Total operating expens 71,70¢ 56,76( 72,32 391,90:
Loss from operation (7,350 (55,839 (50,887 (288,43))
Other income (expense:
Interest incom 997 15€ 16C 14,07:
Interest expens (27¢) (260) (14 (2,339
Change in fair value of warrant liabili — (1,410 2,76¢ 90C
Other income 64 1,27 70 231
Loss before income tax bene (6,567) (56,07%) (48,04) (275,56)
Income tax benef — 1,13¢ 3,62¢ 5,46:
Net loss (6,567) (54,93¢) (44,417 (270,109
Deemed dividen: — — — (19,42
Preferred stock accretic — — — (802)
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (6,567 $ (54930 $ (44,419 $ (290,330
Net loss attributable to common stockholders penroon shar— basic and
diluted $ (0.29) $ (1.9¢) $ (1.2¢)
Weightec-average common shares outstan— basic and dilute: 22,624,13  27,734,79  34,569,64
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholderfDeficiency)/Equity
Period from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decembe31, 2002,
and the nine year period ended December 31, 2011
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Deficit
Accumulated
Additional Other During the Total
Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Deferred Developmen Stockholders’
Shares  Amount Capital Gain/ (Loss)  Compensatior Stage (Deficiency) Equity
Balance at February 4, 2002 (incepti — — 3 — 3 — 3 — 8 —  $ —
Issuance of common stock to a consul 74,93¢ 6 78 — — — 84
Stock issued for i-process research and developn 232,26t 17 401 — — — 41€
Deferred compensatic — — 20¢ — (209) — —
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — — 27 — 27
Issuance of warrants with financing arrangem: — — 8 — — — 8
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred s — — (11) — — — (11)
Net loss — — — — — (1,77%) (1,775
Balance at December 31, 20 307,20 23 68t — (182 ,77%) (1,249
Stock issued from exercise of stock opti 332 — — — — — —
Deferred compensatic — — 14 — (14) — —
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — — 70 — 70
Issuance of stock warrants with convertible nc — — 21C — — — 21C
Issuance of stock options to consulte — — 4 — — — 4
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred s — — 7) — — — (17)
Beneficial conversion feature related to bridgeficing — — 41 — — — 41
Net loss — — — — — (6,76¢) (6,76%)
Balance at December 31, 20 307,53 23 937 — (12€) (8,549 (7,709
Deferred compensatic — — 68 — (68) — —
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — — 60 — 60
Issuance of stock options to consulte — — 16 — — — 16
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred st — — (12€) — — — (12€)
Interest waived on converted convertible nc — — 19¢ — — — 19
Beneficial conversion feature related to bridgeficing — — 95 — — — 95
Comprehensive Los
Unrealized holding loss on availa-for-sale securitie — — — 9) — — 9)
hetloss — — — — — (8,807 (8,807
Net total comprehensive loss — — — — — _ (8,816
Balance at December 31, 20 307,53 23 1,18: 9) (1349 (17,35() (16,287
Stock issued from exercise of stock opti 97,15¢ 7 17 — — — 24
Stock issued from exercise of warra 133,33: 10 65 — — — 75
Deferred compensatic — — 2,77¢ — (2,779¢) — —
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — — 868 — 36E
Non-cash charge for stock options to consulti — — 112 — — — 112
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred st — — (23¢€ — — — (139)
Comprehensive Los
Unrealized holding loss on availa-for-sale securitie — — — @) — — @)
Net loss — — — — — (19,977) (19,979
Net total comprehensive lo — — — — — — (19,979
Balance at December 31, 20 538,02! $ 40 $ 4,01¢ $ 16) $ (2,547 $ (37,329 $ (35,829
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholder@Deficiency) Equity
Period from February 4, 2002 (inception) to Decembe31, 2002,
and the nine year period ended December 31, 2011
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Deficit
Accumulated
Additional Other During the Total
Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Deferred Development Stockholders’
Shares Amount Capital Gain/(Loss) Compensation Stage (Deficiency) Equity
Balance at December 31, 20 538,02 $ 40 $ 4,01¢ $ (16) $ (2,547 $ (37,329) $ (35,829
Stock issued from exercise of optic 265,80: 20 13¢€ — — — 15€
Stock issued for license payme 133,33 10 1,21C — — — 1,22(
Reversal of deferred compensation upon
adoption of FAS 123(R — — (2,547%) — 2,547 — —
Stocl-based compensatic 53,33: — 2,81¢ — — — 2,81¢
Issuance of stock options to consulte — — 47€ — — — 47€
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferre
stock — — (159) — — — (159)
Reclassification of warrant liability upon
exercise of Series B redeemable convertible
preferred stock warran — — 117 — — — 117
Beneficial conversion on issuance of Series (
redeemable convertible preferred st — — 19,42 — — — 19,42

Beneficial conversion charge (deemed dividend)
on issuance of Series C redeemable
convertible preferred stoc — — (19,42¢) — — — (19,42¢)
Comprehensive (Loss)/ Incom
Unrealized holding gain on available-

for-sale securitie — — — 31 — — 31

Net loss — — — — — (46,345 (46,34%)

Net total comprehensive lo — — — — — — (46,319

Balance at December 31, 20 990,49:. 70 6,067 15 — (83,667 (77,51%)

Stock issued from initial public offerir 5,000,001 50 68,09¢ — — — 68,14¢

Stock issued from conversion of preferred sh 16,112,72 162 148,42¢ — — — 148,59:

Stock issued from exercise of stock options, 305,51¢ 3 45¢E — — — 45¢

Stock based compensati — — 3,82 — — — 3,82

Issuance of stock options to consulte — — 162 — — — 162
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferre

stock — — (35)) — — — (35))

Charge for warrant liabilit — — 75¢ — — — 75¢

Comprehensive (Loss)/ Inconm

Unrealized holding gain on available-

for-sale securitie — — — 39z — — 39z

Net loss — — — — — (41,167) (41,16))

Net total comprehensive lo — — — — — — (40,774)

Balance at December 31, 20 22,408,73 28t 227,43t 40€ — (124,839 103,29

Stock issued from exercise of stock options, 225,98( 2 52¢ — — — 53C

Stock based compensati — — 6,44¢ — — — 6,44¢

Comprehensive (Loss)/ Incomr

Unrealized holding gain on available-

for-sale securitie — — — 125 — — 125

Net loss — — — — — (39,35%) (39,359

Net total comprehensive lo — — — — — — (39,23()

Balance at December 31, 20 22,634,711 $ 287 $ 234,41 $ 53¢ $ — (164,189 $ 71,04:
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Balance at December 31, 20

Stock issued from exercise of stock options,
Stock based compensati
Comprehensive (Loss)/ Incomr

Net total comprehensive lo

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholderfDeficiency)

Equity Period from February 4, 2002 (inception) toDecember 31, 2002,

and the nine year period ended December 31, 2011

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Unrealized holding loss on available-ft

sale securitie
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

Stock issued from secondary offeri

Stock issued from collaboration agreem
Stock issued from exercise of stock options,
Stock based compensati

Comprehensive (Loss)/ Incomr

Net total comprehensive lo

Unrealized holding loss on available-for-

sale securitie
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

Stock issued from exercise of stock options,

Stock based compensati
Comprehensive (Loss)/ Incomr
Unrealized holding gain on availa-for-sale securitie —

Net loss

Net total comprehensive lo

Balance at December 31, 20

Deficit
Accumulated
Additional During the Total

Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Deferred Development Stockholders’
Shares Capital Gain/ (Loss) Compensation Stage (Deficiency) Equity
22,634,71 $ 287 $ 234,41: 532 $ — 3 (164,189 $ 71,04:
37,71¢ — 60 — — — 60
— — 7,781 — — — 7,781
— — — (490) — — (490)
— — — — — (6,567) (6,567
— — — — — — (7,057)
22,672,42 $ 287 $ 242,25¢ 43 $ —  $ (170,756 $ 71,83:
4,946,52! 50 13,78( — — — 13,83(
6,866,24! 69 28,01« — — — 28,08
23,73t — 9 — — — 9
— — 6,18¢ — — — 6,18¢
— — — (72) — — (72)
_ — — — — (54,93¢) (54,939
— — — — — — (55,007
34,508,93 $ 40€ $ 290,24¢ (28) $ — 3 (225,69) $ 64,93¢
145,27: 1 35¢ — — — 36C
— — 8,67¢ — — — 8,67¢
— — 32 — — 32
— — — — — (44,417 (44,419
— — — — — — (44,380
34,654,20 $ 407 $ 299,28! 4 % — 3 (270,109 $ 29,59:
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Period from
February 4,
2002
(Inception) to
Years Ended December 31, December 31,
2009 2010 2011 2011

Operating activities
Net loss $ (6,567) $ (54,930 $ (44,41) $ (270,109
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities

Non-cash interest expen — — — 52t
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,132 2,05¢ 1,58t 10,06:
Amortization of no-cash compensatic — — — 522
Stocl-based compensatic 7,781 6,18¢ 8,67¢ 35,73¢
Non-cash charge for stock based compensation issuszhsultant: — — — 85¢
Change in fair value of warrant liabili — 1,41( (2,769 (900
Loss on disposal of ass 19t 121 — 36C
Stocl-based license payme — — — 1,22(
Impairment of leasehold improvemel — — — 1,03(
Non-cash charge for in process research and develog — — — 41¢
Beneficial conversion feature related to bridgaficing — — — 13t
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Receivable due from GS (5,049 (5,049
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 201 26 (3,667) (5,907%)
Other nor-current assel (21¢) 21¢ (442) (730
Account payable and accrued exper 83¢ (1,34%) 1,41¢ 9,70¢
Deferred revenu (47,74() 32,27¢ (4,776 27,50
Net cash used in operating activit (43,379 (13,987 (49,427 (194,60
Investing activities
Sale and redemption of marketable secur 131,84t 94,60z 98,47 672,08t
Purchases of marketable securi (98,179) (113,660 (50,607) (702,23)
Purchases of property and equipm (1,807%) (384) (1,420 (13,889
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activi 31,86¢ (19,449 46,45: (44,039
Financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of preferred stoclofrissuance cos — — — 143,02:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net chmssicost — 45,21 — 113,30°
Proceeds from the issuance of convertible n — — — 5,00(C
Payments of capital lease obligatic (840 (313) (40 (5,587%)
Payments of secured loan agreen (209) (1,252) (1,259 (2,719
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti 60 9 35¢ 1,65(
Proceeds from exercise of warrants (common anc pesf) — — — 264
Proceeds from capital asset financing arrange! — — — 5,611
Proceeds from secured loan agreen 3,75¢ — — 3,75¢
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activi 2,76¢ 43,65¢ (939) 264,31:
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equis. (8,739 10,23t (3,909 25,66¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yeaidg 28,07 19,33¢ 29,57 —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/p $ 19,33¢ $§ 2957: $ 25668 $  25,66¢

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informatiol

Cash paid during the period for inter $ 25C % 28C $ 14¢  $ 2,03¢
Non-cash activities
Conversion of preferred stock to common st $ — % — 8 — 148,95:
Conversion of notes payable to Series B redeentalvieertible preferred stoc  $ — 9 — % — 9 5,00(
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred s! $ —  $ — 3 —  $ 80z
Beneficial conversion feature related to issuarfdbeadditional issuance of

Series C redeemable convertible preferred s $ —  $ — 3 — 3 19,42¢

65



Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business
Corporate | nformation, Status of Operations, and Management Plans

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. (the Company) was incateal on February 4, 2002 in Delaware and is aHaiopaceutical company
focused on the discovery, development and comnigaii@n of orally-administered, small molecule dsiknown as pharmacological
chaperones, a novel, first-in-class approach ttitrg a broad range of diseases including lysossioahge disorders and diseases of
neurodegeneration. The Company’s activities sinception have consisted principally of raising tapiestablishing facilities, and
performing research and development. Accordingilg,&Gompany is considered to be in the developniages

In October 2010, the Company entered into the lseeand Collaboration Agreement with Glaxo Groupiteah, an affiliate of
GlaxoSmithKline PLC (GSK), to develop and commdiz@amigalastat HCI. Under the terms of the Liceard Collaboration Agreement,
GSK received an exclusive worldwide license to dgvemanufacture and commercialize migalastat HCtonsideration of the license gre
the Company received an upfront, license payme#i80fmillion from GSK and is eligible to receivether payments of $173.5 million upon
the successful achievement of development, regylatod commercialization milestones, as well aztelouble-digit royalties on global
sales of migalastat HCI. Potential payments incluppléo (i) $13.5 million related to the attainmeftertain clinical development objectives
and the acceptance of regulatory filings in selemtidwide markets, (i) $80 million related to metlapprovals for migalastat HCI in selected
territories throughout the world, and (iii) $80 haih associated with the achievement of certaies#iresholds. GSK and the Company are
jointly funding development costs in accordancehaih agreed upon development plan. For furtherimétion, se— Note 12.

Collaborative Agreements.”

The Company had an accumulated deficit of approbeéin&270.1 million at December 31, 2011 and apétés incurring losses throu
the year 2012 and beyond. The Company has noteyetrgted commercial sales revenue and has beetodbtal its operating losses to date
through the sale of its redeemable convertiblegorefl stock, issuance of convertible notes, netgads from our initial public offering (IPO)
and subsequent stock offerings, payments from eestturing the terms of the collaboration agreemand other financing arrangements. In
March 2010, the Company sold 4.95 million shareissafommon stock and warrants to purchase 1.8fom#hares of common stock in a
registered direct offering to a select group ofitnsonal investors for net proceeds of $17.1 imill In October 2010, the Company sold
6.87 million shares of its common stock as pathefLicense and Collaboration Agreement with GSKpimceeds of $31 million. The
Company believes that its existing cash and caslvalgnts and short-term investments will be sigfit to cover its cash flow requirements
for 2012.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieste been prepared in accordance with United S{at&s) generally accepted
accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) and include ajustments necessary for the fair presentatioh@fdompany’s financial position for the
periods presented.

Consolidation

The financial statements include the accounts oicAmTherapeutics, Inc. and its wholly owned sulasyd Amicus Therapeutics UK
Limited. All significant intercompany transactioasd balances are eliminated in consolidation. $hissidiary is not material to the overall
financial statements of the Company.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith U.S. GAAP requires management to make egtsiand assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and ligslithe disclosure of contingent assets and liigsilat the date of the financial statements, and
the reported amounts of revenues and expensegdhemneporting periods. Actual results could diffem those estimates.
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The Company considers all highly liquid investmgmischased with a maturity of three months or &gbe date of acquisition, to be
cash equivalents.

Marketable securities consist of fixed income inirrents with a maturity of greater than three moatid other highly liquid
investments that can be readily purchased or sitdjiestablished markets. These investments assifital as available-for-sale and are
reported at fair value on the Company’s balancetsténrealized holding gains and losses are regavithin accumulated other
comprehensive income/ (loss) as a separate compohstockholders’ (deficiency) equity. Fair valisebased on available market
information including quoted market prices, brokedealer quotations or other observable inputs.“Se Note 3. Cash, Cash Equivalents
and Available-For-Sale Securities” for a summarwwedilable-for-sale securities as of December 8112and 2010.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company'’s financial instruments that are exgdseconcentration of credit risk consist primanfycash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities. The Company maintains &b ead cash equivalents in bank accounts, whidimas, exceed federally insured limits.
The Company invests its marketable securitiesgh-gjuality commercial financial instruments. Then@any has not recognized any losses
from credit risks on such accounts during any effibriods presented. The Company believes it isxmbsed to significant credit risk on
cash and cash equivalents or its marketable ssurit

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreaiasacalculated over the estimated
useful lives of the respective assets, which rdraya three to five years, or the lesser of theteslanitial term of the lease or useful life for
leasehold improvements. Assets under capital legeamortized over the terms of the related least®ir estimated useful lives, whiche
is shorter.

The initial cost of property and equipment considtis purchase price and any directly attributatsts of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended uE&penditures incurred after the fixed assets leen put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, are charged to income in thegariahich the costs are incurred. Major replaceimi@mprovements and additions are
capitalized in accordance with Company policy.

I mpairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company performs a review of lotiged assets for impairment when events or chaimgescumstances indicate the carrying ve
of such assets may not be recoverable. If an itidicaf impairment is present, the Company comptresstimated undiscounted future ¢
flows to be generated by the asset to its carrgimgunt. If the undiscounted future cash flows ass khan the carrying amount of the asset,
the Company records an impairment loss equal texbess of the asset’s carrying amount over its/&ue. The fair value is determined
based on valuation techniques such as a compaddair values of similar assets or using a distedrcash flow analysis. There were no
impairment charges recognized during the yearseeBdeember 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when amounts dizeckar realizable and earned. Revenue is corsideyalizable and earned wk
the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evide of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery hasroed or services have been rendered;
(3) the price is fixed or determinable; and (4)ection of the amounts due are reasonably assured.

In multiple element arrangements, revenue is alémtto each separate unit of accounting and edofedsble in an arrangement is
evaluated to determine whether it represents sepandgts of accounting. A deliverable constituteseparate unit of accounting when it has
standalone value and there is no general righttofm for the delivered elements. In instances wheraforementioned criteria are not met,
the deliverable is combined with the undeliverezhednts and the allocation of the arrangement ceradidn and revenue recognition is
determined for the combined unit as a single uihétagounting. Allocation of the consideration igetenined at arrangement inception on the
basis of each unit’s relative selling price. Intameces where there is determined to be a singteofiatcounting, the total consideration is
applied as revenue for the single unit of accogndind is recognized over the period of inceptionugh the date where the last deliverable
within the single unit of accounting is expectedbéodelivered.
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

The Company’s current revenue recognition policidsch were applied in fiscal 2010, provide thalhen a collaboration arrangement
contains multiple deliverables, such as licenserasdarch and development services, the Compargatdls revenue to each separate unit of
accounting based on a selling price hierarchy. S&ikéng price hierarchy for a deliverable is based(i) its vendor specific objective evidence
(VSOE) if available, (ii) third party evidence (TPEVSOE is not available, or (iii) estimated $ed price (BESP) if neither VSOE nor TPE
is available. The Company would establish the VR®g&elling price using the price charged for adiable when sold separately. The TPE
of selling price would be established by evaluatargely similar and interchangeable competitordpiais or services in standalone sales to
similarly situated customers. The best estimatgetiing price would be established consideringriméfactors such as an internal pricing
analysis or an income approach using a discourashl ftow model.

The revenue associated with reimbursements foarelseand development costs under collaboratioreagegats is included in Research
Revenue and the costs associated with these resatileramounts are included in research and develupaxpenses. The Company records
these reimbursements as revenue and not as aicedattesearch and development expenses as the&gnimas not commenced its planned
principal operations (i.e., selling commercial prots) and is a development stage enterprise, thirerdevelopment activities are part of its
ongoing central operations.

The Company'’s collaboration agreement with GSK fles for, and any future collaborative agreemdms@ompany may enter into
also may provide for contingent milestone paymentsrder to determine the revenue recognitiorttiese contingent milestones, the
Company evaluates the contingent milestones ubmgtiteria as provided by the Financial AccountBigndards Boards (FASB) guidance
on the milestone method of revenue recognitiohairiception of a collaboration agreement. Thegatrequires that (i) the Company
determines if the milestone is commensurate witheeiits performance to achieve the milestone ertihancement of value resulting from
the Company’s activities to achieve the milestdiethe milestone be related to past performaaoel, (iii) the milestone be reasonable
relative to all deliverable and payment terms ef ¢bllaboration arrangement. If these criteriamaet then the contingent milestones can be
considered as substantive milestones and will begrdzed as revenue in the period that the milesi®achieved.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company records certain asset and liabilitprioggs under the fair value measurements as ddfindte FASB guidance. Current
FASB fair value guidance emphasizes that fair vadueemarket-based measurement, not an entityfgspeeasurement. Therefore, a fair
value measurement should be determined based @sshenptions that market participants would ugwiting the asset or liability. As a
basis for considering market participant assumgtiarfair value measurements, current FASB guidastablishes a fair value hierarchy that
distinguishes between market participant assumpti@sed on market data obtained from sources indepeof the reporting entity
(observable inputs that are classified within Levklnd 2 of the hierarchy) and the reporting gstiiwn assumptions that market
participants assumptions would use in pricing assetiabilities (unobservable inputs classifiedhin Level 3 of the hierarchy).

Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjustedactive markets for identical assets or liab#itibat the Company has the ability to
access at measurement date. Level 2 inputs aresinfher than quoted prices included in Level 1 #na observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs mayclude quoted prices for similar assets and ligdadliin active markets, as well as inputs that
are observable for the asset or liability (othemntlquoted prices), such as interest rates, fomighange rates, and yield curves that are
observable at commonly quoted intervals. Level@iia are unobservable inputs for the asset ofitighivhich are typically based on an
entity’s own assumptions, as there is little, if any,teglanarket activity. In instances where the deteatidn of the fair value measuremen
based on inputs from different levels of the failue hierarchy, the level in the fair value hiekgravithin which the entire fair value
measurement falls is based on the lowest levelithat is significant to the fair value measureniatrits entirety. The Company’s assessment
of the significance of a particular input to thé faalue measurement in its entirety requires judgimand considers factors specific to the
asset or liability.
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed aethdresearch and development expense consistarfyi of costs related to
personnel, including salaries and other persorelatad expenses, consulting fees and the costitifiés and support services used in drug
development. Assets acquired that are used foarelsand development and have no future alternatieeare expensed as in-process
research and development.

Interest Income and I nterest Expense

Interest income consists of interest earned orCtirapany’s cash and cash equivalents and marketableities. Interest expense
consists of interest incurred on capital leasessa&adred debt.

Other Income and Expenses

Other income includes funds received from the Ur8asury Department in 2010 and 2011 for the QedliT herapeutic Discovery
Projects tax credit and grant program as well @x &redit received from the Internal Revenue Seriin 2009. Other expenses include costs
directly attributable to a planned offering of iempany’s securities that were subsequently witidrduring 2006 and the losses on the
disposal of certain fixed assets.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thditiamethod. Under this method deferred incomeliabilities and assets are
determined based on the difference between thadiabstatement carrying amounts and tax basissdta and liabilities and for operating
losses and tax credit carry forwards, using enatetedates in effect in the years in which theatiéinces are expected to reverse. A valuation
allowance is recorded if it is “more likely thanththat a portion or all of a deferred tax assdt not be realized.

Other Comprehensive | ncome/ (Loss)

Components of other comprehensive income/ (lost)idle unrealized gains and losses on availabledt@-securities and are included
in the statements of changes in stockholders’ aafcy) equity.

Leases

In the ordinary course of business, the Compangrsiiito lease agreements for office space asasddlases for certain property and
equipment. The leases have varying terms and giqrisaand have provisions to extend or renew thsdeagreement, among other terms and
conditions, as negotiated. Once the agreementeisutad, the lease is assessed to determine wihiethierase qualifies as a capital or
operating lease.

When a non-cancelable operating lease includedixey escalation clauses and lease incentivesefarholidays or build-out
contributions, rent expense is recognized on dgirdine basis over the initial term of the leahe excess between the average rental
amount charged to expense and amounts payable tnediease is recorded in accrued expenses.

Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2011, the Company had three staskdemployee compensation plans, which are dedamiore fully in “—Note 6.
Stockholders’ Equity.” The Company applies the failue method of measuring stock-based compensatiuich requires a public entity to
measure the cost of employee services receivextim@ge for an award of equity instruments basetthegrant-date fair value of the award.

69



Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

The Company recognized stock-based compensati@nsgmf $7.8 million, $6.2 million and $8.7 milliam2009, 2010 and 2011,
respectively. The following table summarizes infation related to stock compensation expense rezedtin the income statement (in
millions):

Years Ended
December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Stock compensation expense recognize:
Research and development expe $ 32 % 26 $ 2.6
General and administrative expel 4.€ 3.6 5.8
Total stock compensation exper $ 7.8 $ 6.2 $ 8.7

Basic and Diluted Net L oss Attributable to Common Stockholders per Common Share

The Company calculates net loss per share as aimeasnt of the Company’s performance while giviffga to all dilutive potential
common shares that were outstanding during thetiaggeriod. The Company had a net loss for afiquks presented; accordingly, the
inclusion of common stock options and warrants wdad anti-dilutive. Therefore, the weighted aversigares used to calculate both basic
and diluted earnings per share are the same.

The following table provides a reconciliation oéthumerator and denominator used in computing leasldiluted net loss attributable
to common stockholders per common share (in thalssarcept share amounts):

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Historical

Numerator:

Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (6,567) $ (54,936 $ (44,41)
Denominator

Weighted average common shares outstan— basic and dilute: 22,624,13  27,734,79  34,569,64

Dilutive common stock equivalents would include thikeitive effect of common stock options and watsaior common stock
equivalents. Potentially dilutive common stock egients totaled approximately 4.8 million, 7.0 mitl and 8.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectivelgnatly dilutive common stock equivalents werelaged from the diluted earnings per
share denominator for all periods because of tmirdilutive effect.

Dividends

The Company has not paid cash dividends on itsalagtock to date. The Company currently intendtain its future earnings, if any,
to fund the development and growth of the busimessdoes not foresee payment of a dividend in @epming fiscal period.
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
(a development stage company)
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8¢FASB) amended its guidance on the presentaficomprehensive income in
financial statements to improve the comparabitiynsistency and transparency of financial repordind to increase the prominence of items
that are recorded in other comprehensive income.nBw accounting guidance requires entities torteqmaponents of comprehensive
income in either (1) a continuous statement of aain@nsive income or (2) two separate but conseestatements. The provisions of this
guidance are effective for fiscal years, and intgperiods within those years, beginning after Ddweni5, 2011. We do not anticipate the
adoption of this guidance will have a material ifpan our financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB amended the FASB Accountitajm&ards Codification to converge the fair valuasueement guidance in U.S.
GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standa@bme of the amendments clarify the applicatioexisting fair value measurement
requirements, while other amendments change pkatipanciples in fair value measurement guidameeddition, the amendments require
additional fair value disclosures. The amendmergsé#ective for fiscal years beginning after Debeml5, 2011 and should be applied
prospectively. The Company is currently evaluatimgimpact, if any, that the provisions of the adraents will have on its consolidated
results of operations or financial position.

Segment I nformation

The Company currently operates in one businesseamsigfimcusing on the development and commerciatimatf small molecule, orally
administered therapies to treat a range of humaatgediseases. The Company is not organized bkehand is managed and operated as
one business. A single management team reporte tohief operating decision maker who comprehehsimanages the entire business. The
Company does not operate any separate lines aidrsssor separate business entities with respéstpgooducts. Accordingly, the Company
does not accumulate discrete financial informatidth respect to separate service lines and doekaw@ separately reportable segments.

3. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Available-for-Sale Serities

As of December 31, 2011, the Company held $25.lfamiln cash and cash equivalents and $30.0 mithbavailable-for-sale securities
which are reported at fair value on the Compangiatice sheet. Unrealized holding gains and losgeeported within accumulated other
comprehensive income/(loss) as a separate compohstackholders’ equity. If a decline in the faalue of a marketable security below the
Company’s cost basis is determined to be othertdvaporary, such marketable security is written nloavits estimated fair value as a new
cost basis and the amount of the write-down isuighet] in earnings as an impairment charge. To datg temporary impairment adjustments
have been recorded.

Consistent with the Company’s investment police, @ompany does not use derivative financial insemisiin its investment portfolio.
The Company regularly invests excess operating icegaposits with major financial institutions, neynmarket funds, notes issued by the
U.S. government, as well as fixed income investsmantd U.S. bond funds both of which can be reamlitlghased and sold using established
markets. The Company believes that the marketarising from its holdings of these financial instrents is mitigated as many of these
securities are either government backed or of ttjlegst credit rating.
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Cash and available for sale securities consistédeofollowing as of December 31, 2010 and Decer3tief011 (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2010

Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gain Loss Value
Cash balances $ 2957. $ — 3 — $ 29,57
U.S. government agency securit 12,00( — (9) 11,99:
Corporate debt securiti 42,07t 2 (33 42,04+
Commercial pape 23,47¢ 12 — 23,48¢
Certificate of deposi 35C — — 35C
$ 10747 $ 14 $ (42) $ 107,44!
Included in cash and cash equivale $ 2957. $ — 3 — $ 29,57
Included in marketable securiti 77,90! 14 (42 77,87
Total cash and available for sale securi $ 10747 $ 14 $ (42) $ 107,44

As of December 31, 2011

Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gain Loss Value
Cash balances $ 2566 % —  $ — $  25,66¢
U.S. government agency securit 2,00( — — 2,00(
Corporate debt securiti 13,94: — (8) 13,93¢
Commercial pape 13,731 12 — 13,74¢
Certificate of deposi 35( — — 35C
$ 5569 % 12 $ (8) $  55,70:
Included in cash and cash equivale $ 2566¢ $ — 3 — $  25,66¢
Included in marketable securiti 30,03( 12 (8) 30,03
Total cash and available for sale securi $ 5569% $ 12 $ (8) $ 55,70:

All of the Company’s available for sale investmeasof December 31, 2010 and December 31, 201dugr& one year or less.

Unrealized gains and losses are reported as a g@npof accumulated other comprehensive gain/(lossfockholders’ equity. For the
year ended December 31, 2010, unrealized holdsgekincluded in accumulated other comprehensbeogria was $0.07 million. For tt
year ended December 31, 2011, unrealized holdiirg gacluded in accumulated other comprehensivermewas $4 thousan

For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 20T&, weze no realized gains or losses. The costairgies sold is based on the
specific identification method.

Unrealized loss positions in the available for saleurities as of December 31, 2010 and Decemh&(31l reflect temporary
impairments that have been in a loss positiondss than twelve months and as such are recogmzstumulated other comprehensive gain/
(loss). The fair value of these available for saeurities in unrealized loss positions was $46ltlom and $13.2 million as of December 31,
2010 and December 31, 2011, respectively.
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4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the followingtfiousands):

December 31,

2010 2011
Property and equipment consist of the followi
Computer equipmet $ 2,22¢ % 2,55¢
Computer softwar 694 641
Research equipme 4,83¢ 4,98¢
Furniture and fixture 72€ 1,04(
Leasehold improvemen 2,21¢ 2,722
10,69¢ 11,94¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (8,095 (9,507

$ 2,60/ $ 2,43¢

Included in property and equipment are costs ciag@thpursuant to capital lease obligations of $8ilfion at December 31, 2010.
Depreciation and amortization expense relatindpéocapital lease obligations was $1.9 million, $tillion, and $6.9 million for the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2010, and for the Pegbdury 4, 2002 (inception) to December 31, 2044pectively.

5. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following (in tfends):

December 31,

2010 2011
Accounts payable $ 1971 $ 2,57¢
Accrued professional fe¢ 181 21F
Accrued contract manufacturing & contract resea&asts 2,782 3,48¢
Accrued compensation and bene 2,912 3,16:
Accrued facility cost: 401 65
Accrued othe 43 201

$ 8,29C $ 9,70¢

6. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

As of December 31, 2011, the Company was authotzésbue 125,000,000 shares of common stock. Biddd on common stock will
be paid when, and if declared by the board of tiirsc Each holder of common stock is entitled ttevan all matters and is entitled to one
vote for each share held.

In October 2010 in connection with the License @oflaboration Agreement, GSK purchased approxinga@ed million shares of the
Company’s common stock at $4.56 per share, a 3@ipm on the average price per share of the Conwatnck over a 60 day period
preceding the closing date of the transaction. tote value of this equity investment was approxeha$31 million and represents a 19.8%
ownership position in the Company as of DecembefB11.
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In March 2010, the Company sold 4,946,524 shar@s esbmmon stock and warrants to purchase 1,864B4res of common stock i
registered direct offering to a selected groumefitutional investors through a Registration Steget on Form S that was declared effecti
by the SEC on May 27, 2009. The shares of commurk sind warrants were sold in units consistingref share of common stock and one
warrant to purchase 0.375 shares of common stoglpate of $3.74 per unit. The warrants have @ tefrfour years and are exercisable any
time on or after the six month anniversary of thtedhey were issued, at an exercise price of §ged3hare. The aggregate offering proceeds
were $18.5 million. Leerink Swann LLC served aeguihcement agent for the offering.

Stock Option Plans

In April 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors afthreholders approved the Company’s 2002 Stock©®ptan (the 2002 Plan). In
May 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors and shaiders approved the Company’s 2007 Stock Optian @he 2007 Plan) and 2007
Director Option Plan (the 2007 Director Plan). imd 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors andaf@ders approved amendments to the
2007 Plan and the 2007 Director Plan. Both the 2882 and 2007 Plan provide for the granting ofrieted stock and options to purchase
common stock in the Company to employees, advewotsconsultants at a price to be determined b trapany’s board of directors. The
2002 Plan and the 2007 Plan are intended to engewanership of stock by employees and consultz#rttee Company and to provide
additional incentives for them to promote the sssagf the Company’s business. The Options may dentive stock options (ISOs) or non-
statutory stock options (NSOs). Under the provisioheach plan, no option will have a term in esaafs10 years. The 2007 Director Plan is
intended to promote the recruiting and retentiohighly qualified eligible directors and strengthtbe commonality of interest between
directors and stockholders by encouraging ownemshgommon stock of the Company. The options gnteder the 2007 Director Plan are
NSOs and under the provisions of this plan, noooptill have a term in excess of 10 ye:

The Board of Directors, or its committee, is resgible for determining the individuals to be grantgdions, the number of options each
individual will receive, the option price per shaa@d the exercise period of each option. Optioastgd pursuant to both the 2002 Plan and
the 2007 Plan generally vest 25% on the first weaniversary date of grant plus an additional 1/48tleach month thereafter and may be
exercised in whole or in part for 100% of the sbarested at any time after the date of grant. @ptimder the 2007 Director Plan may be
granted to new directors upon joining the Board aest in the same manner as options under the 2992007 Plans. In addition, options
automatically granted to all directors at each ahmeeting of stockholders and vest on the dateefinnual meeting of stockholders of the
Company in the year following the year during whikla options were granted.

As of December 31, 2011, there were no sharesvexbéor issuance under the 2002 Plan. The Compasydserved up to
5,092,395 shares for issuance under the 2007 Rththa 2007 Director Plan.

The Company recognized stock-based compensatia@nsgmf $7.8 million, $6.2 million and $8.7 milliam2009, 2010 and 2011,
respectively. $2.7 million of additional stock apticompensation expense was recognized in 201tessibh of the change in the terms of the
Chief Executive Officer’s stock options resultirrgrh his resignation and subsequent reappointmehet€hief Executive Officer position.
The following table summarizes information relatedtock compensation expense recognized in tlmriacstatement (in millions):

Years Ended
December 31,

2009 2010 2011

Stock compensation expense recognize:
Research and development expe $ 32 % 26 $ 2.8
General and administrative expel 4.€ 3.6 5.8
Total stock compensation exper $ 7.8 % 6.2 $ 8.7

The Company adopted the fair value method of méaagstock-based compensation, which requires a@eahtity to measure the cost
of employee services received in exchange for ardwf equity instruments based upon the grant{fdatealue of the award. The Company
chose the “straight-line” attribution method fologhating compensation costs and recognized thevéhire of each stock option on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period of the relatsdras.
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The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricingeghwhen estimating the fair value for stock-baaedrds. Use of a valuation
model requires management to make certain assumsptiith respect to selected model inputs. Expeotéatility was calculated based on a
blended weighted average of historical informatiéthe Companys stock and the weighted average of historicalrin&dion of similar publi
entities for which historical information was awdile. The Company will continue to use a blendeigjated average approach using its own
historical volatility and other similar public etytivolatility information until the Company’s higioal volatility is relevant to measure
expected volatility for future option grants. Theeeage expected life was determined using a “siredli method of estimating the expected
exercise term which is the mid-point between th&ting date and the end of the contractual termth&sCompany’s stock price volatility has
been over 75% and we have experienced signifiaasihbss transactions (Shire and GSK collaboratiovs)elieve that we do not have
sufficient reliable exercise data in order to jiysti change in the use of the “simplified” methddestimating the expected exercise term of
employee stock option grants. The risk-free interat® is based on U.S. Treasury, zero-coupon$saith a remaining term equal to the
expected life assumed at the date of grant. Farkstare estimated based on voluntary terminagdavior, as well as a historical analysis of
actual option forfeitures.

The weighted average assumptions used in the BBabkles option pricing model are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Expected stock price volatility 80.€% 80.5% 78.8%
Risk free interest rat 2.4% 2.4% 2.C%
Expected life of options (year 6.2t 6.2 6.2t
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0C $ 0.0 $ 0.0C

The weighted-average grant-date fair value peresbhoptions granted during 2009, 2010 and 201k Wdr83, $2.09 and $4.11,
respectively.

The following table summarizes information abowicktoptions outstanding:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Price Contractual Life Value
(in thousands) (in millions)
Options outstanding, December 31, 2| 3,077.0 % 9.1¢
Grantec 2,352.( % 6.8¢
Exercisec 409 $ 2.0¢
Forfeited (570.0 $ 10.1¢
Options outstanding, December 31, 2| 4,818.¢ $ 8.01
Grantec 788.7 $ 2.9¢
Exercisec (25.9 $ 0.64
Forfeited (477.6) $ 7.9:
Options outstanding, December 31, 2| 5,104.. $ 7.2
Grantec 2,217.( $ 5.9z
Exercisec (108.5) $ 3.8¢
Forfeited (559.0) $ 7.34
Options outstanding, December 31, 2| 6,653.f $ 6.87 72year $ 0.€
Vested and unvested expected to vest, Decemb&031 6,318.( $ 6.9¢ 7.1year $ 0.4
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 3,496.¢ $ 7.9¢ 58year $ 0.4
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The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercidaing the years ended December 31, 2009, 201@@ht, was $0.1 million, $0.1
million and $0.3 million, respectively. As of Decbar 31, 2011, the total unrecognized compensatishrelated to non-vested stock options
granted was $9.2 million and is expected to begeized over a weighted average period of 2.5 y&ash proceeds from stock options
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2009, and 2011 were $0.1 million, $0.02 million &©d4 million respectively.

Restricted Stock Awards Restricted stock awards are granted subject taioamstrictions, including in some cases servaaldions
(restricted stock). The grant-date fair value atrieted stock awards, which has been determineddapon the market value of the
Company’s shares on the grant date, is expensedtmeesting period.

The following table summarizes information on thengpany’s restricted stock:

Restricted Stock

Weighted
Number of Average Grant
Shares Date Fair Value
(in thousands)
Unvested at December 31, 2C 84 % 9.1t
Granted —  $ —
Vested 8.9 $ 9.1¢t
Forfeited — 3 —
Unvested at December 31, 2C —  $ 9.1t
Granted 50.C $ 7.21
Vested (50.0 $ 7.21
Forfeited — 3 —
Unvested at December 31, 2C —  $ —

Upon vesting in 2011, there were 13,225 sharegsdered to fund minimum statutory tax withholdieguirements. There were no
restricted stock awards in 2010, 2009 or 2008. fABexember 31, 2011, there was no unrecognized ensgtion cost related to unvested
restricted stock awards. The total fair value atnieted stock awards which vested during 2011 $¢ag million.

7. Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

The Company'’s financial assets and liabilitiesrasmasured at fair value and classified within thevialue hierarchy which is defined as
follows:

Level 1- Quoted prices in active markets for identicak&ssr liabilities that the Company has the abilityaccess at the
measurement date.

Level 2— Inputs other than quoted prices in active marltetsare observable for the asset or liabilitthesi directly or indirectly.
Level 3- Inputs that are unobservable for the asset boititia
Cash, Money Market Funds and Marketable Securities

The Company classifies its cash and money markelsfwithin the fair value hierarchy as Level 1lesske assets are valued using
quoted prices in active market for identical asaéthe measurement date. The Company considenvé@stments in marketable securities as
available for sale and classifies these assetsniltle fair value hierarchy as Level 2 primarilylining broker quotes in a non-active market
for valuation of these securities. No changes inatéon techniques or inputs occurred during theryamded December 31, 2011. No transfers
of assets between Level 1 and Level 2 of the faine measurement hierarchy occurred during theegm@ded December 31, 2011.
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Secured Debt

As disclosed in Note 13, the Company has a loarsandrity agreement with Silicon Valley Bank. Tlarging amount of the
Company’s borrowings approximates fair value atddeliser 31, 2011. The Company’s secured debt isitiéabas Level 2 and the fair value
is estimated using quoted prices for similar ligike in active markets, as well as inputs thatadrgervable for the liability (other than quoted
prices), such as interest rates that are obseradlclemmonly quoted intervals.

Warrants

The Company allocated $3.3 million of proceeds fitmMarch 2010 registered direct offering to watsaissued in connection with the
offering that was classified as a liability. Thduation of the warrants is determined using thecBi&choles model. This model uses inputs
such as the underlying price of the shares issushwhe warrant is exercised, volatility, risk fieierest rate and expected life of the
instrument. The Company has determined that theawiliability should be classified within Levelo3 the fair value hierarchy by evaluating
each input for the Black-Scholes model againsftdfrevalue hierarchy criteria and using the lowlesel of input as the basis for the fair value
classification. There are six inputs: closing pia¢émicus stock on the day of evaluation; the eise price of the warrants; the remaining
term of the warrants; the volatility of Amicus’ stoover that term; annual rate of dividends; arertbkless rate of return. Of those inputs, the
exercise price of the warrants and the remaining tee readily observable in the warrant agreemdis annual rate of dividends is based
on the Company’s historical practice of not gragitividends. The closing price of Amicus stock wbfall under Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy as it is a quoted price in an active rearkhe riskless rate of return is a Level 2 inmuftjle the historical volatility is a Level 3 ing
in accordance with the fair value accounting guadarsince the lowest level input is a Level 3,@wenpany determined the warrant liability
is most appropriately classified within Level 3tbé fair value hierarchy. This liability is subjdotfair value mark-to-market adjustment each
period. As a result, the Company recognized theghadn the fair value of the warrant liability asmoperating income of $2.8 million for tl
year ended December 31, 2011. The resulting fairevaf the warrant liability at December 31, 2014sv$1.9 million

A summary of the fair value of the Company’s asaets liabilities aggregated by the level in the falue hierarchy within which those
measurements fall as of December 31, 2011 areifideinin the following table (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash/Money market func $ 25,66¢ $ — $  25,66¢
U.S. government agency securit — 2,00( 2,00(
Commercial pape — 13,74¢ 13,74¢
Corporate debt securiti — 13,93¢ 13,93¢
Certificate of deposi — 35C 35C
$ 25,66¢ $ 30,03¢ $  55,70:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Liabilities:
Secured dek $ — 3 1,04¢  $ — 3 1,04¢
Warrants liability — — 1,94¢ 1,94¢
$ — 3 1,04¢  $ 1,94¢ $ 2,992

The following table summarizes the changes in L&8J&bility for the year ended December 31, 20hlti{ousands):

Balance as of  (Decrease)/increas Balance as of

December 31, December 31,
2010 in fair value 2011
Warrant liability $ 4,71z $ (2,769 $ 1,94¢

8. 401(k) Plan

The Company has a 401(k) plan (the Plan) covetingigible employees. During 2007, the Board ofdaitors approved a company
matching program that began on January 1, 2008 n¥dtehing program allows for a company match ofau$% of salary and bonus paid
during the year. The match vests 25% per yeardiff esting schedule over the first four yearseofiployment for each participant. The
Company’s total contribution to the Plan was $0illion, $0.4 million and $0.6 million for the yeaemded December 31, 2009, 2010 and
2011, respectively.
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9. Leases
Operating Leases

The Company leases its facilities in Cranbury, NJ these leases will expire in February 2012. 168 @he Company entered into a
lease agreement for its laboratory and office sjra&an Diego, CA, which will expire in Septembé@r3. Rent expenses for the Company’s
facilities are recognized over the term of the éed$he Company recognizes rent starting when psissesf the facility is taken from the
landlord. When a lease contains a predetermined féscalation of the minimum rent, the Companygeizes the related rent expense on a
straight-line basis and records the difference betwthe recognized rental expense and the amoayable under the lease as deferred rent
liability. Tenant leasehold improvement allowanaes reflected in accrued expenses on the consafidatlance sheets and are amortized
reduction to rent expense in the statement of dip@saover the term of the lease.

On August 16, 2011 the Company entered into a lagesement to lease approximately 73,646 squatefdéaboratory and office spa
in Cranbury, New Jersey (Premises) beginning orchlar 2012 subject to substantial completion ofgfenises. All employees in the
current Cranbury, NJ locations will relocate to gremises. The initial term of the lease runs &wes years and may be extended by us for
two additional five-year periods.

At December 31, 2011, aggregate annual future mimirtease payments under these leases are as f¢itoth®usands):

Operating Lease
Years ending December 2

2012 $ 1,76¢
2013 1,472
2014 1,54(
2015 1,63¢
2016 and beyon 5,58(

$ 11,99

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2000,and 2011 were $2.5 million, $2.3 million &®&3 million, respectively.
Capital Lease Facilities

In August 2002, the Company entered into finaneiggeements that provide for up to $1 million ofipgqent financing through Augu
2004. The facility was increased to $3 million irajof 2005 and to $5 million in November 2006. Thésancing arrangements include
interest of approximately 9-12%, and lease termspa 48 months. Eligible assets under the ldass include laboratory and scientific
equipment, computer hardware and software, genffieé equipment, furniture, and leasehold improeeis. As of December 31, 2011 the
leases have been paid in full.

10. Income Taxes

In June 2006, the FASB issued a single model toemddaccounting for uncertainty in tax positiorise Thodel clarifies the accounting for
income taxes, by prescribing a minimum recognittmeshold a tax position is required to meet bebwiag recognized in the financial
statements. It also provides guidance on de-retiognimeasurement, and classification of amouri&ding to uncertain tax positions,
accounting for and disclosure of interest and gé&slaccounting in interim periods and disclosuesgiired. The Company adopted the
FASB requirements as of January 1, 2007 and datedithat it did not have a material impact on tbenfanys financial position and resu
of operations. The Company did not recognize isteve penalties related to income tax during théogeended December 31, 2011 and did
not accrue for interest or penalties as of DecerBlheR011. The Company does not have an accruahfgrtain tax positions as of
December 31, 2011. Tax returns for all years 20@bthereafter are subject to future examinatiotalzyauthorities.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net effect ofterary difference between the carrying amountsseéts and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢armpurposes. The significant components of therded tax assets and liabilities are as
follows (in thousands):

For Years Ended
December 31,

2010 2011
Current deferred tax ass
Non-cash stock issu $ 452 % 6,74¢
Others 165 (236)
4,68¢ 6,50¢
Non-current deferred tax asst
Amortization/depreciatiol 4,07( 3,791
Research tax crec 13,94: 4,32¢
Net operating loss carry forwar 32,08( 48,93(
Deferred revenu 12,91: 10,98t
Others 834 662
Total deferred tax ass 68,52« 75,20:
Non-current deferred tax liabilit — —
Total net deferred tax ass 68,52« 75,20:
Less valuation allowanc (68,524 (75,207
Net deferred tax ass $ — 3 —

The Company records a valuation allowance for teayaifferences for which it is more likely thaotrthat the Company will not
receive future tax benefits. At December 31, 2@1@, 2011, the Company recorded valuation allowaot&68.5 million and $75.2 million,
respectively, representing an decrease in the tratuallowance of $4.2 million in 2010 and an irese of $6.7 million in 2011, due to the
uncertainty regarding the realization of such defétax assets, to offset the benefits of net diperéosses generated during those years.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company had fedexhktate net operating loss carry forwards (NOLsyp@droximately $113 million
and $179 million, respectively. The federal caogfard will begin to expire in 2026 and will end2032. The state carry forward acquired
prior to 2009, will begin to expire in 2013 and &hd in 2017. The state carry forwards that beg®910 and those generated in 2011 will
expire in 2031 and 2032, respectively, due to aaghan the New Jersey state law regarding the pertading loss carry forward period.
Utilization of NOLs may be subject to a substargiahual limitation in the event of an ownershipraathat has occurred previously or cc
occur in the future pursuant to Section 382 oflttiernal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, asawslmilar state provisions. An
ownership change may limit the amount of NOLs tiaat be utilized annually to offset future taxalsleame and tax, and may, in turn, result
in the expiration of a portion of those carry fordsbefore utilization. In general, an ownershiprae, as defined by Section 382, results
from transactions that increase the ownership d&iteshareholders or public groups in the stocl obrporation by more than 50 percentage
points over a three year period. The Company caimgle detailed study of its NOLs and determinetldkaa result of the Registered Direct
Offering in March 2010, there was an ownership glean excess of 50% and the federal NOLs and researd development credits subject
to the 382 limitations were written down to theét mealizable value. Additionally, the Company deti@ed that the annual limitation on the
utilization of the pre-ownership change loss arsgaech and development credits will be approxingeal0 million.
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A reconciliation of the statutory tax rates and ¢fffective tax rates for the years ended Decembg2@09, 2010 and 2011 are as
follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Statutory rate (39)% (34)% (39)%
State taxes, net of federal ben (©)] (8) (13
Permanent adjustmer 19 51 3
R&D credit (66) 4 —
Other 4 — 2
Valuation allowanct 80 (7) 34
Net 0% (2% (8)%

There was a federal benefit in 2009 from refundabdearch credits of approximately $0.1 millioneT®ompany recognized a tax
benefit of $1.1 million and $3.6 million in conn&xt with the sale of net operating losses and rebeand development credits in the New
Jersey Transfer Program for the years ended Deae3ih@010 and 2011 respectively.

11. Licenses

The Company acquired rights to develop and commkzeiits product candidates through licenses grhhy various parties. The
following summarizes the Company’s material riggutsl obligations under those licenses:

Mt. Sinai School of Medicine of New York Univer§id§SM)}— The Company acquired exclusive worldwide patggttts to develop
and commercialize migalastat HCI, afegostat tartesid AT2220 and other pharmacological chaperaraté prevention or treatment of
human diseases or clinical conditions by increatiegactivity of wild-type and mutant enzymes pairsiio a license agreement with MSSM.
In connection with this agreement, the Companyeds282,266 shares of common stock to MSSM in A812. In 2006, the Company
amended its license agreement with MSSM to expanekclusive worldwide patent rights to develop aathmercialize pharmacological
chaperones. In connection with the amendment, dregany paid $1.0 million and issued 133,333 shaffé&s common stock with an
estimated fair value of $1.2 million to MSSM. Irtdah the Company recorded $2.2 million of reseancti development expense in connection
with the amendment in 2006. This agreement expipes expiration of the last of the licensed patagiits, which will be in 2019, subject to
any patent term extension that may be granted)®4 ¥ the Company develops a product for combamatherapy (pharmacological
chaperone plus ERT) and a patent issues from theiqg application covering combination therapy,jeabto any patent term extension that
may be granted. Under this agreement, to date dinep@ny has paid no upfront or annual license fadshas no milestone or future payme
other than royalties on net sales. On October B@82the Company amended and restated its licgreerment with MSSM which
consolidated previous amendments into a singleeagegat, clarified the portion of royalties and mitese payments the Company received
from Shire that were payable to MSSM, and provitedCompany with the sole right to control the pmgion of patent rights described in
the amended and restated license agreement. Unedtarins of the amended and restated license agneeiime Company agreed to pay $2.6
million to MSSM in connection with the $50 milliarpfront payment that the Company received fromeSiniiNovember 2007, which was
already accrued for at December 31, 2007 and aiti@uhl $2.6 million paid in the fourth quarter 2908 for the sole right to and control o
the prosecution of patent rights. In accordancé thie Company'’s license agreement with MSSM, then@amy paid $3 million of the $30
million upfront payment received from GSK pursumthe License and Collaboration Agreement to MS8Mecember 2010. These
payments to MSSM are classified as research anelg@went expenses in the Company’s financial statésn
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University of Maryland, Baltimore County— The Company acquired exclusive U.S. patent sigihidevelop and commercialize
afegostat tartrate for the treatment of Gaucheayadie from the University of Maryland, Baltimore @Gtu Under this agreement, the Comp
paid upfront and annual license fees of $45 thadisahich were expensed as research and develomrpanse. The Company is required to
make a milestone payment upon the demonstratisafety and efficacy of afegostat tartrate for teatment of Gaucher disease in a Phase 2
study, and another payment upon receiving FDA aprior afegostat tartrate for the treatment of Gear disease. Upon satisfaction of both
milestones, the Company could be required to maki® $0.2 million in aggregate payments. The Corgpalso required to pay royalties
on net sales. This agreement expires upon expirafithe last of the licensed patent rights in 2015

Novo Nordisk A/S— The Company acquired exclusive patent rightseteetbp and commercialize afegostat tartrate fohnathan
indications. Under this agreement, to date the Gompaid $0.4 million in license fees which werp@xsed as research and development
expense. The Company is also required to make tmilegpayments based on clinical progress of afagtatrate, with a payment due after
initiation of a Phase 3 clinical trial for afegastartrate for the treatment of Gaucher disease agpayment due upon each filing for regula
approval of afegostat tartrate for the treatmer@aticher disease in any of the US, Europe or Ja&paadditional payment is due upon
approval of afegostat tartrate for the treatmer@aticher disease in the U.S. and a payment islals@pon each approval of afegostat tar
for the treatment of Gaucher disease in either paiar Japan. Assuming successful development gbafat tartrate for the treatment of
Gaucher disease in the U.S., Europe and Japahntit¢atone payments would be $7.8 million. The @amy is also required to pay royalties
on net sales. This license will terminate in 2016.

Under its license agreements, if the Company owgslties on net sales for one of its products teentban one of the above licensors,
then it has the right to reduce the royalties oteedne licensor for royalties paid to another. @heount of royalties to be offset is generally
limited in each license and can vary under eacheaagent. For migalastat HCl and AT2220, the Compeitiyowe royalties only to MSSM
and will owe no milestone payments. The Companylevexpect to pay royalties to all three licensoithwespect to afegostat tartrate should
the Company advance it to commercialization.

The Companys rights with respect to these agreements to dp\aid commercialize migalastat HCI, afegostatatetand AT2220 me
terminate, in whole or in part, if the Company$aib meet certain development or commercializatimuirements or if the Company does
meet its obligations to make royalty payments.

12. Collaborative Agreements
GSK

On October 28, 2010, the Company entered into tbenise and Collaboration Agreement with Glaxo Grbumpited, an affiliate of
GSK, to develop and commercialize migalastat H@Idé&r the terms of the License and CollaborationeaAgrent, GSK received an exclusive
worldwide license to develop, manufacture and corarakize migalastat HCI. In consideration of theelise grant, the Company received an
upfront, license payment of $30 million from GSkdas eligible to receive further payments of appmately $173.5 million upon the
successful achievement of development, regulatodycammercialization milestones, as well as tietedbledigit royalties on global sales
migalastat HCI. Potential payments include up ¥&13.5 million related to the attainment of cenrtelinical development objectives and the
acceptance of regulatory filings in select worldevidarkets, (ii) $80 million related to market apgis for migalastat HCI in selected
territories throughout the world, and (iii) $80 hwih associated with the achievement of certairs#iiresholds. GSK and the Company are
jointly funding development costs in accordancehwaih agreed upon development plan. The Companyetub@% of the development co
in 2011 and will fund only 25% of the developmeosts in 2012 and beyond, subject to annual andeggtg caps. Additionally, GSK
purchased approximately 6.9 million shares of thenfanys common stock at $4.56 per share, a 30% premiutheoaverage price per sh.
of the Company’s stock over a 60 day period prewgthie closing date of the transaction. The tad#ie of this equity investment to the
Company was approximately $31 million and represarit9.8% ownership position in the Company asexfdinber 31, 2011. Under the
terms of the collaboration agreement, while the Gany will collaborate with GSK, GSK will have deicis-making authority over clinical,
regulatory and commercial matters. Additionally,kG8ill have primary responsibility for interactiongth regulatory agencies and
prosecuting applications for marketing and reimborent approvals worldwide.
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In accordance with the revenue recognition guidaalzed to multiple-element arrangements, the Gowjpdentified all of the
deliverables at the inception of the agreement. Sidpeificant deliverables were determined to bevibbedwide licensing rights to migalastat
HCI, the technology and “know how” transfer of mimstat HC| development to date, the delivery of@menpany’s common stock and the
research services to continue and complete thdajawent of migalastat HCI. The Company determired the worldwide licensing rights,
the technology and “know howifansfer together with the research services repteme unit of accounting as none of these thedeetables
on its own has standalone value separate fromthlier.oThe Company also determined that the delivéthie Company’s common stock does
have standalone value separate from the worldviégeding rights, the technology and “know how” st and the research services. As a
result, the Company’s common stock is considerseiparate unit of accounting and was accountedsfanassuance of common stock.
However, as the Company’s common stock was sadoaeémium to the market closing price, the premamount paid over the market
closing price was considered as additional conatder paid to the Company for the collaboratioreagnent and was included as
consideration for the single unit of accountingniifiteed above.

The total arrangement consideration which was atkxt to the single unit of accounting identifiedad was $33.2 million which
consists of the upfront license payment of $30iamland the premium over the closing market pricéne common stock transaction of $3.2
million. The Company will recognize this considévatas Collaboration Revenue on a straight-linesbager the development period of 5.2
years as included in the detailed development fflatwas included in the collaboration agreemehé Tompany determined that the ove
level of activity over the development period apjimates a straight-line approach. For the year @f2kcember 31, 2011, the Company
recognized approximately $6.6 million of the taalangement consideration as Collaboration Revenue.

The Company evaluated the contingent milestondaded in the collaboration agreement at the inceptif the collaboration agreem
and determined that the contingent milestonesarstantive milestones and will be recognized asneg in the period that the milestone is
achieved. The Company determined that the resémsdd milestones are commensurate with the enhaatgsl of each delivered item as a
result of the Company’specific performance to achieve the milestonberdis considerable effort underway to meet tleeifipd milestone
and complete the development of migalastat HCl.ikalthlly, there is considerable time and effosadived in evaluating the data from the
clinical trials that are planned and underway dratceptable, in preparing the documentation regiior filing for approval with the
applicable regulatory authorities. The researclethasilestones would relate to past performanceswalhieved and are reasonable relative
to the other payment terms within the collaboraigneement, including the $30 million upfront paytnend the cost sharing arrangement.

Shire

In November 2007, the Company entered into a cotlion agreement with Shire. Under the agreentieatCompany and Shire were
jointly developing the Compa’s three lead pharmacological chaperone compoumdgsimsomal storage disorders: migalastat HCI, adey
tartrate and AT2220. The Company granted Shireitfints to commercialize these products outsidd & and retained all rights to its other
programs and to develop and commercialize migalalth afegostat tartrate and AT2220 in the U.S.

The Company received an initial, non-refundablerige fee payment of $50 million from Shire. Joelopment costs toward global
approval of the three compounds were being shad&D5In addition, the Company was eligible to reeemilestone payments if certain
clinical and regulatory and sales-based milestarege met. The Company was also eligible to rectéred doubledigit royalties on net sal
of the products marketed outside of the U.S.

In October 2009, the Company and Shire agreed taatiy terminate the collaboration agreement upamctuding that it was in their
respective best interests to no longer collabaratthe development of the Company’s three leadrpaeological chaperone compounds for
the treatment of lysosomal storage disorders. Aesalt of this termination, Amicus reacquired adllzal development and commercialization
rights from Shire for these lead programs. Shiiid gfge Company $5.2 million as full and final paymhér amounts due to the Company
under the collaboration agreement, and both pastée relieved of all other future obligations #a@nder, financial or otherwise.
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13. Short-Term Borrowings and Long-Term Debt

In May 2009, the Company entered into a loan andritg agreement with Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) thovides for up to $4 million
of equipment financing through October 2012 (the02 Loan Agreement”). Borrowings under the agredraes collateralized by equipment
purchased with the proceeds of the loan and b&zanest at a fixed rate of approximately 9%. The®D6an Agreement contained customary
terms and conditions, including a financial covenanereby the Company must maintain a minimum arhofiiquidity measured at the end
of each month where unrestricted cash, cash e@guitsaland marketable securities, is greater tham$lion plus outstanding debt due to
SVB.

In addition, the Company committed to a second krash security agreement with SVB in August 201# (2011 Loan Agreement”) in
order to finance certain capital expenditures gdited to be made by the Company in connection igthlanned move in March 2012
following the expiration of its current leases &fice and laboratory space in Cranbury, New Jer§ag 2011 Loan Agreement provides for
up to $3 million of equipment financing through dary 2014. Borrowings under the 2011 Loan Agreemeatollateralized by equipment
purchased with the proceeds of the loan and béenest at a variable rate of SVB prime + 2.5%. Thent SVB prime rate is 4.0%. The
2011 Loan Agreement contains the same financiaticant as the 2009 Loan Agreement. The Companytladistianes been in compliance
with these covenants during the term of both agesem

At December 31, 2011, the current amount due uthde2009 Loan Agreement was $1.0 million. Thereews amounts currently due
under the 2011 Loan Agreement at December 31, ZlHe carrying amount of the Company’s borrowinggragimates fair value at
December 31, 2011.

The remaining future minimum payments due as ofdbder 31, 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December &

2012 $ 1,08(

1,08(

Less payments for intere (36)

Total principal obligatior 1,04«

Less sho~term portion (1,049
Long-term portion $ —

14. Restructuring Charges

In October 2009, the Company announced a work-fazdaction of approximately 20 percent, or 26 empés, as a part of a corporate
restructuring, with reductions occurring acrosdealkls and organizations within the Company. Theasure was intended to reduce costs
to align the Company'’s resources with its key styat priorities. The Company recorded restructudhgrges of $0.9 million during the
fourth quarter of 2009 for employment terminatia@sts payable in cash in connection with the woddaeduction. There were no
restructuring charges related to employment tertiinaosts unpaid at December 31, 2011. There we@dditional restructuring costs
incurred in 2011.

In December 2009, the Company initiated and coraglatfacilities consolidation effort, closing orfats subleased locations in
Cranbury, NJ. The Company recorded a charge of i®0lion during the fourth quarter of 2009 for mimim lease payments of $0.5 million
and the write-down of fixed assets in the facility.
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The following table summarizes the restructuringrges and utilization for the year ended DecemteRB11 (in thousands):

Balance Balance
as of as of
December 31, Cash December 31,
2010 Charges Payments Adjustments 2011
Employment termination costs $ — 3 — $ — 3 — 3 —
Facilities consolidatiol 26¢ — (230 — 38
Total $ 266 $ — % (230) $ — 3 38

15. Subsequent Events

The Company evaluated events that occurred subseguBecember 31, 2011 and there were no matecalnized or non-recognized
subsequent events during this period.

16. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited in thousands except per share data)

Quarters Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2010
Net loss (13,17¢) (11,319 (15,357 (15,089
Basic and diluted net loss per common shari (0.59 (0.47) (0.5¢) (0.4¢)
2011
Net loss (13,35() (12,647) (9,759 (8,662)
Basic and diluted net loss per common shari (0.39) (0.37) (0.2¢) (0.25)

(1) Per common share amounts for the quarterswhgefars have been calculated separately. Accghgiguarterly amounts do not add to
the annual amounts because of differences on thghtee-average common shares outstanding durirty er@od principally due to the
effect of the Company issuing shares of its comstook during the yea
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE.

None.
Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our ppatexecutive officer and principal financial affir, evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures as of DeeeBih 2011. The term “disclosure controls and @doces,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls amet procedures of a company that are designedstorethat information requir
to be disclosed by us in the reports that we filsubmit under the Exchange Act is recorded, psrrissummarized and reported within the
time periods specified in the SEC rules and fordisclosure controls and procedures include, wittiouitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by a company in the reports that it fdlesubmits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the compamanagement, including its principal executive pridcipal financial officers, as appropri
to allow timely decisions regarding required disciee. Management recognizes that any controls eowg@ures, no matter how well desig
and operated, can provide only reasonable assuddraahieving their objectives and management reeciyg applies its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possitdntrols and procedures. Based on the evaluatioar disclosure controls and procedures
as of December 31, 2011, our principal executifieef and principal financial officer concluded thas of such date, our disclosure controls
and procedures were effective at the reasonableaas= level.

There have been no changes in our internal cortkals financial reporting during the fourth quartéthe year ended December 31,
2011 that have materially affected, or are readlgrildely to materially affect, our internal contsoover financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securkeshange Act of 1934, as amended. Our internalrobsystem was designed to provide
reasonable assurance to our management and bodiréaibrs regarding the reliability of financi@porting and the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements in accordancle WiS. generally accepted accounting principlesaBse of its inherent limitations, inten
control over financial reporting may not preventietect misstatements. Projections of any evaloatieeffectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadegbecause of changes in conditions, or thadégese of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Det®mn31, 2011, using the criteria
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohthe Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Caolrlintegrated Framework.
Management’s assessment included an evaluatidreafdsign of our internal control over financigloging and testing of the operational
effectiveness of those controls. Based on thisuati@n, management has concluded that our inteordtol over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2011.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Ill is omitte]dm this Annual Report on Form 10-K as we intémdile our definitive proxy
statement for our 2011 annual meeting of stockhe|drirsuant to Regulation 14A of the Securitiestaxge Act, not later than 120 days
after the end of the fiscal year covered by thisidal Report on Form 10-K, and certain informatioé included in the proxy statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
Executive Officers
The following table sets forth certain informatimgarding our current executive officers as of baby 23, 2012.

John F. Crowleyhas served as Chairman and Chief Executive Offitere February 2011, Chairman, President and Ehxe€utive
Officer since February 2010 and President and Getutive Officer since January 2005, and hassdseed as a Director of Amicus since
August 2004, with the exception of the period frBaptember 2006 to March 2007 when he was not &eofr director of Amicus while he
was in active duty service in the United StatesyN@®eserve) and February 2011 to August 2011whetdichaot serve as an officer of
Amicus. He was President and Chief Executive OffafeOrexigen Therapeutics, Inc. from September32@0December 2004. Mr. Crowley
was President and Chief Executive Officer of NovagyPharmaceuticals, Inc., from March 2000 untit teanpany was acquired by
Genzyme Corporation in September 2001; thereaéieselved as Senior Vice President of Genzyme Thategs until December 2002.

Mr. Crowley received a B.S. degree in Foreign SErfiom Georgetown University’s School of Foreigméce, a J.D. from the University of
Notre Dame Law School, and an M.B.A. from HarvatgsiBess Schoa

David J. Lockhart Ph.D., has served as Chief Scientific Officecsidanuary 2006. Prior to joining Amicus, Dr. Loaktserved as
President, Chief Scientific Officer and co-found&Ambit Biosciences, a biotechnology company sgleging in small molecule kinase
inhibitors, from March 2001 to July 2005. Dr. Loekhserved as a consultant to Ambit Bioscience® ffagust 2000 to March 2001, and ¢
visiting scholar at the Salk Institute for BiologlcStudies from October 2000 to March 2001. Paathit, Dr. Lockhart served in various
positions, including Vice President of Genomicsdash at Affymetrix, and was the Director of Gencsrat the Genomics Institute of the
Novartis Research Foundation from February 1929ty 2000. He received his Ph.D. from Stanford @rsity and was a pc-doctoral
fellow at the Whitehead Institute for Biomedicaldearch at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology

S. Nicole Schaeffdras served as Senior Vice President, Human Resoanckl eadership Development since August 2008, it
thereto, as Vice President, Human Resources amdkrs#p Development since March 2005. From 2000, she served as Senior
Director, Human Resources, for three portfolio canmips of Flagship Ventures, a venture capital faind in that capacity she managed
human resources for three life sciences compakfissSchaeffer received her B.A. from the UniversifyRochester and her M.B.A. from
Boston University.

Bradley L. Campbelhas served as Chief Business Officer since Feb2@t2. From January 2010 to February 2012 he sexy&knio
Vice President, Business Operations. From May 200Anuary 2010, he served as Vice President, BssiRlanning and from April 2006
until May 2007, he served as Senior Director, BestnDevelopment. From 2002 until 2006, Mr. Campdrtved as Senior Product Manager
and later Business Director of CV Gene TherapyeatiZgme Corporation. Mr. Campbell received his Brém Duke University and his
M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.

John R. Kirkhas served as Vice President, Regulatory Affairsesdanuary 1, 2008. Prior to joining Amicus, Mirkkserved as
Executive Director, Regulatory Affairs at AegeriBharmaceuticals. From 2003 to 2007, Mr. Kirk hetdipons of increasing responsibility
with Esperion Therapeutics which was acquired dptinis time by Pfizer. From 2000 to 2002, Mr. Kidas Director, Worldwide Regulatory
Affairs for Pfizer Global Research and Developmé&nbm 1988 to 2000, Mr. Kirk held various Regulgtpositions with Parke-Davis
Pharmaceutical Research. Mr. Kirk holds both hiSMnd B.S. from Wright State University in Ohio.

Geoffrey P. Gilmordas served as Senior Vice President, General CoandeSecretary since March 2008. Prior to joindmgicus,
from 2003 to 2008, Mr. Gilmore was in the Law Depaent at Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, where mesently he served as Vice
President and Senior Counsel. From 2002 to 2003@EUimore was a Senior Attorney at Wyeth Pharmdcelst From 1997 to 2002,
Mr. Gilmore held various positions in the law depant of Bristol Myers Squibb Company. Prior tajoig Bristol-Myers Squibb Company,
Mr. Gilmore was an associate with the law firmsll&d Spahr Andrews & Ingersoll, LLP, where he pi@ed in the Business and Finance
Group, and Montgomery, McCracken, Walker & Rhoads?, where he practiced in the Corporate & Seasiteroup. Mr. Gilmore received
his B.A. from Franklin and Marshall College, and GiD. from University of Michigan Law School.
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Pol F. BoudesM.D., has served as Chief Medical Officer sinceudam 2009. Prior to joining Amicus, from 2004 to020 Dr. Boudes
served as Vice President, Global Clinical DevelopnWomen'’s Health Care US at Bayer HealthCare Pheentticals (formerly Berlex,
Inc.). From 1990 to 2004, Dr. Boudes served intpss of increasing responsibility with the Wyetlyekst Research division of Wyeth both
in Philadelphia, PA and in Europe, with HoffmannfRache, and with Pasteur Merieux serums & vacdine® sanofi-aventis). Dr. Boudes
received his M.D. from the University of Aix-Mardles, France, completed his internship and resigém&/arseilles and in Paris, France and
was an Assistant Professor of Medicine at the Usityeof Paris. Dr. Boudes is specialized in Endualogy and Metabolic Diseases, Internal
Medicine, and Geriatric diseases. Dr. Boudes pradtmedicine in this capacity in academic hospitafsrance where he also participated in
multiple clinical research programs as an investiga

Enrique Diloné, Ph.D., RAC, has served as Vice President, Teahfliperations since January 2011. From August 2009nuary
2011, he served as Senior Director, Quality Coretral Analytical Chemistry. Prior to joining Amicu3r. Diloné served as Executive
Director of Quality and Analytics at NovaDel Phatrraaspecialty pharmaceutical company developinbsmay formulations, from February
2007 to August 2009. Dr. Diloné served as Senioe®@or/Director of Analytical Operations at OSI/Eyeh Pharmaceuticals from February
2002 to December 2006. He received a Ph.D. and.&n, ldoth in Chemistry, from Seton Hall Universijd a B.A. in Chemistry from New
York University. He is also certified in US Regulat Affairs.

Ken Valenzano, Ph.Dhas served as Vice President, Pharmacology singe2BtE0. From July 2005 to May 2010, he served aso®e
Director and Director, Pharmacology. Prior to jamiAmicus, Dr. Valenzano served in a variety oéntific leadership roles at Purdue
Pharma from 1999-2005. He received a Ph.D. fronjdim Pharmacology program of Rutgers Universitg &niversity of Medicine and
Dentistry of NJ, Robert Wood Johnson Medical Scliwdl995. He received a B.S. in Biology from Vilara University.

Kenneth W. Peist, Esghas served as Vice President, Intellectual Rtggince January 2011 and, prior thereto, as $&irector,
Intellectual Property since December 2007. FronB1t®2007, he held a variety of legal positionBrastol-Myers Squibb Co., Vitae
Pharmaceuticals and ExxonMobil. Mr. Peist receilisd).D. from Seton Hall University School of Law1998 and a B.S. from Old
Dominion University in 1986.

Daphne Quimi has served as Corporate Controller since JarRH® and and, prior thereto, as Director of AccognPolicy and
External Reporting since September 2007. From @ct2005 to September 2007, Ms. Quimi worked att8Iridlyers Squibb where she
served as Director of Consolidations and Exterregdd®ting. Ms. Quimi is a certified public accourttanNew Jersey and a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountaiatsd the Institute of Management Accountants. Msm@received a B.S. in Accountancy
from Monmouth University and an M.B.A from the Ste8chool of Business of New York University.

The other information required by this item is irporated by reference from the definitive proxytetaent which Amicus will file with
the Securities and Exchange Commission no later 128 days after December 31, 2011 (the “ProxyeStant”), under the captions
“Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) BenefitDwnership Reporting Compliance.”

In 2007, we adopted a Code of Business Ethics amdi@ct for Employees, Executive Officers and Dioesthat applies to our
employees, officers and directors and incorporatdaiines designed to deter wrongdoing and to ptertite honest and ethical conduct and
compliance with applicable laws and regulationsaddition, the code of ethics incorporates our glings pertaining to topics such as
conflicts of interest and workplace behavior. Weéhposted the text of our code on our website atwamicustherapeutics.coim connectiol
with “Investors/Corporate Governance” materialsadiaition, we intend to promptly disclose (1) ttedume of any amendment to our code of
ethics that applies to our principal executivea#fi principal financial officer, principal accoung officer or controller, or persons perform
similar functions and (2) the nature of any waiwecjuding an implicit waiver, from provision of ogode of ethics that is granted to one of
these specified officers, the name of such perduomie granted the waiver and the date the waivesusrwebsite in the future.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item is incorpeby reference from the Proxy Statement undecadpé&on “Executive Compensation
— Compensation Discussion and Analysis.”
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The information required by this item is incorp@chby reference from the Proxy Statement undecdp&ons “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Reelateckholder Matters” and “Equity CompensatiomRizormation.”

ltem 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item is incorp@cby reference from the Proxy Statement undecdpéons “Certain Relationships
and Related Transactions,” “Director Independent@gmmittee Compensation and Meetings of the Badidirectors,” and “Compensation
Committee Interlock and Insider Participation.”

ltem 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item is incorp@aby reference from the Proxy Statement undecdpéion “Ratification of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.”
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PART IV

ltem 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

(@) 1. Consolidated Financial Statemet
The Consolidated Financial Statements are filgobasof this report.
2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are noinegjor because the required information is inctliethe Consolidated Financial
Statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
Exhibit Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist. X
3.2 Restated B-laws of the Registran S-1/A (332-141700) 4/27/07 3.4
4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate evidencing shares ofmomstocl  S-1(333-141700) 3/30/07 4.1
4.2 Third Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agre¢naatec  S-1(333-141700)
as of September 13, 2006, as amer 3/30/0: 4.3
4.3 Form of Warran Form &K 2/25/1( 4.1
10.1 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forfnegiion S-1/A (333-141700)
agreements thereunc 4/27/07 10.1

+10.2 Amended and Restated License Agreement, dated &¢t®b, Form 10-K

2008, by and between the Registrant and Mount Sicaool o

Medicine of New York Universit' 2/6/09 10.3
+10.3 License Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2003, thpatween S-1(333-141700)

the Registrant and University of Maryland, Baltim@ounty,

as amende 3/30/0: 104
+10.4 Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of June®,20y and S-1(333-141700)
between the Registrant and Novo Nordisk, . 3/30/07 10.5
10.5 Sublease Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2005, thy an S-1(333-141700)
between the Registrant and Purdue Pharma, 3/30/0: 10.6
10.€ Letter Agreement, dated as of December 19, 200ankly S-1(333-141700)
between the Registrant and David Lockhart, P 3/30/0: 10.10
10.7 Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreent S-1(33:-141700) 3/30/07 10.17
10.€ Restricted Stock Agreement, dated as of March 8720y anc ~ S-1/A (333-141700)
between the Registrant and Glenn P. Sblenc 4/27/07 10.21
10.¢ Lease Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2006, bybatwleen S-1/A (333-141700)
the Registrant and Cedar Brook Il Corporate Celhtér, 4/27/07 10.22
10.1C Amended and Restated 2007 Director Option Plarf@ma of Form 8K Current Repo
option agreemer 6/18/1( 10.2
10.11 2007 Employee Stock Purchase F S-1/A (33:-141700) 5/17/0% 10.24
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing Filed with this

No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
10 .1- Lease Agreement dated as of September 11, 2008cpetween  Form 8-K
the Registrant and A/G Touchstone, TP, LI Current Repo  9/15/08 10.1
+10 .1: First Amendment to lease dated April 18, 2011 by lbetween th
Registrant and A/G Touchstone, TP, L X
10 .1« Letter Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2008nbybetwee  Form 8-K
the Registrant and David Lockhart, Ph Current Repo  12/31/0¢ 104
10 .1t Letter Agreement, dated as of December 30, 200@nybetwee
the Registrant and Bradley L. Campt Form 1(-K 2/6/09 10.26
10 .1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of December 30, 200@nkybetwee
the Registrant and S. Nicole Schae Form 1(-K 2/6/09 10.28
10 .17 Letter Agreement, dated as of December 30, 200@nkybetwee
the Registrant and John R. K| Form 1(-K 2/6/09 10.29
10 .1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of December 30, 200@nkybetwee
the Registrant and Geoffrey P. Gilm¢ Form 1(-K 2/6/09 10.31
10 .1¢ Summary Management Bonus Progt Form 1(-Q 5/8/09 10.1
10 .2( First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated JuneQg 2
between the Registrant and Cedar Brook 5 Corp&eateer, L.P Form 1(-Q 8/6/09 10.1
+10 .2: License and Collaboration Agreement dated as oblat28,
2010 by and between the Registrant and Glaxo Graujted Form 1(-K 3/4/11 10.30
+10 .2: Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of October 28, 29 and
between the Registrant and Glaxo Group Lim Form 1(-K 3/4/11 10.31
10 .2: Letter Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2010 by atd/&en the
Registrant and Ken Valenza Form 1(-K 3/4/11 10.32
10.2¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2011 bybatween the
Registrant and Kenneth Pe Form 1(-K 3/4/11 10.33
10.2¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2011 bybatween the
Registrant and Enrique Dilot Form 1(-K 3/4/11 10.34
10.2¢ Letter Agreement dated April 18, 2011 between Amicu
Therapeutics, Inc. and Matthew R. Patter Form &K 4/18/11 10.1
10.2% Restricted Stock Award Agreement dated April 18, 2Between
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Matthew R. Patte Form &K 4/18/11 10.2
10.2¢ Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Amended and Restatgity
Incentive Plar Form &K 5/25/11 10.1
10.2¢ Employment Agreement, dated as of June 28, 201andy
between the Registrant and John F. Crov Form &K 6/30/11 10.1
10.3( Lease Agreement dated August 16, 2011 between Amicu
Therapeutics, Inc. and Cedar Brook 3 Corporate&ehtP. Form &K 8/16/11 10.1
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing. X
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursudo Rule 13a-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1€ X
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursudo Rule 13a-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1€ X
32.1 Certificate of Principal Executive Officer pursuaat18 U.S.C.
Section 1350 and Section 906 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002 X
32.2 Certificate of Principal Financial Officer pursuaatl8 U.S.C.
Section 1350 and Section 906 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002 X

+  Confidential treated has been granted as toingrstations of the document, which portions haverbemitted and filed separately with
the Securities and Exchange Commiss
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the ttegig has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmy authorized on February 28, 2012.

AMICUS THERAPEUTICS, INC
(Registran

By: /s/ John F. Crowle
John F. Crowle)
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this Report has been signed bblothe following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities@nthe dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl John F. Crowley Chairman and Chief Executive Officer February 28, 2012
(John F. Crowley (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ Daphne Quimi Corporate Controller February 28, 2012
(Daphne Quimi (Principal Financial and Accounting Office
/s/ Donald J. Hayden Director February 28, 2012
(Donald J. Hayder
/sl Sol J. Barer, Ph.D. Director February 28, 2012
(Sol J. Barer, Ph.D
/sl James Barrett, Ph.D. Director February 28, 2012

(James Barrett, Ph.C

/sl Margaret G. McGlynn, R.Ph. Director February 28, 2012
(Margaret G. McGlynn, R.Ph

/s/ Michael G. Raab Director February 28, 2012
(Michael G. Raab

/s/ Glenn Sblendorio Director February 28, 2012
(Glenn Shlendorio

/sl James N. Topper, M.D., Ph.D. Director February 28, 2012
(James N. Topper, M.D., Ph.L
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist. X
3.2 Restated By-laws of the Registrant. S-1/A (333- 4/27/07 3.4
141700)
4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate evidencing shares ofraomstock S-1(33%-141700 3/30/07 4.1
4.z Third Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agre¢ngated as  S-1(333141700 3/30/07 4.3
of September 13, 2006, as amen
4.5 Form of Warran Form &K 2/25/1( 4.1
10.1 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and forfnepiion S-1/A (333- 4/27107 10.1
agreements thereunc 141700)
+10.2 Amended and Restated License Agreement, dated &ctab, Form 10-K 2/6/0¢ 10.3
2008, by and between the Registrant and Mount Siohaool of
Medicine of New York Universit'
+10.. License Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2003, hpatween the  S-1(333141700 3/30/07 10.4
Registrant and University of Maryland, Baltimoreu®ty, as
amendec
+10 .2 Exclusive License Agreement, dated as of June @20y and S-1(333141700 3/30/07 10.5
between the Registrant and Novo Nordisk,
10 .5 Sublease Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2005, thpatween thr  S-1(333141700 3/30/07 10.6
Registrant and Purdue Pharma, L
10 . Letter Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2005nbybetween  S-1(333141700 3/30/07 10.10
the Registrant and David Lockhart, Ph
10.7 Form of Director and Officer Indemnification Agreent S-1(33:-141700 3/30/07 10.17
10 .& Restricted Stock Agreement, dated as of March 872By and S-1/A (333- 4/27/07 10.21
between the Registrant and Glenn P. Sblendorio 141700)
10 .¢ Lease Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2006, bybatwleen the S-1/A (333- 4/27/07 10.22
Registrant and Cedar Brook Il Corporate Center, L.P 141700)
10 .2 Amended and Restated 2007 Director Option Plarf@mal of Form 8-K 6/8/1( 10.2
option agreemer Current Repor 5/17/07 10.24
10 .11 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan S-1/A (333-
141700)
10 .1z Lease Agreement dated as of September 11, 2008cbetween Form &K 9/15/0¢ 10.1
the Registrant and A/G Touchstone, TP, LI Current Repor
+10.1!  First Amendment to lease dated April 18, 2011 by lastween the X
Registrant and A/G Touchstone, TP, L
10 .1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of December 30, 200&ndybetween  Form 8-K 12/31/0¢ 10.4
the Registrant and David Lockhart, Ph Current Repor
10 .1t Letter Agreement, dated as of December 30, 200&ndybetween  Form 10-K 2/6/0¢ 10.26
the Registrant and Bradley L. Campt
10 .1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of December 30, 200&ndybetween  Form 10-K 2/6/0¢ 10.28
the Registrant and S. Nicole Schae
10 .17 Letter Agreement, dated as of December 30, 200&ndybetween  Form 10-K 2/6/0¢ 10.29
the Registrant and John R. K|
10 .1¢  Letter Agreement, dated as of December 30, 200&ndybetween  Form 10-K 2/6/0¢ 10.31
the Registrant and Geoffrey P. Gilm«
10.1¢ Summary Management Bonus Progt Form 1(-Q 5/8/0¢ 10.1
10 .2(  First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated June(lf Betweer  Form 10-Q 8/6/0¢ 10.1
the Registrant and Cedar Brook 5 Corporate Cehter
+10.2. License and Collaboration Agreement dated as obltget28, 2010 Form 10-K 3/4/11 10.30
by and between the Registrant and Glaxo Group keuh
+10.2: Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of October 28, 29 and Form 10-K 3/4/11 10.31

between the Registrant and Glaxo Group Lim
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing Filed with this

No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K

10 .2  Letter Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2010 by atd/éen the

Registrant and Ken Valenza Form 1-K  3/4/11 10.32
10 .2¢  Letter Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2011 bybatwveen the

Registrant and Kenneth Pe Form 1-K  3/4/11 10.33
10 .28 Letter Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2011 bybatween the

Registrant and Enrique Dilot Form 1(-K  3/4/11 10.34
10 .2¢  Letter Agreement, dated as of April 18, 2011, bg batween

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and Matthew R. Patte Form &K 4/18/11 10.1
10 .27 Restricted Stock Award Agreement dated as of A@8jl2011, by

and between Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. and MattheRaRersol Form &K 4/18/11 10.2
10 .2¢  Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Amended and Restadgity

Incentive Plar Form &K 5/25/11 10.1
10 .2¢  Employment Agreement, dated as of June 28, 201andy

between the Registrant and John F. Crov Form &K 6/30/11 10.1
10 .3C Lease Agreement, dated as of August 16, 2011, leetdenicus

Therapeutics, Inc. and Cedar Brook 3 Corporate &ehtP. Form &K 8/16/11 10.1

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursudo Rule 13a-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1€

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursutdo Rule
13e-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1€

32.1 Certificate of Principal Executive Officer pursuantl8 U.S.C.
Section 1350 and Section 906 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certificate of Principal Financial Officer pursuaatl8 U.S.C.
Section 1350 and Section 906 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002

X X X XX

+  Confidential treated has been granted as toingrtations of the document, which portions haverbemitted and filed separately with
the Securities and Exchange Commiss
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Exhibit 3.1

State of Delaware
Secretary of State
Division of Corporations
Delivered 08:17 AM 06/05/2007
FILED 08:17 AM 06/05/2007
SRV 070671578 - 3457447 FILE

RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
AMICUS THERAPEUTICS, INC.

Incorporated pursuant to a Certificate of Incorpiorainitially filed
with the Secretary of State of the State of Delawar February 4, 2002
Under the Name Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporatitve ( Corporatior’’), hereby certifies that this Restated Certificaténabrporatiol
has been duly adopted in accordance with the pomssof Sections 228, 242, and 245 of the Genemap@ation Law of the State
Delaware (the “ DGCL"), and notice thereof has been given in accordavittethe provisions of Section 228 of the DGCL.:

FIRST: The name of the Corporation is Amicus Therapeulits,

SECOND: The address of the Corporatierregistered office in the State of Delaware is €fwporation Trust Center, 1209 Ora
Street, Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware@R8The registered agent in charge thereof is Tov@&ation Trust Company.

THIRD: The nature of the business and purposes to be ctatlar promoted by the Corporation are as follows:

To engage in any lawful act or activity for whicbrporations may be organized under the General aZatipn Law of the State
Delaware.

FOURTH: The total number of shares of all classes of chgitak which the Corporation shall have authotityssue is Sixty Milliol
shares, consisting solely of:

Fifty Million (50,000,000) shares of common stopky value $.01 per share (* Common Stt¢land
Ten Million (10,000,000) shares of preferred stquk; value $.01 per share (* Preferred Stck

The following is a statement of the powers, dedigna, preferences, privileges, and relative rightsespect of each class of ca
stock of the Corporation.

A. COMMON STOCK.

1. GeneralThe voting, dividend and liquidation rights of thelders of Common Stock are subject to and qudlifig the rights of tr
holders of Preferred Stock.

2. Voting. The holders of Common Stock are entitled to one Yot each share held at all meetings of stockhsldehere shall be |
cumulative voting



3. Dividends.Dividends may be declared and paid on the CommarkStrom funds lawfully available therefor if, asmicawher
determined by the board of directors of the Corpiona(the “ Boardof Directors”) and subject to any preferential dividend rightany thel
outstanding shares of Preferred Stock.

4. Liguidation.Upon the dissolution or liquidation of the Corpdsat whether voluntary or involuntary, holders afr@mon Stock wi
be entitled to receive all assets of the Corpomatigailable for distribution to its stockholdersppect to any preferential rights of any tl
outstanding shares of Preferred Stock.

B. PREFERRED STOCK.

Shares of Preferred Stock may be issued from torterte in one or more series, each of such sesiémte such powers, designatis
preferences, and relative, participating, optioral,other special rights, if any, and such qualifiens and restrictions, if any, of st
preferences and rights, as are stated or exprasseel resolution or resolutions of the Board ofdators providing for such series of Prefe
Stock. Different series of Preferred Stock shatl Io@ construed to constitute different classeshafes for the purposes of voting by cla
unless expressly so provided in such resolutiaesolutions.

Authority is hereby granted to the Board of Direstérom time to time to issue the Preferred Statlone or more series, and
connection with the creation of any such seriesrésplution or resolutions to determine and fix gwavers, designations, preferences,
relative, participating, optional, or other spedaights, if any, and the qualifications and restoigs, if any, of such preferences and ric
including without limitation dividend rights, consgon rights, voting rights (if any), redemptioniileges, and liquidation preferences
such series of Preferred Stock (which need notriifmnn among series), all to the fullest extent nomhereafter permitted by the DG(
Without limiting the generality of the foregoindyet resolution or resolutions providing for the ¢i@a or issuance of any series of Prefe
Stock may provide that such series shall be sup#siorank equally with, or be junior to the Preéer Stock of any other series, all to
fullest extent permitted by law. No resolution, &obr consent of the holders of the capital stotckhe Corporation shall be required
connection with the creation or issuance of anyeshaf any series of Preferred Stock authorizedrzcomplying with the conditions of t
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the rightitty such resolution, vote, or consent being espresaived by all present and future holc
of the capital stock of the Corporation.

Any resolution or resolutions adopted by the BoafrdDirectors pursuant to the authority vested ianthby this Article Fourth shall

set forth in a certificate of designation alonghwihe number of shares of stock of such series agich the resolution or resolutions s
apply and such certificate shall be executed, asletiged, filed, recorded, and shall become effectiv accordance with §103 of the DG
Unless otherwise provided in any such resolutionegplutions, the number of shares of stock of @mgh series to which such resolutiol
resolutions apply may be increased (but not ablogedtal number of authorized shares of the claisdcreased (but not below the numb:
shares thereof then outstanding) by a certificghtanlise executed, acknowledged, filed and recordetling forth a statement that a spec
increase or decrease therein has been authorizedir@cted by a resolution or resolutions likewaskpted by the Board of Directors. In ¢
the number of such shares shall be decreaseduthkar of shares so specified in the certificatdl sasume the status which they had pric
the adoption of the first resolution or resolutiovdhen no shares of any such class or series astanding, either because none were is
or because none remain outstanding, a certifiedtang forth &



resolution or resolutions adopted by the Board wé&&ors that none of the authorized shares of sleds or series are outstanding, and
none will be issued subject to the certificate @signations previously filed with respect to sudhss or series, may be execu
acknowledged, filed and recorded in the same maaseareviously described and it shall have theceffé eliminating from the Rest:
Certificate of Incorporation all matters set foiththe certificate of designations with respecstich class or series of stock. If no shares o
such class or series established by a resolutioreswlutions adopted by the Board of Directors hbeen issued, the voting pow:
designations, preferences and relative, particigatptional or other rights, if any, with the gtiahtions, limitations or restrictions there
may be amended by a resolution or resolutions adopy the Board of Directors. In the event of anghsamendment, a certificate wh
(i) states that no shares of such class or seaes been issued, (ii) sets forth the copy of therating resolution or resolutions and (iii) if
designation of such class or series is being clihngelicates the original designation and the nessighation, shall be execut
acknowledged, filed, recorded, and shall becomectffe, in accordance with 8103 of the DGCL.

FIFTH: The following provisions are inserted for the magragnt of the business and for the conduct of tfarafof the Corporatic
and for defining and regulating the powers of tleepgdration and its directors and stockholders aedrafurtherance and not in limitation
the powers conferred upon the Corporation by statut

(a) The Board of Directors shall be divided inteeth classes of directors, as determined by thedBafaDirectors, such classes
be as nearly equal in number of directors as plesdilaving staggered thrgear terms of office, the term of office of theaditors of th
first such class to expire as of the first annuakting of the Corporation’s stockholders followithg closing of the Corporatianfirst
public offering of shares of Common Stock regigiepeirsuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as améntf®se of the second clas:
expire as of the second annual meeting of the Catipm’s stockholders following such closing, and thosé¢hef third class as of t
third annual meeting of the Corporatisrstockholders following such closing, such thaeath annual meeting of stockholders
such closing, nominees will stand for election teceed those directors whose terms are to expi asch meeting. Any direct
serving as such pursuant to this paragraph (aytél& FIFTH may be removed only for cause and dnhthe vote of the holders o
majority of the shares of the Corporation’s stonfiteed to vote for the election of directors.

(b) Except as the DGCL or the Corporation’s lays may otherwise require, in the interim betweamual meetings
stockholders or special meetings of stockholdelieador the election of directors and/or for tr@moval of one or more directors
for the filling of any vacancy in that connecti@my vacancies in the Board of Directors, includimgilled vacancies resulting from 1
removal of directors for cause, may be filled bg thote of a majority of the remaining directorsrttie office, although less thar
quorum, or by the sole remaining director.

(c) If the office of any director becomes vacant repson of death, resignation, disqualificatiomoeal, failure to elect,
otherwise, the remaining directors, although mardess than a quorum, by a majority vote of suahaiming directors may elec
successor or successors who shall hold office@unexpired tern



(d) The Board of Directors shall have the power aunthority: (i) to adopt, amend or repeal the Coafion’s byfaws, subject onl
to such limitations, if any, as may be from timeitoe imposed by other provisions of this Rest&edtificate of Incorporation, by la
or by the Corporation’s blaws; and (ii) to the full extent permitted or nobhibited by law, and without the consent of drestactiol
by the stockholders, to authorize or create modgagledges or other liens or encumbrances upowaly of the assets, real, persc
or mixed, and franchises of the Corporation, initlgdafteracquired property, and to exercise all of the pewafrthe Corporation
connection therewith.

SIXTH: No director of the Corporation shall be personi#ple to the Corporation or to any of its stocldes for monetary damag
for breach of fiduciary duty as a director, notwtdmding any provision of law imposing such lighiliprovided, however, that to the exte
required from time to time by applicable law, thAidicle Sixth shall not eliminate or limit the lidiby of a director, to the extent such liabil
is provided by applicable law, (i) for any breadhhe directors duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stoclders, (ii) for acts or omissio
not in good faith or which involve intentional miswuct or a knowing violation of law, (iii) undee&ion 174 of the DGCL, or (iv) for a
transactions from which the director derived anrioper personal benefit. No amendment to or repe#iis Article Sixth shall apply to
have any effect on the liability or alleged liatyilof any director for or with respect to any astomissions of such director occurring pria
the effective date of such amendment or repeal.

SEVENTH: The Corporation shall, to the fullest extent peteditby Section 145 of the DGCL and as further mtedliin its bylaws
each as amended from time to time, indemnify e@rhgn who was or is a party or is threatened tmaee a party to any threatened, pen
or completed action, suit or proceeding, whetheit,ciriminal, administrative or investigative, sgason of the fact that he is or was, or
agreed to become, a director or officer of the @aapon, or is or was serving, or has agreed teesat the request of the Corporation,
director, officer or trustee of, or in a similarpeity with, another corporation, partnership, foienture, trust or other enterprise (incluc
any employee benefit plan), or by reason of anioadlleged to have been taken or omitted in suglacity, against all expenses (incluc
attorneys’fees), judgements, fines and amounts paid in ssthé actually and reasonably incurred by him ohisnbehalf in connection wi
such action, suit or proceeding and any appeattimn.

Indemnification may include payment by the Corpioratof expenses in defending an action or procegdinadvance of the fin
disposition of such action or proceeding upon gcef an undertaking by the person indemnifiedepay such payment if it is ultimat
determined that such person is not entitled tormuécation under this Article Seventh, which undéing may be accepted without refere
to the financial ability of such person to makelstepayment.

The Corporation shall not indemnify any such perseeking indemnification in connection with a prediag (or part thereof) initiat
by such person unless the initiation thereof was@ped by the Board of Directors.

The indemnification rights provided in this Artic®eventh (i) shall not be deemed exclusive of atherorights to which tho
indemnified may be entitled under any law, agregnoewote of stockholders or disinterested dirextmr otherwise, and (i) shall inure to
benefit of the heirs, executors and administradbuch persons. The Corporation may, to the exetitorized from time to time by its Boi
of Directors, grant indemnification rights to othemnployees or agents of the Corporation or othesqms serving the Corporation and <
rights may be equivalent to, or greater or lesa,ttfzose set forth in this Article Seven



EIGHTH: Whenever a compromise or arrangement is proposeeebe the Corporation and its creditors or anysclaisthem and/«
between the Corporation and its stockholders orcdams of them, any court of equitable jurisdictwithin the State of Delaware may, on
application in a summary way of the Corporatiorobany creditor or stockholder thereof or on thelaation of any receiver or receiv
appointed for the Corporation under the provisioh§291 of the DGCL; or on the application of tees in dissolution or of any receive|
receivers appointed for the Corporation under tlo@ipions of §279 of the DGCL, order a meetinghsf treditors or class of creditors, an
of the stockholders or class of stockholders ofGloeporation, as the case mag, to be summoned in such a manner as the saitidirects
If a majority of the number representing thifearths (3/4ths) in value of the creditors or claésreditors, and/or of the stockholders or ¢
of stockholders of the Corporation, as the case beayagree to any compromise or arrangement aadytgeorganization of the Corporat
as a consequence of such compromise or arrangethertpmpromise or arrangement and the said remagan shall, if sanctioned by t
court to which the said application has been mbddyinding on all creditors or class of credit@nsd/or stockholders or class of stockhol
of the Corporation, as the case may be, and alsbeo@orporation.

NINTH: The Board of Directors, when considering a tendésrar merger or acquisition proposal, may taki iaccount factors
addition to potential economic benefits to stockleos, including without limitation (i) comparisorf the proposed consideration to
received by stockholders in relation to the therremt market price of the Corporatientapital stock, the estimated current value o
Corporation in a freely negotiated transaction, iedestimated future value of the Corporationragmédependent entity and (ii) the impac
such a transaction on the employees, supplierscasitmers of the Corporation and its effect ondbi@munities in which the Corporati
operates.

TENTH: Any action required or permitted to be taken by sterkholders of the Corporation may be taken amlg duly called annt
or special meeting of the stockholders, and nowhtten consent in lieu of such a meeting, in whetlkeh action is properly brought bef
such meeting. Special meetings of stockholders beagalled only by the Chairman of the Board of Blioes, the President, or a majority
the Board of Directors.

ELEVENTH: The affirmative vote of the holders of at leastysiseven percent (67%) of the outstanding votinglsbf the Corporatic
(in addition to any separate class vote that mathénfuture be required pursuant to the terms gf @rtstanding Preferred Stock) shal
required to amend or repeal the provisions of AgtidFourth (only to the extent it relates to théhatity of the Board of Directors to iss
shares of Preferred Stock in one or more seriesteims of which may be determined by the Boar®ioéctors), Fifth, Seventh, Tenth,
Eleventh of this Restated Certificate of Incorpimmbr to reduce the numbers of authorized shar€mmon Stock or Preferred Stock.

[ The remainder of this page is left intentionallgri. ]



Executed on June 5, 2007

AMICUS THERAPEUTICS, INC

By:  /s/ John F. Crowle

Name John F. Crowle
Title: Presiden



State of Delaware
Secretary of State
Division of Corporations
Delivered 04:51 PM 01/17/2012
FILED 04:17 PM 01/17/2012
SRV 120054605 — 3457447 FILE

STATE OF DELAWARE
CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

The corporation organized and existing under andifbye of the General Corporation Law of the Swt®elaware does hereby certify:

FIRST: That at a meeting of the Board of Directors of

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

resolutions were duly adopted setting forth a psggbamendment of the Certificate of Incorporatiérsaid corporation, declaring s
amendment to be advisable and calling a meetirijeo§tockholders of said corporation for considerathereof. The resolution setting fc
the proposed amendment is as follows:

RESOLVED, that the Certificate of Incorporation of this corgiion be amended by changing the Article therashibered FOURTH’ sc
that, as amended, said Article shall be and reddllasvs:

FOURTH: The total number of shares of all clasdesapital stock which the Corporation shall havéhatity to issue is One Hundred Thirty-
Five Million (135,000,000) shares, consisting splef: One Hundred Twentifive Million (125,000,000) shares of common stqo# value
$.01 per share (“Common Stock”); and Ten Millio®,d00,000) shares of preferred stock, par valug §eb share (“Preferred Stock”).

SECOND: That thereafter, pursuant to resolution of its Bloafr Directors, a special meeting of the stockhidd# said corporation was di
called and held upon notice in accordance withiS&e&22 of the General Corporation Law of the Stat@®©elaware at which meeting 1
necessary number of shares as required by staareewsted in favor of the amendment.

THIRD: That said amendment was duly adopted in accordaitbethe provisions of Section 242 of the Generatgration Law of the Ste
of Delaware.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, said corporation has caused this certificate teifpeed this 17 day of January, 2012 .

By: /s/ P.M. Macaluso
Authorized Officer
Title: Assistant Secretai

Name Peter M. Macaluso
Print or Type




Exhibit 10.13

First Amendment to Lease

This Amendment, dated April 18, 2011, is executedl) AG/Touchstone TP, LLC, a Delaware limitecblidy company( “ Lessor
"), and (2) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc., a Delawar@otion( “ Lesse€’ ) . This Amendment is executed with reference tdfolewing
facts:

A. On or about September 11, 2008, Lessor and kessecuted that certain Standard Multi-Tenant @ffiease—Net and Addendum
Lease(collectively, the “Lease”)pertaining to the premises commonly known as 1108@h Torrey Pines Road, Suite 200, San Diego (La
Jolla), California 9203 7the Premises”).

B. The Term of the Lease expires September 30,.2011
C. By this Amendment, the parties desire to extbedTerm and amend the Lease, as provided below.
In consideration of the above recitals and the mllagreements stated below, the parties agree:

1. Term Extension The Term of the Lease is extended through Semey 2013. Sections 1.3.2 (Option to Renew) abB1
(Determination of Rent for Option Period) in thed&thdum to the Lease shall remain in effect (i.esdee will have one three-year option to
renew, which if exercised will extend the Term loé L_ease through September 30, 2016); howeveBdke Rent for the option period shall
be the greater of $21, 163.68/month or Market RdRate, as determined pursuant to Paragraph 15t dease.

2. Base RentBase Rent for the extension period shall be ksis:

October 1, 2010, through September 30, 2012 $20,320.20/mo.
October 1, 2012, through September 30, 2013  $21,163.68/mo.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Base Rent ferpkriods October-31, 2011, and October 1-31, 2012, shall be abated:

3. General ProvisionsThe parties further agree:

3.1 Lesse's Representationd essee hereby represents to Lessor:

3.1.1 To Lessee knowledge, Lessor is not in defmdthas not been in default in the performandees$or’s obligations
under the Lease, and no condition exists that thithpassage of time or delivery of notice or bottuld constitute a default by Lessor under
the terms of the Lease.

3.1.2 To Lessee knowledge, Lessee has no riglim,cta action for recovery against Lessor.

Erickson Amicus Lease First Amendment to Lease



3.1.3 Lessee has not initiated any insolvency mdicgy and has no present intention to initiateiaeglvency proceeding.

3.2 Confirmation Except as modified by this Amendment, the Leadeereby ratified and confirmed.

3.3 Defined TermsDefined (capitalized) terms used in this Amendin#tiall have the same meanings as in the Leasepeas

otherwise provided herein.

Lessor:

AG/Touchstone TP, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability compar

By Touchstone Investments, Inc.,
a California corporation, Its Manag

By /s/ Gregory Ericksol
Gregory Erickson, Preside

Erickson Amicus Lease First Amendment to Lease V2

Lessee

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.,
a Delaware corporatic

By /s/ Matthew Pattersc

Print name Matthew Patters
Title Presiden



EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1453@5jgining to the: 1) Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, aseAded, 2) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Equiteiive Plan, 3) Amicus Therapeuti
Inc. 2007 Director Option Plan, 4) Amicus Therajesytinc. 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, ifRéwgistration Statement (Form S-8
No. 33:-157219) pertaining to the: 1) Amicus Therapeuties, Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentiam Rhd 2) Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Director Option Plan, anthe Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-0584nd in the Registration Statement
(Form S-8 No. 333-174900) pertaining to the: 1) Amsi Therapeutics, Inc. Amended and Restated 200ifyHgcentive Plan and 2) Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc. Amended and Restated 2007 Dir€yption Plan of our report dated February 28,20dith respect to the consolidated
financial statements of Amicus Therapeutics Included in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the yeaded December 31, 2011.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

MetroPark, New Jersey
February 28, 2012



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

[, John F. Crowley, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fidmicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorminy untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedoresaused such disclosure controls and procedaotas designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this annual report is lgeprepared

b.  designed such internal control over financigbrting, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati§slosure controls and procedures and presentisiksineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d. disclosed in this report any change in the tegji$'s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regist’s internal control over financial reportir

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weas®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 28, 2012

/s/ John F. Crowle
John F. Crowle)
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Daphne Quimi, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fidmicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorminy untrue statement of a material fact or dmn#ttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedoresaused such disclosure controls and procedaotas designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this annual report is lgeprepared

b.  designed such internal control over financigbrting, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati§slosure controls and procedures and presentisiksineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d. disclosed in this report any change in the tegji$'s internal control over financial reportirftat occurred during the registrant’s

most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regist’s internal control over financial reportir

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material weas®es in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 28, 2012

/s/ Daphne Quim
Daphne Quim
Corporate Controlle




EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification by the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-G Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, |, John Bw&y, hereby certify that, to the best of my knetlde, Amicus Therapeutics Inc., (
“Company”) Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yemded December 31, 2011 (the “Report”), as fileith whie Securities and Exchange
Commission on February 28, 2012, fully complieshviite requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 1&fthe Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as amended, and that the information cordaméhe Report fairly presents, in all materiapects, the financial condition and result
operations of the Company.

/s/ John F. Crowle
John F. Crowle)
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
February 28, 201




EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification by the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-G Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, |, DaphnenQuiereby certify that, to the best of my knowledthe Amicus Therapeutics Inc.
(the “Company”) Annual Report on Form 10-K for §mar ended December 31, 2011 (the “Report”), ad fivith the Securities and
Exchange Commission on February 28, 2012, fullymltea with the requirements of Section 13(a) orti®acl5(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that thenafiion contained in the Report fairly presentsallrmaterial respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Daphne Quim
Daphne Quim
Corporate Controlle
February 28, 201




